COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

The Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre (The "Employer")

and

The Nova Scotia Government & General Employees Union (The "Union")

Health Care Bargaining Unit

November 1, 2011 to October 31, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NOTE: For ease of reference an asterisk (*) has been placed beside each article which has been amended or added to this collective agreement in the most recent round of collective bargaining. This does not apply where only the numbering of articles has been altered (for example, when a new article has been added) and such numbering changes have not been identified by an asterisk.

PREAMBLE		. 1
1.01 1.02 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.06	INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS Definitions Service Seniority Casual Seniority Gender Headings RECOGNITION Bargaining Agent Recognition No Discrimination for Union Activity	.1.2 .4 .5 .5
2.03 2.04 2.05 2.06	No Discrimination Sexual and Personal Harassment Same Sex Family Status Union Representation	. 6 . 6 . 6
	APPLICATION FUTURE LEGISLATION	
ARTICLE 4 -	FUTURE LEGISLATION	. /
ARTICLE 5 - 5.01 5.02	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	. 7
6.01 6.02 6.03	RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS No Lockout or Strike No Sanction of Strike Emergency Services	. 7 . 7
7.01 7.02 7.03	UNION INFORMATION	. 8 . 8
8.01 8.02 8.03 8.04	INFORMATION	. e

8.05	Bargaining Unit Information	9
ARTICLE 9 -	- APPOINTMENT*	10
9.01	Appointment Status	10
9.02	Probationary Period	
9.03	Confirmation of Permanent Appointment	
9.04	Termination of Probationary Appointment	
9.05	Pay in Lieu of Termination Notice	
9.06	Notification to the Union*	
ARTICI F 10	- CHECKOFF	11
10.01	Deduction of Union Dues and Assessments	
10.02	Notification of Deduction	
10.03	Religious Exclusions	
10.04	Remittance of Union Dues and Assessments	
10.05	Liability	
ADTICLE 11	CTEWARDS	10
11.01	- STEWARDS	
11.02	Notification	
11.02		
11.03	Servicing of Grievances	
11.04	Access to Stewards	12
ARTICLE 12	- TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS	
12.01	Leave Without Pay	12
12.02	Notification to Employer	13
12.03	Annual Meeting	13
12.04	Contract Negotiations	13
12.05	Arbitration and Joint Consultation	13
12.06	Grievance and Discipline Meetings	14
12.07	Salary Continuance	14
12.08	No Loss of Service/Seniority	14
12.09	Leave of Absence for Full-Time President	14
ARTICLE 13	- HOURS OF WORK	15
13.01	Hours of Work	
13.02	Rest Interval Between Scheduled Shifts	
13.03	Posting of Shift Schedules	
13.04	Exchange of Shifts	
13.05	Rotation of Shifts	
13.06	Meal Breaks	
13.07	Rest Periods	
13.08	Deviation from Regular Schedules	
13.09	Consecutive Shifts	
13.10	Flexible Working Hours	
13.11	Modified Work Week	
13.12	Return to Regular Times of Work	
ADTICI E 14	OVERTIME	10
	- OVERTIME	10 18

14.02	Allocation & Notice of Overtime	18
14.03	Union Consultation	19
14.04	Overtime Eligibility & Computation	19
14.05	Overtime Approval	
14.06	Overtime Meal Allowance	
14.07	Overtime Compensation	
14.08	Compensation for Performing Other Duties	
14.09	Form of Compensation	
14.10	Overtime Pay	
14.11	Daylight Saving Time	20
ARTICLE 1	5 - STANDBY AND CALL BACK*	20
15.01	Standby Compensation*	20
15.02	Employee Availability	
15.03	Failure to Report	
15.04	Callback Compensation	
15.05	Transportation Allowance	
15.06	Rest Interval After Call Back	
15.07	Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken	
ARTICLE 1	6 – VACATIONS	22
16.01	Annual Vacation Entitlement	
16.02	Vacation Year	22
16.03	Vacation Request	
16.04	Vacation Scheduling	
16.05	Restriction on Numbers of Employees on Vacation	
16.06	Unbroken Vacation Entitlement	
16.07	Vacation Carry Over	
16.08	Accumulative Vacation Carry Over	
16.09	Use of Accumulated Vacation Carry Over	
16.10	Borrowing of Unearned Vacation Credits	
16.11	Employee Compensation Upon Separation	
16.12	Employer Compensation Upon Separation	
16.13	Reconciling Vacation Credits Upon Death	
16.14	Vacation Records	
16.15	Illness While On Vacation	
16.16	Recall from Vacation	
ARTICLE 1	7 – HOLIDAYS	26
17.01	Paid Holidays	
17.02	Exception	
17.03	Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest	
17.04	Holiday Coinciding with Paid Leave	
17.05	Compensation for Work on a Holiday	
17.06	Overtime on a Holiday	
17.07	Holiday Compensation for Part Time Employees	
17.07	Christmas or New Year's Day Off	
17.09	Illness on a Paid Holiday	
ARTICI F 1	8 - SPECIAL LEAVE	28

18.01	Special Leave	28
18.02	Bereavement Leave	29
18.03	Court Leave	30
18.04	Pregnancy Leave	30
18.05	Parental Leave	
18.06	Adoption Leave	35
18.07	Leave for Birth of Child	37
18.08	Leave for Adoption of Child	37
18.09	Leave for Family Illness and Medical and Dental Appointments	37
18.10	Compassionate Care Leave	38
18.11	Education Leave	38
18.12	In-Service Conferences	
18.13	Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions	39
18.14	Military Leave	40
ARTICLE 1	9 - SICK LEAVE	40
19.01	Eligibility	
19.02	Accumulation of Credits	
19.03	Medical Certificate	_
19.04	Employee Entitlement	
19.05	Information to Employee	
19.06	LTD Top Up	
19.07	Top Up Limitation	41
	20 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW & EMPLOYEE FILES	
20.01	Employee Performance Review	
20.02	Record of Disciplinary Action	
20.03	Notice of Performance Improvement Requirements	
20.04	Employee Access to Personnel File	43
	21 - DISCIPLINE & DISCHARGE	
21.01	Just Cause	
21.02	Notification	
21.03	Grievance	43
	22 - JOB SECURITY	
22.01	Joint Labour Relations Committee	
22.02	Training and Retraining	
22.03	Application	
22.04	Transition Support Program	
22.05	Employee Placement Rights	
22.06	Volunteers	
22.07	Insufficient Volunteers	
22.08	Layoff Notice	
22.09	Layoff	
22.10	Layoff Procedure	
22.11	Notice of Layoff	
22.12	Pay in Lieu of Notice	
22.13	Displacement Procedure	
22.14	Recall Procedures	49

22.15	Termination of Recall Rights	50
22.16	Loss of Seniority	50
22.17	No New Employees	50
22.18	Transition Support Program	
22.19	Layoff Exception*	50
22.20	Contracting Out	51
ARTICLE 2	3 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
23.01	Grievances	
23.02	Union Approval	
23.03	Grievance Procedure	
23.04	Grievance Mediation	
23.05	Union Referral to Arbitration	
23.06	Union Representation	
23.07	Time Limits	
23.08	Amending of Time Limits	
23.09	Policy Grievance	
23.10	Sexual Harassment and Personal Harassment	56
_	4 - ARBITRATION PROCEDURE	
24.01	Notification	
24.03	Regular Arbitration Procedure	
24.04	Expedited Arbitration Procedure	
24.05	Relief Against Time Limits	
24.06	Arbitration Award	
24.07	Arbitration Expenses	
24.08	Pre-Hearing Disclosure	58
ARTICLE 2	5 - JOINT CONSULTATION	58
ARTICLE 2	26 - RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE	59
26.01	Retirement Allowance	
26.02	Retirement Allowance Upon Death	
26.03	Calculation of Retirement Allowance	
26.04	Recognition of Service Award	60
ARTICLE 2	7 - PENSION PLAN, GROUP LIFE INSURANCE & MEDICAL PLAN 8	
	LONG TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM	60
ARTICLE 2	8 - HEALTH & SAFETY	
28.01	Health and Safety Provisions	
28.02	Occupational Health and Safety Act	
28.03	Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee	
28.04	Right to Refuse Work and Consequences of Refusal	63
28.05	Restriction on Assignment of Work Where Refusal	
28.06	First-Aid Kits	
28.07	Safety of Pregnant Employees	
28.08	Uniforms & Protective Clothing	66
ARTICLE 2	9 – TRANSPORTATION	66

29.01	Reimbursement for Travel Between 2400 and 0600	66
29.02	Reimbursement for Transportation To and From Meetings	
29.03	Employees Providing Own Transportation	
29.04	Kilometrage Rate	
29.05	Other Expenses	
ARTICLE 3	0 - JOB POSTING	67
30.01	Job Posting	
30.02	Filling Vacancies or Assignments	
30.03	Trial Period	
30.04	Retention of Status	
ARTICLE 3	1 - REOPENER CLAUSE	69
31.01	Reopener	
ARTICI F 3	2 – PAY*	69
32.01	Rates of Pay*	
32.02	Rate of Pay Upon Appointment	
32.03	Exception	
32.04	Rate of Pay Upon Promotion	
32.05	Exception	
32.06	Rate of Pay Upon Demotion	
32.07	Anniversary Date	
32.08	Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification	
32.09	Salary Increments	
32.10	Notice of Withheld Increment	
32.11	Granting of Withheld Increment	
32.12	Increases	
32.13	Acting Pay	
32.14	Shift Premium*	
32.15	Weekend Premium*	
32.16	Registration/Licensing Fees	
32.17	Late Career LPN Retention Bonus	
ARTICLE 3	3 - CLASSIFICATION & RECLASSIFICATION	72
33.01	Classification and Salary Adjustments	
33.02	Classification Appeal Procedure	
ARTICLE 3	4 - COMPENSATION FOR INJURY ON DUTY	74
34.01	Report of Injuries	
34.02	Benefit Entitlement	
ARTICLE 3	5 - EMPLOYER'S LIABILITY	74
35.01	Employer's Liability	74
ARTICLE 3	6 - PART TIME EMPLOYEES	75
36.01	Application of Collective Agreement	
36.02	Entitlement to Benefits	
36.03	Earning Entitlements	
36.04	Unpaid Leave	

36.05	Bereavement Leave	75
36.06	Service	75
36.07	Overtime	76
36.08	Group Insurance	76
36.09	Pension	76
ARTICLE 3	37 - JOB SHARING	77
37.01	Terms and Conditions of Job Sharing	77
37.02	Rights and Benefits	77
37.03	Existing Employees Only	
37.04	Operational Requirements	
37.05	Qualifications	
37.06	Identification of Job Share	
37.07	Period of Job Share	
37.08	Work Schedule Requirements	
37.09	Service	
37.10	Hours of Work	
37.11	Pro-Rating of Benefits	
37.12	Pension	
37.13	Termination	
37.14	Notice	
37.15	Extension of Job Share	
37.16	Filling of Vacancy	
37.17	Costs	80
ARTICLE 3	88 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES	80
38.01	Application of the Collective Agreement	
38.02	Exceptions	
38.03	Appointment	
38.04	Probationary Period	
38.05	Termination of Probationary Appointment	
38.06	Assignment of Casual Employees	
38.07	Pay in Lieu of Benefits	
38.08	Overtime	
38.09	Holiday Pay	
38.10	Overtime on a Holiday	
38.11	Leaves	
38.12	Rate of Pay upon Appointment	
38.13	Exception to Rate of Pay	
38.14	Pay Increments	
38.15	No Avoidance	
38.16	Termination of Employment Relationship	83
ARTICLE 3	89 - LONG ASSIGNMENTS, SHORT ASSIGNMENTS & RELIEF	
	ASSIGNMENTS*	83
39.01	Casual Availability List	
39.02	Employee(s) on Recall List	
39.03	Work Area Specific Casual Lists*	
39.04 39.05	Long AssignmentsShort Assignments	
	N. In a Mt. A. a a large paragraphs	O.C

39.06	Part-time Employees Accepting Assignments of Full-time Hours	
39.07	Relief Assignments	
39.08	Cancellation of Relief Assignment	88
39.09	Reporting Pay	88
39.10	Termination of Assignments	88
39.11	Pay in Lieu of Notice	89
39.12	Completion of Assignments	89
39.13	Casuals Placed in Assignments	89
39.14	Overtime Restrictions	
ARTICLE 40 -	· NOTICE OF RESIGNATION	89
40.01	Notice of Resignation	89
40.02	Absence Without Permission	
40.03	Failure to Give Notice	
40.04	Acknowledgment of Letters of Resignation	
40.05	Withdrawal of Resignation	
ARTICI E //1 .	- PREPAID LEAVE PLAN	90
41.01	Purpose	
41.02	Terms of Reference	
41.03	Eligibility	
41.04	Application	
41.05	Leave	
41.06	Payment Formula and Leave of Absence	
41.07	Benefits	
41.08	Withdrawal	
41.09	Written Contract	
ARTICI F 42 -	· TERM OF AGREEMENT*	93
_		
APPENDIX "A	A" ALPHABETIZED INDEX OF CLASSIFICATIONS*	95
APPENDIX "A	A" PAY PLAN*	97
APPENDIX "E	B" MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT Retention Incentive*	118
APPENDIX 1	- EXPEDITED ARBITRATION - RULES OF PROCEDURE	119
	UM OF AGREEMENT #1 TRANSITION SUPPORT PROGRAM	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #2 MARKET ADJUSTMENT	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #3 UNIT CLOSURES	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #4 TEAM LEADER STIPENDS	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #5 LICENSED PRACTICAL NURSES	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #6 ONE ROBIN NIGHT SLEEPS*	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #7 RETIREE BENEFITS	
	UM OF AGREEMENT #8 QUARTERLY VACATION*	
LETTER OF U	JNDERSTANDING #1 NON-BINDING ARBITRATION*	136
ALPHABETIC	CAL INDEX	137

PREAMBLE

The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain harmonious and mutually beneficial relationships between the Employer, the employees and the Union, to set forth certain terms and conditions of work, employee benefits and general working conditions affecting employees covered by this Agreement. And whereas the parties to this Agreement desire to improve the quality of patient care in the Employer, and to promote the well being of employees to the end that the patients of the Employer shall be well and efficiently served.

ARTICLE 1 - INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS

1.01 Definitions

For the purpose of this Agreement:

- (a) "Common-law relationship" is said to exist when, for a continuous period of more than one (1) year, an employee has lived with a person, publicly represented that person to be her spouse, and lives continually with that person as if that person were her spouse.
- (b) "Day", except where otherwise provided, means Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.
- (c) "Employee" means a person who is included in the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2:01 and includes:
 - (i) "Casual Employee" is a non-permanent employee;
 - (ii) **"Full-time Employee"** is an employee who is hired to work the biweekly hours of work as provided in this Agreement;
 - (iii) "Part-time Employee" is an employee who is hired to work less than the full-time hours of work as provided in this Agreement; and
 - (iv) "Permanent Employee" is an employee who has completed her probationary period and is employed on a full-time or part-time basis without reference to any specified date of termination of employment.
- (d) "Employer" means the Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre.
- (e) "Holiday" means the twenty-four (24) hour period commencing 0001 hours and ending at 2359 hours on the day designated as a holiday in this Agreement.

- (f) "Leave of absence" means absent from work with permission.
- (g) "Lockout" includes the closing of a place of employment, a suspension of work or a refusal by the Employer to continue to employ a number of its employees done to compel the employees, or to aid another employer to compel its employees, to agree to terms or conditions of employment.
- (h) "Predecessor Employer" means the Izaak Walton Killam Hospital for Children or the Salvation Army Grace Maternity Hospital with respect to employees who were employed by either Employer as of December 20, 1996.
- (i) **"Spouse"** means husband, wife and common-law spouse. Common-law spouse includes a same sex partner in a common-law relationship except for purposes of a pension plan where the pension plan contemplates otherwise.
- (j) "Strike" includes a cessation of work, or refusal to work or continue to work by employees in combination or in concert or in accordance with a common understanding, for the purpose of compelling their Employer to agree to terms or conditions of employment or to aid other employees in compelling their employer to agree to terms or conditions of employment.
- (k) "Union" means the Nova Scotia Government & General Employees Union.
- (I) "Week-end" means the fifty-five (55) consecutive hour period commencing at 0001 hours Saturday to 0700 hours on Monday.
- (m) "Working Day" means any calendar day on which an employee is scheduled to work.

1.02 Service

For the purposes of this Agreement, "service" means:

- (a) (i) the service with which an employee was credited with as an employee of a Predecessor Employer immediately prior to the establishment of the Employer pursuant to the *Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre Act*.
 - (ii) total continuous accumulated months of service with the Employer.

(b) Notwithstanding Article 1.02(a)(ii), except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no service and therefore no service related benefits shall be credited to an employee who does not receive salary for in excess of ten (10) days during that calendar month.

1.03 Seniority

- (a) "Seniority" shall be defined in accordance with the following:
 - (i) Establishing Seniority as of December 20, 1996

Seniority of Bargaining Unit employees as of December 20, 1996 is defined as their length of continuous employment since their date of hire by a predecessor Employer and includes those employees in classifications who voted to come into the bargaining unit on September 3 and September 18, 1997.

(ii) Accumulation of Seniority after December 20, 1996:

All employees, except casual employees, in the bargaining unit accumulate seniority after December 20, 1996 for continuous employment in the bargaining unit at the IWK Health Centre represented by the Union.

- (iii) Date of hire for purposes of seniority is defined as the first day of work.
- (b) Posting of Seniority Lists:
 - (i) Within sixty (60) days following the signing of this Agreement, and annually thereafter on December 15 and June 15th, the Employer shall post a list setting out each employee's seniority date. Each employee shall have thirty (30) days from the date the list is posted to challenge her seniority date in writing. The Employer shall reply to the employee's written objection within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written objection. If no written objection is received by the Employer within thirty (30) days from the date the list is posted, the seniority date on the list shall be the employee's seniority date for all purposes following the posting of the list.
 - (ii) An employee who is absent from work for any part of the thirty (30) day posting period shall have thirty (30) days from the date of her return to work to object in writing to her seniority date. However, until and unless such written objection is received by the Employer, and in any event no later than thirty (30) days from the employee's

return to work, the posted seniority date for the employee will be considered to be the employee's seniority date for all purposes.

1.04 Casual Seniority

- (a) There shall be a separate casual employee seniority list.
- (b) Casual employees shall accumulate seniority on the basis of hours worked, including any hours worked during a Long or Short Assignment, on or after February 15, 1999.
- (c) A casual employee who is appointed to a permanent position through Job Posting shall have her seniority for all purposes as of the date of her appointment to the permanent position. If the employee was in a Long or Short Assignment, or an uninterrupted series of Long or Short Assignments immediately prior to being appointed to the said permanent position without interruption, the employee's seniority will date back to her appointment to the said Assignment. For the purpose of this provision, an interruption shall be any bi-weekly pay period where a casual employee did not receive compensation for work with respect to a Long or Short Assignment.
- (d) Within sixty (60) days following the signing of this Agreement, and semiannually thereafter, in the first pay period ending in January and July in
 each year, the Employer shall post a list setting out each casual
 employee's accumulated hours as of the preceding pay period. This list is
 for the purpose of casual employees' seniority. Each casual employee
 shall have fifteen (15) days from the date the list is posted to challenge her
 casual seniority in writing. The Employer shall reply to the casual
 employee's written objection within fifteen (15) days of receipt of the
 written objection. If no written objection is received by the Employer within
 fifteen (15) days from the date the list is posted, the casual seniority on the
 list shall be the casual employee's seniority for all purposes following the
 posting of the list.
- (e) Casual employees who give notice to the Employer to remove their names temporarily from the casual availability list for a period of disability or who are entitled to and take pregnancy leave, parental leave or adoption leave shall retain their seniority accrued prior to the removal of their names from the list.
- (f) Upon notice to the Employer that they wish to have their name returned to the casual availability list, they shall be credited with seniority during the period of disability or pregnancy, parental or adoption leave, such accrual

to be calculated on the basis of the employee's average hours worked during the twelve months preceding the period of disability or leave.

- (g) In cases where the length of employment prior to the period of disability or leave is less than twelve months, then the accrual will be based on the employee's average hours worked during the term of his or her employment.
- (h) Under no circumstances can a casual employee accrue seniority pursuant to the preceding provisions for a single period of pregnancy, parental or adoption leave in excess of one year.
- (i) If the period of disability or pregnancy, parental or adoption leave is less than one year, then the accrual of seniority will be pro-rated accordingly.
- (j) The accrual of seniority under the preceding provisions shall not be taken into account for the purpose of determining entitlement to pay increments under Article 38.14.

1.05 Gender

Unless any provision in this Agreement otherwise specifies, words importing the female gender shall include males and vice versa, and the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, where the context requires.

1.06 Headings

The headings in this Agreement are for ease of reference only and shall not be taken into account in the construction or interpretation of any provision to which they refer.

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION

2.01 Bargaining Agent Recognition

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive Bargaining Agent of the employees in the bargaining unit, as follows:

All full time, regular part time, and casual health care employees of the Employer, but excluding those persons described in paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection 2 of Section 2 of the *Trade Union Act* and those persons listed in Appendix A to the Certification Order of the Labour Relations Board, being LRB # 4405.

2.02 No Discrimination for Union Activity

The parties agree that there will be no discrimination, interference, restriction, or coercion exercised or practised with respect to any employee for reason of membership or legal activity in the Union.

2.03 No Discrimination

The Union and the employees support a workplace free of discrimination. Neither the Employer, nor any person acting on behalf of the Employer, shall refuse to continue to employ any employee or otherwise discriminate against any employee, on the basis of race, religion, creed, colour, ethnic or national or aboriginal origin, sex, sexual orientation, source of income, political belief, affiliation or activity, family status, marital status, age, or physical disability or mental disability, except as authorized by the *Human Rights Act*.

2.04 Sexual and Personal Harassment

The Employer shall provide and the Union and employees shall support a workplace free from sexual harassment, personal harassment as defined in the Employer's harassment policy and any other harassment based on the protected characteristics set out in Article 2.03. The Employer shall maintain a policy on workplace harassment.

2.05 Same Sex Family Status

Any applicable family oriented benefits, e.g., bereavement leave, medical/dental, etc. shall be available to families with same sex spouses except for pension plans where the pension plan contemplates otherwise.

2.06 Union Representation

The Union shall have the right, at any time, to the assistance of designated Union representatives whose names have been forwarded in writing to the Employer. Such designated Union representatives shall have access to the Employer's premises for the purpose of investigating and settling a grievance and/or the regular conduct of Union business with the Employer, providing she first obtains permission of the Employer. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE 3 - APPLICATION

3.01 This Agreement, including each of the Memoranda of Agreement which are attached, apply to and are binding on the Union, the employees and the Employer.

ARTICLE 4 - FUTURE LEGISLATION

4.01 In the event that any law passed by the Legislature applying to the employees covered by this Agreement renders null and void any provision of this Agreement, the remaining provisions of the Agreement shall remain in effect for the term of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

5.01 Management Rights

The management and direction of employees and operations is vested exclusively in the Employer. All the functions, rights, power and authority which the Employer has not specifically abridged, deleted or modified by this Agreement are recognized by the Union as being retained by the Employer.

5.02 Consistent Application

The Employer agrees that management rights will not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with the express provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 6 - RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS

6.01 No Lockout or Strike

The Employer shall not cause a lockout and an employee shall not strike during the term of this Agreement.

6.02 No Sanction of Strike

The Union shall not sanction, encourage, or support financially or otherwise, a strike by its members or any of them who are governed by the provisions of this Agreement during the term of this Agreement.

6.03 Emergency Services

- (a) Notwithstanding an employee's right to strike, the Union agrees that during a legal strike, a sufficient number of bargaining unit employees will be provided to assist the Employer where there are insufficient numbers of excluded persons to provide emergency treatment or care of any patient, if, in the opinion of the majority of the Emergency Services Evaluation Committee, a patient's life would be endangered or where the discharge of a remand patient would endanger public safety.
- (b) The Emergency Services Evaluation Committee shall consist of equal representation from the Employer and the Union.

ARTICLE 7 - UNION INFORMATION

7.01 Bulletin Boards

The Employer shall provide adequate and visible bulletin board space for the posting of notices by the Union pertaining to elections, appointments, meeting dates, news items, social and recreational affairs.

7.02 Distribution of Union Literature

The Employer shall, where facilities permit, make available to the Union specific locations on its premises for the placement of bulk quantities of literature of the Union.

7.03 Computer Access

Where possible and provided no additional costs are incurred by the Employer, representatives of the Union shall be granted computer access for the purpose of distributing notices to members of the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 8 – INFORMATION

8.01 Copies of Agreement

The Employer agrees to supply each employee with a copy of the Agreement within sixty (60) days of signing. The cost shall be paid in equal share by the Employer and the Union.

8.02 Letter of Appointment / Union Information

An employee, upon hiring or change of status, shall be provided with a statement of her classification and employment status, including designation as to her percentage of full-time hours, and pay scale applicable to her position. Upon hiring and on a quarterly basis, the Employer shall provide the Union with the name, address, telephone number, classification, employment status, and pay rate of bargaining unit members.

8.03 Employer to Acquaint New Employees

- (a) The Employer agrees to provide new employees with a copy of the Collective Agreement in effect and acquaint them with the conditions of employment set out in the articles concerning checkoff and stewards.
- (b) The Employer shall provide advance notice to the Union of the date the Employer plans to hold a general hospital orientation session. The Union shall be permitted space in or near the general hospital orientation session to provide copies of union material to bargaining unit members. The Union shall be permitted 10 minutes on the agenda of the general hospital orientation session to address bargaining unit members.

8.04 Position Descriptions

- (a) Upon request by the employee, the Employer shall provide the position description outlining the duties and responsibilities assigned to her position.
- (b) The Employer will endeavor to ensure that position descriptions are reviewed and revised where necessary at periodic intervals but under no circumstances shall that interval be in excess of three (3) years.
- (c) Copies of all current position descriptions shall be forwarded to the Union upon signing of this Agreement. Thereafter, all revised position descriptions shall be provided to the Union within fifteen (15) days of revision.

8.05 Bargaining Unit Information

With reasonable notice, the Employer agrees to provide the Union such information relating to employees in the bargaining unit as may be reasonably required by the Union for the purpose of collective bargaining.

ARTICLE 9 – APPOINTMENT*

9.01 Appointment Status

An employee shall be appointed on a permanent basis, or on a casual basis in accordance with Article 38.

9.02 Probationary Period

- (a) Notwithstanding Article 9.01, a newly hired employee may be appointed to her position on a probationary basis for a period not to exceed 495 hours of time actually worked or ten (10) months, whichever is greater.
- (b) A previous permanent employee whose employment was terminated for any reason and who is re-employed in the same classification within twelve (12) months from the date of such termination shall not be required to undergo a second (2nd) probationary period.

9.03 Confirmation of Permanent Appointment

- (a) The Employer may, after a permanent employee has served in a position on a probationary basis for a period of four (4) months or more but less than ten (10) months, confirm the appointment on a permanent basis.
- (b) The Employer shall, after the permanent employee has served in a position on a probationary basis for the period indicated in Article 9.02 (a), confirm the appointment on a permanent basis.

9.04 Termination of Probationary Appointment

- (a) The Employer may terminate a probationary appointment at any time.
- (b) If the employment of an employee appointed to a position on a probationary basis is to be terminated for reasons other than willful misconduct or disobedience or neglect of duty, the Employer shall advise the employee of the reasons in writing not less than ten (10) days prior to the date of termination.
- (c) The Employer shall notify the Union when a probationary employee is terminated.

9.05 Pay in Lieu of Termination Notice

Where less notice in writing is given than required in Article 9.04(b), an employee terminated in accordance with Article 9.04(b) shall continue to receive her pay for the number of days prior to the date of termination.

9.06 Notification to the Union*

The Employer shall advise the Union of the appointment, termination, **retirement, resignation,** or change of status of each employee in the bargaining unit in accordance with Article 8.02.

ARTICLE 10 - CHECKOFF

10.01 Deduction of Union Dues and Assessments

The Employer will, as a condition of employment, deduct an amount equal to the amount of the membership dues and assessments uniformly required to be paid by all members of the Union from the bi-weekly pay of all employees in the bargaining unit.

10.02 Notification of Deduction

The Union shall inform the Employer in writing of the authorized deduction to be checked off for employees mentioned in Article 10.01.

10.03 Religious Exclusions

Deductions for membership dues and assessments shall not apply to any employee who, for religious reasons, cannot pay union dues and assessments, provided she makes a contribution equal to said union dues and assessments to some recognized charitable cause.

10.04 Remittance of Union Dues and Assessments

The amounts deducted in accordance with Article 10.01 shall be remitted to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union by cheque within a reasonable time after deductions are made and shall be accompanied by particulars identifying each employee and the deductions made on her behalf.

10.05 Liability

The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any claim or liability arising out of the application of this Article except for any claim or liability arising out of an error committed by the Employer.

ARTICLE 11 – STEWARDS

11.01 Recognition

The Employer acknowledges the right of the Union to appoint employees as Stewards.

11.02 Notification

The Union agrees to provide the Employer with a list of employees designated as Shop Stewards.

11.03 Servicing of Grievances

It is understood that the Stewards and members of the Union have their regular work to perform on behalf of the Employer. It is acknowledged that grievances and Union business should be serviced as soon as possible and that if it is necessary to service a grievance during working hours, a Steward shall not leave her job without giving an explanation for leaving and obtaining her Supervisor's permission. Permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. The Steward shall report back to her Supervisor before resuming the normal duties of her position. Stewards shall not suffer a loss of pay for time spent in investigating grievances.

11.04 Access to Stewards

If an employee is to be disciplined and a meeting is held with the employee to administer such discipline, the employee shall be entitled to have a Steward or Union Representative present.

ARTICLE 12 - TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS

12.01 Leave Without Pay

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave without pay to employees, who are elected as officers of the Union, for the purpose of conducting Union business. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

12.02 Notification to Employer

The Union shall notify the Employer of the names, including the department wherein the employee is employed, of the officers of the Union and of the Union Bargaining Committee.

12.03 Annual Meeting

- (a) Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave with pay for a period not exceeding two (2) days, and special leave without pay for travelling time for such portion of the working day prior to and following the meeting as may be required for up to one (1) employee who has been elected or appointed as a registered delegate to attend the Annual Meeting of the Union. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (b) Where operational requirements permit and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave without pay for a period not exceeding two (2) days and special leave without pay for travelling time for such portion of the working day prior to and following the meeting as may be required to employees who are elected or appointed as registered delegates to attend the Annual Meeting of the Union. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.

12.04 Contract Negotiations

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave for not more than four (4) representatives of the bargaining unit for the purpose of attending contract negotiation meeting with the Employer on behalf of the Union. Such representatives shall not suffer a loss of regular pay for time spent in contract negotiations with the Employer. The Employer will make every reasonable effort to adjust the schedules of such representatives when requested.

12.05 Arbitration and Joint Consultation

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave with pay to employees who are:

- (a) called as a witness by an Arbitration Board prescribed by Article 24;
- (b) meeting with management in joint consultation as prescribed by Article 25.

12.06 Grievance and Discipline Meetings

Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, the Employer shall grant special leave with pay to an employee for the purpose of attending discipline and grievance meetings with the Employer.

12.07 Salary Continuance

The Employer will continue the salary of an employee who is granted leave without pay in accordance with Article 12.01 and will bill the Union for the employee's salary.

12.08 No Loss of Service/Seniority

While on leave for Union business pursuant to this Article, an employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits for the duration of her leave, and her service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous.

12.09 Leave of Absence for Full-Time President

Leave of absence for the full-time President of the Union shall be granted in accordance with the following:

- (a) An employee who declares her intention to offer for the position of President of the Union shall notify the Employer as soon as possible after declaring her intention to seek the office of the President.
- (b) An employee elected or appointed as President of the Union shall be given leave of absence without pay for the term(s) she is to serve.
- (c) A leave of absence for a second (2nd) and subsequent consecutive term(s) shall be granted in accordance with paragraph (a) and (b).
- (d) For the purposes of paragraph (b) and (c), the leave of absence shall commence as determined by the Union, provided one month's notice is provided to the Employer.
- (e) All benefits of the employee shall continue in effect while the employee is serving as President, and, for such purposes, the employee shall be deemed to be in the employ of the Employer.
- (f) Notwithstanding paragraphs (b) and (e), the gross salary of the President shall be determined by the Union and paid to the President by the Employer, and the amount of this gross salary shall be reimbursed to the Employer by the Union.

- (g) Upon expiration of her term of office, the employee shall be reinstated in the position she held immediately prior to the commencement of leave, or if the position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.
- (h) Notwithstanding paragraph (b) or any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the period of leave of absence shall be deemed to be continuous service with the Employer for all purposes.
- (i) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Agreement, vacation earned but not used prior to taking office shall be carried over to be taken in the fiscal year in which the employee returns from leave of absence.
- (j) The Union shall reimburse to the Employer the Employer's share of contributions for El premiums, Canada Pension Plan, other pension and group insurance premiums made on behalf of the employee during the period of leave of absence.

ARTICLE 13 - HOURS OF WORK

13.01 Hours of Work

- (a) The normal hours of work shall consist of ten (10) seven and one-half (7.5) hour shifts bi-weekly, exclusive of meal breaks but inclusive of two (2) fifteen (15) minute rest periods per shift. Shift arrangements and modifications to same in variance to the foregoing may be mutually agreed upon.
 - This shall not constitute a violation of this Agreement nor give rise to any claim for overtime provided that the bi-weekly hours of work when averaged over the full rotation do not exceed seventy-five (75) hours.
- (b) The Employer and the Union may, by mutual agreement, provide for hours of work which are other than standard hours of work as noted in Article 13.01 (a). In such cases, a Memorandum of Agreement shall be included to accommodate contract changes.

13.02 Rest Interval Between Scheduled Shifts

Every reasonable effort shall be made by the Employer to avoid scheduling the commencement of a shift within fourteen (14) hours of the completion of the employee's previous shift, and to avoid excessive fluctuations in hours of work.

This does not apply if the employee works overtime, or where there is an exchange of shift assignments in accordance with Article 13.04.

13.03 Posting of Shift Schedules

- (a) The Employer agrees to post shift schedules of a four (4) week duration at least four (4) weeks prior to the expiry of the posted schedule. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort not to change shifts. Employees may request to exchange shifts as provided for in Article 13.04.
- (b) If the Employer changes both the start and end times of a shift with less than 24 hours notice the affected employee shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1.5x) times her regular hourly rate for the shift. The Employer agrees to discuss with the Union any excessive changes to posted schedules. This Article shall not apply to casual employees unless they are in a short or long assignment.

13.04 Exchange of Shifts

Provided sufficient advance notice is given and with the approval of the Employer, employees may exchange shifts if there is no increase in cost to the Employer.

13.05 Rotation of Shifts

Where an employee is required to work rotating shifts, days, evenings, and night duty will be assigned to employees as equally as possible. This does not preclude an employee from being assigned to an evening or night shift at her request where such continuing assignment is acceptable to the Employer. In the event that the Employer intends to implement changes in the times that shifts commence for incumbent employees and such changes are to be of a permanent and ongoing nature the Employer shall consult with the Union as early as possible and at least two (2) weeks in advance. This shall have no application where changes in the schedule are necessary to meet the immediate needs of the Employer. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to minimize the adverse effects of shift changes on the employees.

13.06 Meal Breaks

Meal breaks shall not be less than thirty (30) minutes, and not more than one (1) hour, except by mutual agreement in writing. Should an employee be recalled to duty or precluded from taking a scheduled meal break owing to the press of work and the meal break cannot be rescheduled, the difference between the meal break time taken and the originally scheduled meal break, in so far as this

difference qualifies as overtime per Article 14 shall be compensated at the applicable overtime rate.

This does not preclude other arrangements acceptable to both the Employer and the employee(s), in variance to the foregoing.

13.07 Rest Periods

The Employer shall schedule two (2) rest periods of fifteen (15) minutes during each scheduled shift. Should an employee be recalled to duty or precluded from taking a scheduled rest period, and the rest period cannot be rescheduled, the originally scheduled rest period shall be compensated at the applicable overtime rate.

This does not preclude other arrangements acceptable to both the Employer and the employee(s), in variance to the foregoing.

13.08 Deviation from Regular Schedules

It is recognized and understood that deviation from the regular schedules of work will be necessary and will unavoidably result from emergencies and other unforeseen circumstances. Such deviations shall not be a violation of this contract.

13.09 Consecutive Shifts

- (i) The Employer will endeavour, where possible, to provide that no employee is scheduled to work more than six (6) consecutive days in a two (2) week period.
- (ii) Subject to the limitations of Article 13.08, the Employer shall provide that no employee is scheduled to work more than six (6) consecutive evening shifts or five (5) consecutive night shifts in a two (2) week period.

This does not preclude shift arrangements, acceptable to both the Employer and the employee(s), in variance to the foregoing.

13.10 Flexible Working Hours

The Employer will, where operational requirements and efficiency of the service permit, authorize experiments with a flexible working hours schedule if the Employer is satisfied that an adequate number of employees have requested and wish to participate in such an experiment.

13.11 Modified Work Week

Where employees in a unit have indicated a desire to work a modified work week, the Employer may authorize experiments with a modified work week schedule, providing operational requirements permit and the provision of services are not adversely affected. The averaging period for a modified work week shall not exceed three (3) calendar weeks, and the work day shall not exceed ten (10) hours.

13.12 Return to Regular Times of Work

In the event that a modified work week or flexible working hours system:

- (a) does not result in the provision of a satisfactory service to the public;
- (b) incurs an increase in cost to the employing department; or
- (c) is operationally impractical for other reasons;

the Employer may require a return to regular times of work, in which case the employees shall be provided with sixty (60) calendar days' advance notice of such requirement.

ARTICLE 14 – OVERTIME

14.01 Overtime

All hours worked in excess of the scheduled work day (7.5 hour shift or more) or in excess of seventy-five (75) hours in a two (2) week period as defined in Article 13.01 shall be compensated at the employee's overtime rate.

14.02 Allocation & Notice of Overtime

Subject to the operational requirements of the service, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort:

- (a) to allocate overtime work on an equitable basis among readily available qualified employees, and
- (b) to give employees who are required to work overtime notice of this requirement as soon as possible after the requirement is known.

14.03 Union Consultation

The Union is entitled to consult the Employer or its representative whenever it is alleged that employees are required to work unreasonable amounts of overtime.

14.04 Overtime Eligibility & Computation

An employee must work at least fifteen (15) minutes beyond her normal shift before being eligible for overtime compensation. In computing overtime, a period of more than fifteen (15) minutes but less than or equal to thirty (30) minutes shall be counted as one-half (½) hour and a period of more than thirty (30) minutes but less than or equal to sixty (60) minutes shall be counted as one (1) hour. Overtime in excess of one (1) hour shall be rounded to the nearest fifteen (15) minutes.

14.05 Overtime Approval

Overtime rates will be paid only when the work has supervisory approval.

14.06 Overtime Meal Allowance

An employee, who is required to work a minimum of three (3) hours' overtime following her scheduled hours of work and where it is not practical for her to enjoy her usual meal break before commencing such work, shall be granted thirty (30) minutes with pay as a meal period and provided with an IWK Food Services meal voucher in the amount of fifteen dollars (\$15.00). When an exceptional press of work prevents the taking of the meal break, the employee shall be credited with thirty (30) minutes of pay at the overtime rate and provided with an IWK Food Services meal voucher in the amount of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) for use. Employees who do not regularly work where IWK Food Services meal vouchers are redeemable may opt to receive reimbursement in the amount of \$15.00 through the payroll system.

14.07 Overtime Compensation

An employee shall be compensated at the rate of one and one-half times (1 1/2T) the employee's regular hourly rate for the first four (4) hours of overtime worked and two times (2T) the employee's regular hourly rate for all overtime worked in excess of four (4) hours. When an employee's overtime exceeds four (4) hours, all hours, including the first four, are paid at two times (2T) the regular rate of pay.

14.08 Compensation for Performing Other Duties

When an employee is required to work overtime and during the overtime hours performs duties of a classification other than the duties of her regular position, she will be compensated for the overtime worked at the rate applicable to the duties performed during the overtime or at the overtime rate for her regular position, whichever is greater.

14.09 Form of Compensation

All compensation for overtime and call back earned during a pay period will be paid except where, upon request of the employee, and with the approval of the Employer, all such overtime and call back earned during the pay period may be granted in the form of time off in lieu of pay. Time so granted shall be calculated by dividing the dollar credits earned by the employee's hourly rate of pay.

An employee who has been granted overtime in the form of time off in lieu of pay may request that she have part or all of the accumulated time in pay. Such payment will be made within two (2) pay periods from the date of the employee's request.

14.10 Overtime Pay

Subject to 14.09 an employee shall be paid all overtime compensation within four (4) weeks of working the overtime.

Time off in lieu of pay granted pursuant to Article 14.09 shall be scheduled to be taken at a mutually agreeable time. When time off in lieu of pay has not been scheduled by the end of the fiscal year, the Employer may opt to pay out all hours in the lieu bank in excess of thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours.

14.11 Daylight Saving Time

The changing of Daylight Saving Time to Standard Time, or vice versa, shall not result in employees being paid more or less than their normal scheduled daily hours. The hour difference shall be split between the employees completing their shift and those commencing their shift.

ARTICLE 15 - STANDBY AND CALL BACK*

15.01 Standby Compensation*

(a) Employees who are required by the Employer to standby shall receive standby pay of thirteen dollars and fifty cents (\$13.50) for each period of

eight (8) hours or less. Effective October 31, 2014, the standby rate (for 8 hours or less) will increase to sixteen dollars and twenty-one cents (\$16.21).

(b) Employees who are required by the Employer to standby on a holiday as listed in Article 17 shall receive standby pay of twenty seven dollars (\$27.00) for each standby period of eight (8) hours or less. Effective October 31, 2014, the standby rate (for 8 hours or less) on a holiday will increase to thirty-two dollars and forty cents (\$32.40).

15.02 Employee Availability

- (a) An employee designated for standby duty shall be available during her period of standby duty at a known telephone number or pager number and be able to report for duty as quickly as possible if called.
- (b) The Employer, at its own expense, will supply pagers to members of the bargaining unit who are designated for standby duty.

15.03 Failure to Report

No compensation shall be granted for the total period of standby if the employee is unable to report for duty when required.

15.04 Callback Compensation

An employee who is called back to work and who reports for work shall be compensated for a minimum of four (4) hours at the straight time rate for the period worked, or at the applicable overtime rate, whichever is greater. The minimum guarantee of four (4) hours pay at the straight time rate shall apply only once during each eight (8) consecutive hours on standby.

15.05 Transportation Allowance

Employees called back shall be reimbursed for transportation to and from the work place to a maximum of ten dollars (\$10.00) per call each way. An employee who is called back to work and who reports for work shall be reimbursed for parking costs.

15.06 Rest Interval After Call Back

The Employer shall provide at least six (6) hours between the time an employee completes a period of callback and the commencement of the employee's next scheduled shift. During an eight (8) hour period of standby, if the first callback is within two (2) hours of the commencement of the next scheduled shift, the

employee shall not be entitled to a six (6) hour rest interval. If mutually agreeable between the employee and the Employer, arrangements in variance to the foregoing will be acceptable and will not constitute a violation of this Article.

15.07 Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken

Subject to Article 15.06, where, because operational requirements do not permit or where mutually agreeable variations between the employee and the Employer are not acceptable, the six (6) hour rest period, pursuant to Article 15.06, cannot be accommodated, the hours worked from the commencement of the regular shift to the end of the period on which the rest period would normally end shall be compensated at the rate of time and one-half ($1\frac{1}{2}$).

ARTICLE 16 – VACATIONS

16.01 Annual Vacation Entitlement

- (a) An employee shall be entitled to receive annual vacation leave with pay:
 - (i) each year during her first forty-eight (48) months of service at the rate of one and one-quarter (11/4) days for each month of service; and
 - (ii) each year after forty-eight (48) months of service at the rate of one and two-thirds (1 %) days for each month of service; and
 - (iii) each year after one hundred and sixty-eight (168) months of service at the rate of two and one-twelfth (2 1/12) days for each month of service; and
 - (iv) each year after two hundred and eighty-eight (288) months of service at the rate of two and one-half (2½) days for each month of service.
- (b) An employee who, as of April 1, 1998, has earned entitlement to more vacation than provided for in Article 16.01(a) by virtue of her terms and conditions of employment with the Employer in effect on October 31, 1997, shall retain that entitlement. Any future increase in vacation entitlement for such employees shall be pursuant to Article 16.01(a).

16.02 Vacation Year

The vacation year shall be April 1 to March 31 inclusive.

16.03 Vacation Request

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, vacation leave entitlement shall be used during the year in which it is earned.
- (b) The employee shall advise the Employer in writing of her vacation preference before February 1 of each year and the Employer will endeavor to approve these requests by March 15 of each year.

16.04 Vacation Scheduling

An employee shall be granted vacation leave as such time during the year as the Employer determines. Subject to operational requirements of the service, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that an employee's written request for vacation leave is approved. Where, in scheduling vacation leave, the Employer is unable to comply with the employee's written request, the Employer or delegated official shall give the reason for the disapproval.

16.05 Restriction on Numbers of Employees on Vacation

- (a) Where operational requirements necessitate a decision by the Employer to place a restriction of the number of employees on vacation leave at any one time, preference for a period of up to two (2) weeks of unbroken vacation shall be given to employees with the greatest length of seniority.
- (b) After each employee has been granted vacation in accordance with Article 16.05(a), all remaining vacation entitlement shall be granted in accordance with seniority. Once seniority has been exercised for the period of up to two weeks, remaining requests will be granted by seniority, i.e. all second requests and then all third requests.
- (c) After the vacation schedule is posted, if operational requirements permit additional employees to be on vacation leave, such leave shall be offered by seniority to employees provided the employees requested that time in accordance with Article 16.03.

16.06 Unbroken Vacation Entitlement

Subject to Article 16.05, where operational requirements permit, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to grant to an employee her request to enjoy her vacation entitlement in a single unbroken period of leave.

16.07 Vacation Carry Over

- (a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, vacation leave for a period of not more than five (5) days may, with the consent of the Employer, be carried over to the following year, but shall lapse if not used before the close of that year. Request for vacation carry over entitlement shall be made in writing by the employee to the Employer not later than January 31st of the year in which the vacation is earned, provided however the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice of the request. The Employer shall respond in writing within one (1) calendar month of receiving an employee's request.
- (b) An employee scheduled to take vacation and who is unable to do so within the vacation year due to illness or injury shall be entitled to carry over this unused vacation to the subsequent year(s).

16.08 Accumulative Vacation Carry Over

An employee with the approval of the Employer, may be granted permission to carry over five (5) days of her vacation leave each year to a maximum of twenty (20) days if in the opinion of the Employer it will not interfere with the efficient operation of the Health Centre.

16.09 Use of Accumulated Vacation Carry Over

The vacation leave approved pursuant to Article 16.08 shall be used within five (5) years subsequent to the date on which it was approved and shall lapse if not used within that period unless an extension is approved by the Employer.

16.10 Borrowing of Unearned Vacation Credits

With the approval of the Employer, an employee who has been employed for a period of five (5) or more years may be granted five (5) days from the vacation leave entitlement of the next vacation year.

16.11 Employee Compensation Upon Separation

An employee, upon her separation shall be compensated for vacation leave to which she is entitled.

16.12 Employer Compensation Upon Separation

An employee upon her voluntary separation from employment shall compensate the Employer for vacation which is taken but to which she was not entitled.

16.13 Reconciling Vacation Credits Upon Death

Upon the death of an employee who has been granted more vacation with pay than she has earned, the employee is considered to have earned the amount of vacation leave with pay granted to her.

16.14 Vacation Records

An employee is entitled to be informed, upon request, of the balance of her vacation leave with pay credits.

16.15 Illness While On Vacation

Accumulated sick leave credits may be substituted for hours of vacation interrupted where it can be established by the employee to the satisfaction of the Employer that an illness or accident occurred prior to the commencement of the vacation and that the illness or the accident was such that the vacation plans of the employee were interrupted.

16.16 Recall from Vacation

- (a) The Employer will make every reasonable effort not to recall an employee to duty after she has proceeded on vacation leave or to cancel vacation once it has been approved.
- (b) When the Employer cancels a period of vacation, which it has previously approved in writing, or recalls an employee from vacation, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for the non-returnable portion of vacation contracts and reservations made by the employee in respect of the period subject to the presentation of such documentation as the Employer may require. The employee must make every reasonable attempt to mitigate any losses incurred and will provide proof of such action to the Employer. At the time the change is proposed by the Employer the employee shall advise the Employer of the maximum liability that will be involved.
- (c) Where, during any period of approved vacation, an employee is recalled to duty, she shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses, subject to the provisions of Article 29, that she incurs:
 - (i) in proceeding to her place of duty; and
 - (ii) in returning to the place from which she was recalled if she immediately resumes vacation leave upon completing the assignment for which she was recalled.

In addition to the above, an employee shall be compensated at two (2) times her regular rate of pay for time worked during the period of recall from vacation.

(d) The period of vacation leave so displaced resulting from recall and transportation time shall either be added to the vacation period, if requested by the employee and approved by the Employer, or reinstated for use at a later date.

ARTICLE 17 – HOLIDAYS

17.01 Paid Holidays

The Holidays designated for employees shall be:

- (a) New Year's Day
- (b) Good Friday
- (c) Easter Monday
- (d) Victoria Day
- (e) Canada Day
- (f) Labour Day
- (g) Thanksgiving Day
- (h) Remembrance Day
- (i) Christmas Day
- (i) Boxing Day
- (k) HRM Civic Holiday
- (I) one-half (1/2) day beginning at 12:00 noon on Christmas Eve Day
- (m) Any day or part of a day proclaimed by the Provincial Government to be a general holiday in the Province of Nova Scotia.

17.02 Exception

Article 17.01 does not apply to an employee who is absent without pay on both the working day immediately preceding and the working day following the designated holiday.

17.03 Holiday Falling on a Day of Rest

When the calendar date of a holiday as specified in Article 17.01 coincides with the employee's day of rest, the Employer shall grant a day off with pay on either:

- (a) the working day immediately following her day of rest; or
- (b) the day following the employee's annual vacation; or

(c) other mutually acceptable day between the Employer and the employee.

17.04 Holiday Coinciding with Paid Leave

Where a day that is a designated holiday for an employee, as defined in 17.01, falls within a period of leave with pay, the holiday shall not count as a day of leave.

17.05 Compensation for Work on a Holiday

- (a) Where an employee is regularly scheduled to work, in accordance with Article 13, and her regularly scheduled day of work falls on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 17.01, she shall receive compensation equal to two and one-half (2 ½) times her regular rate of pay as follows:
 - (i) compensation at one and one-half (1 ½) times her regular rate of pay, including the holiday pay, for the hours worked on the holiday; and
 - (ii) time off with pay in lieu of the holiday on an hour-for-hour basis at a mutually acceptable time. Where time off in lieu exceeds thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours, the Employer may opt to pay out all hours in excess of thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours.
- (b) Where time off with pay in lieu of the holiday has not been granted in accordance with Article 17.05 (a)(ii), compensation shall be granted at the employee's regular rate of pay for those hours worked on the holiday.
- (c) Notwithstanding Article 17.05 (a) and (b) an employee, upon request, shall receive all compensation in the form of pay.

17.06 Overtime on a Holiday

- (a) Where an employee is required to work overtime on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 17.01, she will receive compensation equal three-point-three-three (3.33) times her regular rate as follows:
 - (i) compensation at two-point-three-three (2.33) times her regular rate of pay, including the holiday pay, for the hours worked on the holiday; and
 - (ii) time off with pay in lieu of the holiday on an hour-for-hour basis at a mutually acceptable time. Where time off in lieu exceeds thirty-

seven and one-half (37.5) hours, the Employer may opt to pay out all hours in excess of thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours.

- (b) Where time off with pay in lieu of the holiday has not been granted in accordance with Article 17.06 (a)(ii), compensation shall be granted at the employee's regular rate of pay for those hours worked on the holiday.
- (c) Notwithstanding Article 17.06 (a) and (b), an employee, upon request shall receive all compensation in the form of pay.

17.07 Holiday Compensation for Part Time Employees

Part-time employees shall be remunerated for holidays by receiving one (1) day of pay for each twenty-four (24) days worked.

17.08 Christmas or New Year's Day Off

Each employee shall receive either Christmas Day or New Year's Day off, unless otherwise mutually agreed, and every effort will be made to give at least two (2) other holidays off on the actual day of the holiday. In addition, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to schedule an employee in such a manner that they do not work the same holiday (Christmas Day or New Year's Day) worked in the previous year, unless otherwise mutually agreed.

17.09 Illness on a Paid Holiday

- (a) An employee who is scheduled to work on a paid holiday, as defined in Article 17.01, and who is unable to report for work due to illness or injury, shall receive sick leave pay for that day, and shall be granted time off in lieu of the holiday at a mutually acceptable time prior to the end of the second (2nd) calendar month immediately following the month in which the holiday fell.
- (b) Where time off with pay in lieu of the holiday has not been granted in accordance with Article 17.09 (a), compensation shall be granted at the employee's regular rate of pay for those hours.

ARTICLE 18 - SPECIAL LEAVE

18.01 Special Leave

The Employer or delegated official, in any one year, may grant special leave with pay or without pay, for such a period as it deems circumstances warrant.

18.02 Bereavement Leave

- (a) For the purposes of this Article, immediate family means spouse, father, step-father, mother, step-mother, child or step child, brother, sister, guardian, grandparent, grandchild, step grandparent, step grandchild, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law or ward of the employee and a relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with who the employee permanently resides.
- (b) If a death occurs in the immediate family of an employee, when the employee is at work or scheduled to go to work, then the employee shall be granted bereavement leave with pay for the remainder of the employee's shift for that day. The employee shall be granted seven (7) calendar days' Bereavement Leave, including any time required for travel, commencing on the calendar day following the day of death of the immediate family member. The employee shall not have a loss of regular pay for shifts not worked during the Bereavement Leave.
- (c) Every employee shall be entitled to leave with pay up to a maximum of three (3) days including any time required for travel in the event of death of the employee's brother-in-law or sister-in-law. The employee shall not have a loss of regular pay for shifts not worked during the Bereavement Leave.
- (d) Every employee shall be entitled to one (1) day leave without pay, for the purpose of attending the funeral of an employee's aunt or uncle, niece or nephew, or the grandparents of the spouse of the employee. An employee may be granted up to two (2) days for travel without pay for the purposes of attending the funeral. The employee may elect that such bereavement leave be paid by charging the time to the employee's accumulated vacation, accumulated holiday, or accumulated overtime.
- (e) The above entitlement is subject to the proviso that proper notification is made to the Employer.
- (f) If an employee is on vacation or sick leave at the time of bereavement, the employee shall be granted Bereavement leave and be credited the appropriate number of days to her vacation or sick leave credits.

The above entitlement will not be pro rated for part time employees or casual employees filling a Long or Short Assignment.

18.03 Court Leave

Leave of absence with pay shall be given to every employee, other than an employee on leave of absence without pay, or under suspension who is required:

- (a) to serve on a jury; or
- (b) by subpoena or summons to attend as a witness in any proceeding held:
 - (i) in or under the authority of a court; or
 - (ii) before an arbitrator or umpire or a person or body of persons authorized by law to make an inquiry and to compel the attendance of witnesses before it; or
 - (iii) before a legislative council, legislative assembly or any committee thereof that is authorized by law to compel the attendance of witnesses before it.
- (c) Any employee given leave of absence with pay pursuant to Article 18.03 shall remit to the Employer any monies received for such duty except reimbursement of actual expenses.
- (d) Any employee who is required to serve under Article 18.03(b) as a result of the functions they fill on behalf of the Employer shall suffer no loss of days of rest or vacation and shall have these rescheduled to a mutually acceptable time.
- (e) For greater clarity, the term "witness" in 18.03(b) shall not include the appearance of the employees as a defendant or a plaintiff.

18.04 Pregnancy Leave

- (a) The Employer shall not terminate the employment of an employee because of her pregnancy.
- (b) A pregnant employee, who has been employed with the Employer for at least one (1) year, is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to seventeen (17) weeks.
- (c) An employee shall, no later than the fifth (5th) month of pregnancy, forward to the Employer a written request for pregnancy leave.

- (d) The Employer may, prior to approving such leave, request a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner stating that the employee is pregnant and specifying the expected date of delivery.
- (e) Pregnancy leave shall begin on such date as the employee determines, but not sooner than sixteen (16) weeks preceding the expected date of delivery, and not later than the date of delivery.
- (f) Pregnancy leave shall end on such date as the employee determines, but not sooner than one (1) week after the date of delivery, and not later than seventeen (17) weeks after the pregnancy leave began.
- (g) A pregnant employee shall provide the Employer with at least four (4) weeks notice of the date she will begin her pregnancy leave. Such notice may be amended from time to time by the employee:
 - (i) by changing any date in the notice to an earlier date if the notice is amended at least two (2) weeks before that earlier date;
 - (ii) by changing any date in the notice to a later date if the notice is amended at least two (2) weeks before the original date.
- (h) An employee shall endeavour to provide the Employer with four (4) weeks' notice, and in any event, shall not provide less than two (2) weeks' notice of the date the employee will return to work on completion of the pregnancy leave, unless the employee gives notice pursuant to Article 18.04(f).
- (i) Where notice as required under Article 18.04(g) or (h) is not possible due to circumstances beyond the control of the employee, the employee shall provide the Employer as much notice as reasonably practicable of the commencement of her leave or her return to work.
- (j) The Employer may require a pregnant employee to take an unpaid leave of absence while the duties of her position cannot reasonably be performed by a pregnant woman or the performance of the employee's work is materially affected unless the Employer can reasonably modify the employee's duties for the period required or temporarily re-assign the employee to alternate duties or another classification. The Union shall support any modification of duties or temporary re-assignment as provided in this provision.
- (k) Where an employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period referred to in Article 18.04(f), the employee shall resume work in the same position she held prior to the commencement of the pregnancy leave, with

no loss of seniority or benefits accrued to the commencement of the pregnancy leave or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.

(I) While an employee is on pregnancy leave, the Employer shall permit the employee to continue participation in eligible benefit plans. The employee shall be responsible to pay both the Employer and the employee's shares of the premium costs for maintaining such coverage for which the employee is eligible during the period of leave, except for the group health and dental plans which, at the employee's option may continue to be cost-shared at the existing rate of 65% employer and 35% employee.

Notwithstanding the above, an employee who opts to participate in the Pension Plan shall be required to pay her share of the contributions and the Employer will continue to pay its share of the contributions.

- (m) While on pregnancy leave, an employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits for the duration of her leave, and her service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous. However, service accumulated during pregnancy leave shall not be used for the purposes of calculating vacation leave credits.
- (n) Leave for illness of an employee arising out of or associated with the employee's pregnancy prior to the commencement of, or the ending of, pregnancy leave granted in accordance with Article 18.04(b), may be granted sick leave in accordance with the provisions of Article 19.

(o) Pregnancy/ Birth Leave Allowance

- (i) An employee entitled to pregnancy leave under the provisions of this Agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that she has applied for, and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E.I.) benefits pursuant to Section 22, *Employment Insurance Act*, S.C. 1996, c.23, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B.).
- (ii) In respect to the period of pregnancy leave, payments made according to the S.E.B. Plan will consist of the following:
 - (1) Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving E.I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five percent (75%) of her weekly rate of pay for each week of the two (2) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period;

- (2) Up to a maximum of five (5) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E.I. benefits the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three percent (93%) of her weekly rate of pay, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E.I. benefits to which the employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.
- (iii) For the purpose of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half (1/2) the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for her classification on the date immediately preceding the commencement of her pregnancy leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the employee's classification.
- (iv) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, benefits under the S.E.B. plan will be adjusted accordingly.
- (v) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount she is required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada, where her annual income exceeds one and one-half (1 1/2) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the *Employment Insurance Act*.
- (vi) It is understood that employees entitled to the seven (7) weeks Birth Allowance as provided in this Article may be eligible for an additional Parental Leave Allowance which, when combined with the Birth Allowance may result in eligibility up to a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks allowance.

18.05 Parental Leave

- (a) An employee who has been employed with the Employer for at least one (1) year, and who becomes a parent for one or more children through the birth of the child or children is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to thirty five (35) weeks.
- (b) Where an employee takes pregnancy leave pursuant to Article 18.04 and the employee's newborn child or children arrive in the employee's home during pregnancy leave, parental leave begins immediately upon

completion of the pregnancy leave and without the employee returning to work and ends not later than thirty five (35) weeks after the parental leave began.

- (c) Where an employee did not take pregnancy leave pursuant to Article 18.04, parental leave begins on such date as determined by the employee, coinciding with or after the birth of the child or children first arriving in the employee's home, and ends not later than thirty five (35) weeks after the parental leave begins or fifty-two (52) weeks after the child or children first arrive in the employee's home, whichever is earlier.
- (d) Notwithstanding Article 18.05(b) or (c), where an employee has begun parental leave, and the child to whom the parental leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding, or likely to exceed one (1) week, the employee is entitled to return to and resume work in the position held immediately before the leave began or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement. The employee is entitled to only one (1) interruption and deferral of each parental leave.
- (e) The employee shall give the Employer four (4) weeks notice of the date the employee will begin parental leave.
- (f) The employee shall give the Employer four (4) weeks notice of the date the employee will return to work upon completion of the parental leave.
- (g) Where an employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period referred to in Article 18.05(a), the employee shall resume work in the same position she held prior to the commencement of the parental leave or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.
- (h) While on parental leave, an employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits for the duration of her leave, and her service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous. However, service accumulated during parental leave shall not be used for the purposes of calculating vacation leave credits.
- (i) The employee shall have the option of maintaining the benefit plans in which the employee participated prior to the commencement of the employee's parental leave.
- (j) The Employer shall notify the employee of the option and the date beyond which the option referred to in Article 18.05(i) may no longer be exercised at least ten (10) days prior to the last day on which the option could be exercised to avoid an interruption of benefits.

(k) Where the employee opts in writing to maintain the benefit plans referred to in Article 18.05(i), the employee shall enter into an arrangement with the Employer to pay the cost required to maintain the benefit plans, including the Employer's share thereof.

Notwithstanding the above, an employee who opts to participate in the Pension Plan shall be required to pay her share of the contributions and the Employer will continue to pay its share of the contributions.

18.06 Adoption Leave

- (a) An employee who has been employed with the Employer for at least one (1) year, who becomes a parent for one or more children through the placement of the child or children in the care of the employee for the purpose of adoption of the child or children pursuant to the law of the Province is entitled to an unpaid leave of absence of up to seventeen (17) weeks, or more, if required by the adoption agency.
- (b) The Employer shall require an employee who requests Adoption Leave pursuant to Article 18.06(a) to submit a certificate of an official in the Department of Community Services, or equivalent, to establish the entitlement of the employee to the Adoption Leave.
- (c) Adoption leave begins on such date as determined by the employee, coinciding with the child or children first arriving in the employee's home, and ends not later than seventeen (17) weeks after the adoption leave begins or fifty-two (52) weeks after the child or children first arrive in the employee's home, whichever is earlier.
- (d) Notwithstanding Article 18.06(b), where an employee has begun adoption leave, and the child to whom the adoption leave relates is hospitalized for a period exceeding, or likely to exceed one (1) week, the employee is entitled to return to and resume work in the position held immediately before the leave began or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement. The employee is entitled to only one (1) interruption and deferral of each adoption leave.
- (e) The employee shall give the Employer two (2) weeks notice of the date the employee will begin adoption leave.
- (f) The employee shall give the Employer four (4) weeks notice of the date the employee will return to work upon completion of the adoption leave.

- (g) Where an employee reports for work upon the expiration of the period referred to in Article 18.06(a), the employee shall resume work in the same position she held prior to the commencement of the adoption leave or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.
- (h) While on adoption leave, an employee shall continue to accrue and accumulate service and seniority credits for the duration of her leave, and her service and seniority shall be deemed to be continuous. However, service accumulated during adoption leave shall not be used for the purposes of calculating vacation leave credits.
- (i) While an employee is on adoption leave, the Employer shall permit the employee to continue participation in eligible benefit plans. The employee shall be responsible to pay both the Employer and the employee's shares of the premium costs for maintaining such coverage for which the employee is eligible during the period of leave, except for the group health and dental plans which, at the employee's option may continue to be costshared at the existing rate of 65% employer and 35% employee.

(j) Parental and Adoption Leave Allowance

- (i) An employee entitled to parental or adoption leave under the provisions of this Agreement, who provides the Employer with proof that she/he has applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance (E. I.) benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act, 1996*, shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit (S.E.B.) Plan.
- (ii) The parental leave allowance of an employee who has taken the pregnancy/birth leave allowance, shall begin immediately upon the exhaustion of the pregnancy/birth allowance without the employee's returning to work.
- (iii) In respect to the period of parental or adoption leave, payments made according to the (S.E.B.) Plan will consist of the following:
 - (1) Where the employee is subject to a waiting period of two (2) weeks before receiving E. I. benefits, payments equivalent to seventy-five percent (75%) of her/his weekly rate of pay for each week of the two (2) week waiting period, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period;
 - (2) Up to a maximum of ten (10) additional weeks, payments equivalent to the difference between the weekly E. I. benefits

the employee is eligible to receive and ninety-three per cent (93%) of her/his weekly rate of pay, less any other earnings received by the employee during the benefit period which may result in a decrease in the E. I. benefits to which the employee would have been eligible if no other earnings had been received during the period.

- (iv) For the purposes of this allowance, an employee's weekly rate of pay will be one-half the bi-weekly rate of pay to which the employee is entitled for her/his classification on the day immediately preceding the commencement of the adoption leave. In the case of a part-time employee, such weekly rate of pay will be multiplied by the fraction obtained from dividing the employee's time worked (as defined for the purpose of accumulating service) averaged over the preceding twenty-six (26) weeks by the regularly scheduled full-time hours of work for the employee's classification.
- (v) Where an employee becomes eligible for a salary increment or pay increase during the benefit period, payments under the S.E.B. Plan will be adjusted accordingly.
- (vi) The Employer will not reimburse the employee for any amount she/he is required to remit to Human Resources Development Canada where her/his annual income exceeds one and one-half (1 ½) times the maximum yearly insurable earnings under the Employment Insurance Act.

18.07 Leave for Birth of Child

On the occasion of the birth of her child, a spouse who is an employee shall be granted special leave with pay up to a maximum of one (1) day during the confinement of the mother. This leave may be divided into two (2) periods and granted on separate days.

18.08 Leave for Adoption of Child

An employee shall be granted one (1) day's leave with pay for the purpose of the adoption of a child by the employee, or the employee's spouse. This leave may be divided into two (2) periods and granted on separate days.

18.09 Leave for Family Illness and Medical and Dental Appointments

Full-time employees shall be entitled to leave of absence with pay for up to thirty-seven and one-half (37.5) hours per fiscal / calendar year to attend to an illness of a member of an employee's immediate family meaning spouse, son, daughter,

father or mother (or legal guardian) and when no one at home other than the employee can provide for the needs of the ill person, or to engage in personal preventative medical and dental care.

The benefits shall be pro-rated for part-time employees.

18.10 Compassionate Care Leave

Employees shall be entitled to compassionate care leave in accordance with the *Labour Standards Code*.

18.11 Education Leave

- (a) Where the Employer requires and authorizes in writing an employee to pursue an educational program, which specifically relates to job requirements, a full or partial leave of absence with pay may be granted to the employee. Where leave is granted, the Employer will pay for tuition and books. External licensing requirements are the responsibility of the employee.
- (b) (i) A leave of absence without pay may be granted to an employee for the purpose of pursuing an educational program.
 - (ii) The employee shall have the option of maintaining the benefit plans in which the employee participated prior to the commencement of the employee's education leave.
 - (iii) The Employer shall notify the employee of the option referred to in Article 18.11 (b)(ii) and the date beyond which the option may no longer be exercised at least ten (10) days prior to the last day on which the option could be exercised to avoid an interruption of benefits.
 - (iv) Where the employee opts in writing to maintain the benefit plan referred to in Article 18.11 (b)(ii), the employee shall enter into an arrangement with the Employer to pay the cost required to maintain the benefit plan, including the Employer's portion thereof, and the Employer shall process the documentation and payments as arranged.
 - (v) Where operational requirements permit, and on reasonable notice, leave of absence for education purposes shall not be unreasonably denied.

(c) Upon completion of education leave pursuant to this Article, an employee shall be entitled to return to her former position or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.

18.12 In-Service Conferences

- (a) The Employer may grant permission to an employee to attend in-service conference(s), where in the opinion of the Employer, such a conference is relevant to the employee's respective field and where such attendance will not interfere with efficient operation. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- (b) Where an in-service conference(s) is not held during the employee's scheduled hours of work, the employee shall be paid for all hours of attendance in accordance with Article 14 or Article 36, whichever is applicable.

18.13 Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions

- (a) It is the responsibility of the employee to make every reasonable effort to arrive to work and to notify their Supervisor if unable to arrive at work due to a storm or hazardous conditions.
- (b) Time lost by an employee of less than two (2) hours for a scheduled shift due to such conditions will be compensated as regular time worked.
- (c) All time lost in excess of two (2) hours in a scheduled shift will be deemed to be leave, and shall, at the employee's option, be:
 - (i) made up by the employee at a time agreed upon between the employee and the employee's immediate supervisor; or
 - (ii) charged to the employee's accumulated vacation, accumulated holiday time, or accumulated overtime; or
 - (iii) otherwise deemed to be leave without pay.
- (d) Where an employee requests permission to leave work prior to the completion of her scheduled shift because of hazardous conditions arising from a storm, the Employer may, where operational requirements permit, excuse the employee, in which case Article 18.13 (b) and (c) above shall apply.

18.14 Military Leave

Where operational requirements permit, an employee may be granted a leave of absence without pay to a maximum of two (2) weeks for purpose of taking military training or serving military duty.

ARTICLE 19 - SICK LEAVE

19.01 Eligibility

Sick leave is an indemnity benefit and not an acquired right. An employee who is absent from a scheduled shift on approved sick leave may be granted sick leave pay when unable to perform the duties of their position because of illness or injury, provided that the employee satisfies the Employer of their condition in the manner determined by the Employer and provided the employee has sufficient sick leave credits.

19.02 Accumulation of Credits

- (a) Each employee in the bargaining unit may be granted one and one-half (1 ½) days sick leave with pay for each completed calendar month of service up to a maximum accumulation of one hundred and fifty (150) days.
- (b) An employee who, as at the date of signing this Agreement, has accumulated sick leave credits in excess of one hundred and fifty (150) days shall not forfeit any sick leave credits, however, shall not accumulate sick leave credits until such time as their accumulated sick leave credits fall below one hundred and fifty (150) days at which time the maximum accumulation of one hundred and fifty (150) days shall apply.

19.03 Medical Certificate

- (a) An employee may be required by the Employer to produce a certificate from a legally qualified medical practitioner for any period of absence for which sick leave is claimed by an employee and if a certificate is not produced after such a request, the time absent from work will be deducted from the employee's pay. Where the Employer has reason to believe an employee is misusing sick leave privileges, the Employer may issue to the employee a standing directive that requires the employee to submit a medical certificate for any period of absence for which sick leave is claimed.
- (b) Where an employee is required by the Employer to submit a detailed medical certificate or reports pursuant to a required medical examination,

the Employer shall be responsible for paying the direct cost of any such examination, medical certificate form or report in excess of those costs covered by an insurance plan of the employee.

19.04 Employee Entitlement

An employee whose illness or injury is one which is covered by the terms of the Nova Scotia *Workers' Compensation Act* is not entitled to receive any benefits pursuant to this Article.

19.05 Information to Employee

An employee is entitled, once annually, to be informed in writing on written request, of the balance of her sick leave with pay credits.

19.06 LTD Top Up

An employee who has earned in excess of one hundred and fifty (150) sick leave credits because they fall in a category noted in Article 19.02 (b) and who is in receipt of Long Term Disability benefits under the LTD Program, shall be entitled to top up their disability benefits so that the benefits plus top-up is equal to the level of their normal salary as defined in Article 13 of the Plan Text. For each day, the employee receives top-up, that employee's accumulated sick leave credits will be reduced by one (1) day.

19.07 Top Up Limitation

Employees on Long Term Disability benefits who have sick leave credits and who are subject to a maximum accumulation of one hundred and fifty (150) work days shall not be entitled to use such credits as top-up but shall retain any excess credits for their use in the event they return to work. Should the employee not return to work with the Employer they shall forfeit all claims to such sick leave.

19.08 Return to Work

Should an employee in receipt of Long Term Disability benefits cease to be disabled and provided she is able to perform her full job, such employee shall have a right to return to her former or equivalent position with the Employer.

The Employer reserves the right to require a medical evaluation by a qualified medical practitioner in order to assist in determining an employee's suitability for reinstatement. The Union acknowledges its duty to cooperate in facilitating the employee's return to work.

ARTICLE 20 - EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW & EMPLOYEE FILES

20.01 Employee Performance Review

- (a) The Employer will endeavour to do performance appraisals on a regular basis.
- (b) When a formal review of an employee's performance is made, the employee concerned shall be given an opportunity to discuss, make written comments and then sign the review form in question to indicate that its contents have been read and such employee shall be provided with a copy of the review form. An employee may sign the review form immediately or may take up to three (3) working days prior to providing any written response to the Employer with respect to the evaluation.

20.02 Record of Disciplinary Action

- (a) The Employer agrees not to introduce as evidence in a hearing relating to disciplinary action any document from the file of an employee, the existence of which the employee was not aware at the time of filing.
- (b) An employee who has been subject to disciplinary action other than suspension may, after twenty-four months of continuous service from the date the disciplinary measure was invoked, request in writing that the personnel file be cleared of any record of disciplinary action. Such request shall be granted providing the employee's file does not contain any further record of disciplinary action during the twenty-four month period, of which the employee is aware. The Employer shall confirm in writing to the employee that such has been effected. Any period of leave, except vacation, one month in length or greater, shall be excluded from the twenty-four months.
- (c) An employee who has been subject to disciplinary suspension may, after five (5) years of continuous service from the date of the suspension, request in writing that the personnel file be cleared of any record of disciplinary action. Such request shall be granted providing the employee's file does not contain any further record of disciplinary action during the five (5) year period, of which the employee is aware. The Employer shall confirm in writing to the employee that such has been effected.

20.03 Notice of Performance Improvement Requirements

The Employer will notify an employee where, during the period between the formal performance evaluation processes, the Employer has observed that certain aspects of an employee's performance require improvement.

20.04 Employee Access to Personnel File

Within five (5) days of an employee's request, she shall have access to her personnel file. Employees or persons authorized by them in writing, shall be entitled to obtain copies of any material on their personnel file, upon reasonable notice.

ARTICLE 21 - DISCIPLINE & DISCHARGE

21.01 Just Cause

No employee who has completed her probationary period shall be disciplined except for just and sufficient cause.

21.02 Notification

Where an employee is disciplined by suspension, without pay or by discharge, the Employer shall, within ten (10) days of the suspension or discharge notify the employee in writing by registered mail or by personal service stating the reason for the suspension or discharge. Where an employee has been suspended or discharged, the Employer will notify the Union within ten (10) days that such disciplinary action has been taken.

21.03 Grievance

Where an employee alleges that she has been suspended or discharged in violation of Article 21.01, she may, within ten (10) days, of the date on which she was notified in writing or within twenty (20) days of the date of her suspension or discharge, whichever is later, invoke the grievance procedure including provisions for arbitration and for the purpose of a grievance alleging violation of Article 21.01 she shall lodge her grievance at the third step of the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 22 - JOB SECURITY

22.01 Joint Labour Relations Committee

- (a) Within sixty (60) days of the signing of this Agreement, the parties agree to establish a Joint Labour Relations Committee of equal representation of the Union and the Employer. The committee shall invite additional participants as required.
- (b) The purpose of the committee is to discuss matters of concern between the parties relating to expected redundancies, layoffs, relocations, reorganizational plans, technological change and proposed contracting out of work.
- (c) The Joint Labour Relations Committee shall be responsible for:
 - 1) defining problems;
 - 2) developing viable solutions to such problems;
 - 3) recommending the proposed solution to the Employer.
- (d) The Employer will provide the Union with as much notice as reasonably possible of expected redundancies, layoffs, relocations, re-organizational plans, technological change and proposed contracting out of work. During the notice period the Employer will consult with the Union in accordance with this Article.
- (e) Where such changes are introduced, the Employer agrees that it will endeavour to introduce them in a manner which as much as is practical will minimize the disruptive effects on employees and service to the public.
- (f) Where positions are to be declared redundant because of technological change, shortage of work or funds, or because of discontinuance of work or the reorganization of work within a classification, the Employer will advise and consult with the Union as soon as reasonably possible after the change appears probable, with a view to minimizing the adverse effects of the decision to declare redundancies.

22.02 Training and Retraining

(a) Where retraining of employees is necessary, it shall be provided during normal working hours where possible.

(b) The Employer shall continue to make available appropriate training programs to enable employees to perform present and future duties more effectively.

22.03 Application

For the purposes of this Article "employee" means a permanent employee, or a casual employee who, pursuant to Article 39.04(m), has the rights of a permanent employee.

22.04 Transition Support Program

- (a) All references within this Article to the Transition Support Program relate to the document outlined as Memorandum of Agreement #1 to this collective agreement. The availability of any payment or other entitlement under that document, and any obligation on the part of the Employer to provide such, pursuant to this Article or any other part of the collective agreement, shall only exist during the effective term of the Program, as expressly specified in that document. This limitation exists notwithstanding any other provision of this Article or any other part of the collective agreement.
- (b) The term of the Transition Support Program may be extended by mutual agreement between the parties.

22.05 Employee Placement Rights

- (a) Subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required according to objective tests or standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned, an employee whose position has become redundant, shall have the right to be placed in a vacancy in the following manner and sequence:
 - (i) a position in the employee's same position classification/classification grouping;
 - (ii) if a vacancy is not available under (1) above, then any bargaining unit position for which the employee is qualified.

At each of the foregoing steps, all applicable vacancies shall be identified and the employee shall be assigned to the position of her choice, subject to consideration of the provisions herein. If there is more than one employee affected, their order of preference shall be determined by their order of seniority.

- (b) An employee whose position is redundant or who is in receipt of layoff notice and who has not received a payment pursuant to the Transition Support Program (TSP Payment) must accept a placement in accordance with Article 22 or resign without severance.
- (c) An employee will have a maximum of two (2) full days to exercise her placement rights in this step of the placement process.
- (d) Where an employee accepts a position in a classification, with the maximum salary, which is less than the maximum salary of the employee's current classification, the employee shall be paid the salary of the classification of the employee's new position.

22.06 Volunteers

- (a) When the Employer determines after placement pursuant to Article 22.05, there are still redundancies, the Employer shall ask for volunteers from that classification/classification grouping who wish to be offered a TSP payment according to Memorandum of Agreement #1.
- (b) If there are more volunteers than redundancies, then the most senior volunteers shall be offered the TSP payment.

22.07 Insufficient Volunteers

If there are insufficient volunteers pursuant to Article 22.06, the Employer shall identify remaining redundant employees and these employees shall have placement rights pursuant to Article 22.05 or they shall be entitled to receive a TSP payment.

22.08 Layoff Notice

- (a) If there are remaining redundant employees after Article 22.06 and 22.07, the Employer shall give layoff notice to the most junior employee(s) pursuant to Article 22.10 in the classification/classification grouping from which the Employer requested volunteers for the Transition Support Program.
- (b) The employees in receipt of layoff notice shall have the rights of an employee in receipt of layoff notice pursuant to this Article.

22.09 Layoff

An employee(s) may be laid off because of technological change, shortage of work or funds, or because of the discontinuance of work or the reorganization of work.

22.10 Layoff Procedure

Where the layoff of a bargaining unit member is necessary, and provided ability, skill, and qualifications are sufficient to perform the job, employees shall be laid off in reverse order of seniority.

22.11 Notice of Layoff

- (a) Forty (40) days notice of layoff shall be sent by the Employer to the Union and the employee(s) who is/are to be laid off, except where a greater period of notice is provided for under (b) below.
- (b) When the Employer lays off ten (10) or more persons within any period of four (4) weeks or less, notice of layoff shall be sent by the Employer to the Union and employees who are to be laid off, in accordance with the following:
 - (i) eight (8) weeks if ten (10) or more persons and fewer than one hundred (100) persons are to be laid off;
 - (ii) twelve (12) weeks if one hundred (100) or more persons and fewer than three hundred (300) are to be laid off;
 - (iii) sixteen (16) weeks if three hundred (300) or more persons are to be laid off:
- (c) Notices pursuant to this Section shall include the effective date of layoff and the reasons therefore.
- (d) An employee in receipt of layoff notice shall be entitled to exercise any of the following options:
 - (i) to exercise placement/displacement rights in accordance with the procedure set out in this Article:
 - (ii) to accept layoff and be entitled to recall in accordance with Article 22.14;
 - (iii) to accept the TSP.

An employee who intends to exercise placement/displacement rights pursuant to (d) (i) above will indicate such intent to the Employer within two (2) full days following receipt of the layoff notice. If the employee does not indicate such intent within this period, she will be deemed to have opted to accept layoff in accordance with (d) (ii) above.

22.12 Pay in Lieu of Notice

Where the notice required by Article 22.11 is not given, the employee shall receive pay, in lieu thereof, for the amount of notice to which the employee is entitled.

22.13 Displacement Procedure

- (a) Subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, according to objective tests or standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned, an employee in receipt of layoff notice has the right to displace another employee. The employee to be displaced shall be an employee with lesser seniority who:
 - (i) is the least senior employee in the displacing employee's classification/classification grouping;
 - (ii) where no such junior employee exists, the least senior employee in any classification/classification grouping in the displacing employee's bargaining unit.
- (b) An employee who chooses to exercise rights in accordance with Article 22.13 may elect at any step, beginning with Article 22.11, to accept layoff and be placed on the recall list or to resign with severance pay in accordance with Article 22.20(g)(ii).
- (c) An employee who is displaced pursuant to Article 22 shall be entitled to:
 - (i) take the Transition Support Program, or,
 - (ii) go on the Recall List, or
 - (iii) subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, according to objective tests or standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned be placed in any vacancy in any bargaining unit.

- (d) An employee will have a maximum of two (2) full days to exercise her rights at any of the foregoing steps of the displacement procedures provided for herein.
- (e) Where an employee accepts a position in a classification, the maximum salary of which is less than the maximum salary of the employee's current classification, the employee shall be paid the salary of the classification of the employee's new position.

22.14 Recall Procedures

- (a) Employees who are laid off shall be placed on a Recall List.
- (b) Subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, according to objective tests or standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned, employees placed on the Recall List shall be recalled by order of seniority to any position for which the employee is deemed to be qualified. Positions pursuant to this section shall include all positions in the bargaining unit.
- (c) The Employer shall give notice of recall by registered mail to the employee's last recorded address. Employees are responsible for keeping the Employer informed of their current address.
- (d) An employee entitled to recall shall return to the services of the Employer within two (2) weeks of notice of recall, unless on reasonable grounds she is unable to do so. An employee who has been given notice of recall may refuse to exercise such right without prejudicing the right of any future recall, except in the case of recall to the employee's same position classification title or position classification title series, in which event she will be struck from the Recall List. However, an employee's refusal to accept recall to her same position classification title or position classification title series at the time of layoff will not result in loss of recall rights in the case of recall for occasional work or for employment of short duration of time during which she is employed elsewhere.
- (e) Employees on the Recall List shall be given first option of filling vacancies normally filled by casual workers, providing they possess the necessary qualifications, skills, and abilities, as determined by the Employer, reflecting the functions of the job concerned. A permanent employee who accepts such casual work retains her permanent status.

22.15 Termination of Recall Rights

The layoff shall be a termination of employment and recall rights shall lapse if the layoff lasts for more than twelve (12) consecutive months without recall.

22.16 Loss of Seniority

An employee shall lose seniority in the event that:

- (a) the employee is discharged for just cause and not reinstated;
- (b) the employee resigns her bargaining unit position or abandons her bargaining unit position subject to Article 40.02;
- (c) she fails to notify the Employer within 48 hours of recall; or
- (d) the employee is laid off for more than twelve (12) consecutive months without recall.
- (e) the employee has been appointed in an acting capacity to a position excluded from the bargaining unit for a period in excess of twenty-four (24) months, in accordance with Article 32.13.

22.17 No New Employees

No new employees shall be hired unless all employees on the Recall List who are able to perform the work required have had an opportunity to be recalled, subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or where the Employer establishes that special skills or qualifications are required, as determined by the Employer, according to objective tests and standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned.

22.18 Transition Support Program

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the Employer is only required to make a TSP payment to the same number of employees as the Employer has reduced its complement.

22.19 Layoff Exception*

Notwithstanding Article 22.20 (Contracting Out), an employee who has nine (9) years or more seniority shall not be laid off except where the reason for layoff is beyond the control of the Employer including, but not limited to, complete or partial destruction of plant, destruction or breakdown of machinery or equipment, unavailability of supplies and materials, fire, explosion, accident, labour disputes, etc., if the Employer has exercised due diligence to foresee and avoid the cause

of layoff. Effective November 1, 2013 this article shall be amended to change nine years to eight.

22.20 Contracting Out

(a) Notice

The Employer shall provide the Union with sixteen (16) weeks notice of the implementation of the decision to contract out work normally performed by members of the bargaining unit. At the time that the Employer gives notice to the Union of its intention to contract out, the Employer shall make a conditional TSP payment offer in Memorandum of Agreement #1 to those employees directly affected by the contracting out. Final acceptance by the Employer of employees wishing to take advantage of the TSP payment offer will be conditional on the Employer reaching an agreement with a Contractor.

(b) Employer Disclosure

The Employer shall disclose its reasons for contracting out when notice is provided pursuant to Article 22.20(a).

(c) Union Response

The Union shall be entitled to make proposals, including proposals on ways to avoid contracting out, within four (4) weeks of receiving notice pursuant to Article 22.20(a). The Union's suggestions should specifically address the reasons for the contracting out.

(d) Employer Response

After receipt of proposals or suggestions from the Union pursuant to Article 22.20(c), the Employer shall consider these proposals. The Employer shall either accept or reject, in whole or in part, such proposals. At this time, the Employer shall either make the TSP payment offer unconditional or retract the TSP payment offer.

(e) Hiring Preference

The Employer will make every reasonable effort, where work normally performed by members of the bargaining unit is contracted out, to obtain jobs for employees who have not exercised their rights under Article 22.20(d) and who are directly affected by the contracting out with the Contractor. The Employer will have made reasonable efforts when the Employer has:

- (i) required bidders to give employees a preference in hiring for job opportunities that will arise if they are successful in their bid;
- (ii) met with the Union to give the Union an opportunity to put forward its views on how the employee can try to obtain employment with the Contractor; and,
- (iii) met with the successful bidder and sought to make it a term of the contract with the Contractor that the Contractor must:
 - (1) interview employees for job opportunities available with the Contractor to perform the contracted out work;
 - (2) where the hiring to perform the contracted out work is subject to appropriate skills testing, offer to test employees;
 - (3) extend job offers to employees who are qualified for available job opportunities with the Contractor to perform contracted out work; and
 - (4) where there are more qualified employees than the Contractor has opportunities due to the contracted out work, to extend job offers on the basis of seniority.

(f) TSP Payment Offers

- (i) Where the Employer determines that there will be redundant positions as a result of a contracting out, the classification(s)/classification groupings to which TSP payment offers will be made will be mutually agreed between the Employer and the Union.
- (ii) The Employer will offer a TSP payment to the agreed upon classification(s)/ classification groupings. In any event, the classification grouping shall include, as a minimum, the classification(s) of the employees affected in the work area by the contracting out of services.

(g) Placement Procedure

(i) If a sufficient number of employees accept the TSP payment offer, the Employer will place the remaining employees whose positions were declared redundant in the vacancies created by the employees accepting the TSP payment offer; or other appropriate

vacancies. This placement will be by seniority, subject to consideration of ability, experience, qualifications, or the Employer establishing that special skills or qualifications are required according to objective tests or standards reflecting the functions of the job concerned.

- (ii) Where the employee refuses a placement in the bargaining unit, the salary of which is at least seventy-five per cent (75%) of the present salary of the employee's current position, the employee is deemed laid off. The employee will be entitled to severance as follows:
 - (1) one-half (½) month's pay, if she has been employed for three years, but less than ten (10) years;
 - one (1) month's pay if she has been employed for ten (10) years, but less than fifteen (15) years;
 - two (2) months' pay if she has been employed for fifteen (15) years, but less than twenty (20) years;
 - three (3) months' pay if she has been employed for twenty (20) years, but less than twenty-five (25) years;
 - four (4) months' pay if she has been employed for twenty-five (25) years, but less than thirty (30) years;
 - five (5) months' pay if she has been employed for thirty (30) or more years.
 - (2) The amount of severance pay provided herein shall be calculated by the formula:
 - bi-weekly rate x twenty-six (26)÷twelve (12) = one (1) month rate.
 - (3) The entitlement of an employee to severance pay shall be based upon the employee's total service as defined in this Agreement.

(h) Second TSP Offer

If, after the first offer of a TSP payment, there are employees remaining in positions which have been declared redundant, a second offer of TSP payment will be made to broader classification(s)/classification groupings. The Employer will place the remaining redundant employees in the

vacancies created by the employees accepting the TSP payment offer, or other appropriate vacancies, in the same manner as stated in Article 22.20(g).

(i) Further TSP Offers

The process of expanding the offer of TSP payment to other classification(s)/ classification groupings and areas will be repeated until all those employees whose positions have been declared redundant as a direct effect of the contracting out are placed.

ARTICLE 23 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

23.01 Grievances

- (a) An employee(s) who feels that she has been treated unjustly or considers herself aggrieved by any action or lack of action by the Employer shall first discuss the matter with her immediate management supervisor no later than twenty-five (25) days after the date on which she became aware of the action or lack of action. The employee(s) may have a Steward present if so desired.
- (b) The supervisor shall answer the dispute within three (3) days of the discussions unless the Union agrees to extend this time limit.
- (c) When any dispute cannot be settled by the foregoing informal procedure, it shall be deemed to be a "grievance" and the supervisor shall be notified accordingly.
- (d) In each of the following steps of the grievance procedure, a meeting or meetings with the Union representative named in the grievance and the Employer's designated representative, shall be arranged at the earliest mutually agreeable time, and not later than the time limit provided for in the applicable step of the grievance procedure, if requested by either party. Where a meeting or meetings are not requested by either party, the Employer shall provide a response to the grievance, as is outlined in the grievance procedure below.

23.02 Union Approval

Where the grievance relates to the interpretation or application of this Collective Agreement, the employee is not entitled to present the grievance unless she has the approval in writing of the Union or is represented by the Union.

23.03 Grievance Procedure

The following grievance procedure shall apply:

Step 1

If the employee(s) or the Union is not satisfied with the decision of the immediate management supervisor, the employee(s) may within ten (10) days of having received the supervisor's answer or of the date the answer ought to have been received, present the grievance in writing to the supervisor. Failing satisfactory settlement within five (5) days from the date on which the grievance was submitted at Step 1 of the grievance procedure, the grievance may be submitted to Step 2.

Step 2

Within five (5) days from the expiration of the five (5) day period referred to in Step 1, the grievance may be submitted in writing either by personal service or by registered or certified mail to Employer's designate at Step 2 of the grievance procedure. Failing satisfactory settlement within ten (10) days from the date on which the grievance was received at Step 2, the grievance may be submitted to Step 3.

Step 3

Within five (5) days from the expiration of the ten (10) day period referred to in Step 2, the grievance may be submitted in writing to the Employer's designate for the area in which the grievance arose accompanied by any proposed settlement of the grievance and any replies at Step 1 and Step 2. The designate for the area in which the grievance arose shall reply to the grievance in writing within fifteen (15) days from the date the grievance was submitted to Step 3.

23.04 Grievance Mediation

Where the parties have been unsuccessful in resolving the matter through the grievance procedure, the parties may jointly submit the matter to the Department of Environment and Labour's Grievance Mediation Program or such other mediation option as is agreeable to the parties. It is understood that grievance mediation is a voluntary program and that arbitration remains an option should the grievance remain unresolved after grievance mediation.

23.05 Union Referral to Arbitration

Failing satisfactory settlement at Step 3 or upon expiration of the fifteen (15) day period referred to in Step 3 of the grievance procedure, the Union may refer the grievance to arbitration under Article 24.

23.06 Union Representation

In any case where the employee(s) presents her grievance in person or in any case in which a hearing is held on a grievance at any level, the employee(s) shall be accompanied by a representative of the Union.

23.07 Time Limits

In determining the time in which any step under the foregoing proceedings or under Article 24 is to be taken, Saturdays, Sundays, and recognized holidays shall be excluded.

23.08 Amending of Time Limits

The time limits set out in the grievance procedure or under Article 24 may be extended by mutual consent of the parties to this Agreement.

23.09 Policy Grievance

Where either party disputes the general application or interpretation of this Agreement, the dispute may be discussed with the Employer's designate responsible for Human Resources, or the Union, as the case may be. Where no satisfactory agreement is reached, the dispute may be resolved pursuant to Article 24. This section shall not apply in cases of individual grievances.

23.10 Sexual Harassment and Personal Harassment

Cases of sexual harassment and personal harassment as defined by the protected characteristics set out in Article 2.03 shall be considered as discrimination and a matter for grievance and arbitration. Such grievances may be filed by the aggrieved employee and/or the Union at Step 3 of the grievance procedure and shall be treated in strict confidence by both the Union and the Employer.

ARTICLE 24 - ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

24.01 Notification

Either of the parties may, after exhausting the grievance procedure in Article 23, notify the other party within ninety (90) days of the receipt of the reply at Step 3 or such reply being due, of its desire to refer the grievance to arbitration pursuant to the provisions of the *Trade Union Act* and this Agreement.

24.02 Referral to Arbitration

In the event that a grievance is submitted to arbitration, it shall be heard by a single arbitrator, unless either party requests that it be heard by a three-member arbitration board.

Such notification shall specify the party's choice of whether it wishes to utilize the regular arbitration procedure or the expedited arbitration procedure, as provided for within this Article. In the event that a grievance is submitted to the regular arbitration process, it shall be heard by a single arbitrator, unless either party requests that it be heard by a three-member arbitration board.

24.03 Regular Arbitration Procedure

(a) Single Arbitrator

If the grievance is to be heard by a single arbitrator and the Union and the Employer fail to agree upon the appointment of the arbitrator within five (5) days of notice of arbitration in accordance with Article 24.01, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour for Nova Scotia.

(b) Arbitration Board

If the grievance is to be heard by a three-member arbitration board, the Union and the Employer shall each appoint a member of the arbitration board within five (5) days of notice of arbitration in accordance with Article 24.01. Should the appointed members fail to agree upon the appointment of a chair within five (5) days of their appointment, the Minister of Labour for Nova Scotia shall appoint the chair.

(c) Arbitration Procedure

The arbitration board or single arbitrator shall render a decision in as short a time as possible. With due regard to the wishes of the parties, the decision shall, in the normal course be handed down within a maximum of fourteen (14) days from the appointment of the chair or single arbitrator.

24.04 Expedited Arbitration Procedure

(a) Eligibility For Utilization

By mutual agreement, the parties may agree to have any grievance referred to expedited arbitration in accordance with the procedures set out herein.

(b) Rules of Procedure

By referring any specific grievance to be dealt with in the expedited arbitration procedure it is understood and agreed that the matter is to be dealt with in accordance with the Rules of Procedure attached to this Agreement as Appendix 1.

24.05 Relief Against Time Limits

The time limit for the initial submission of the written grievance under Article 23 is mandatory. Subsequent time limits are directory and the arbitration board or single arbitrator shall be able to overrule a preliminary objection that the time limits are missed from Step 2 onward, providing that the board or arbitrator is satisfied that the grievance has been handled with reasonable dispatch and the Employer's position is not significantly prejudiced by the delay.

24.06 Arbitration Award

Arbitration awards shall be final and binding as provided by Section 42 of the *Trade Union Act*. An arbitrator may not alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement, but shall have the power to modify or set aside any unjust penalty of discharge, suspension or discipline imposed by the Employer on an employee.

24.07 Arbitration Expenses

Each party shall pay the fees and expenses of its appointed member and one-half the fees and expenses of the chair or single arbitrator.

24.08 Pre-Hearing Disclosure

The arbitrator or the arbitration board has the power to order pre-hearing disclosure of relevant documents at the request of one party to the Arbitration with notice to the other affected party.

ARTICLE 25 - JOINT CONSULTATION

25.01 The parties agree to establish a Labour Management Relations Committee comprised of not more than four (4) persons from each side to meet for the purpose of discussing matters of mutual concern including the administration of the Collective Agreement except those that are properly the subject of a grievance. The Labour Relations Management Committee will define problems, develop viable solutions to such problems and recommend proposed solutions to the parties.

ARTICLE 26 - RETIREMENT ALLOWANCE

26.01 Retirement Allowance

Effective January 1, 1975, an employee who is retired because of age, or mental or physical incapacity, shall be granted a Retirement Allowance, the equivalent of:

- (a) one-half (.5) month's pay, if she has been employed for three (3) years but less than ten (10) years;
- (b) one (1) month's pay, if she has been employed for ten (10) years but less than fifteen (15) years;
- (c) two (2) month's pay, if she has been employed for fifteen (15) years but less than twenty (20) years;
- (d) three (3) month's pay, if she has been employed for twenty (20) years but less than twenty-five (25) years;
- (e) four (4) month's pay, if she has been employed for twenty-five (25) years but less than thirty (30) years;
- (f) twenty-three (23) week's pay, if she has been employed for thirty (30) or more years.

26.02 Retirement Allowance Upon Death

Where an employee dies and she would have been entitled to receive a Retirement Allowance, such allowance shall be paid:

- (a) to her beneficiary, or
- (b) to her estate if there is no such beneficiary.

26.03 Calculation of Retirement Allowance

The salary which shall be used to calculate the amount of Retirement Allowance in accordance with Article 26.01 shall be the highest salary the employee was paid in a permanent position during her employment with the Employer.

26.04 Recognition of Service Award

Effective November 1, 2003, in the event an employee retires pursuant to Article 26.01 of the Collective Agreement and is eligible to receive and does receive an amount provided for under Article 26.01, the employee shall also receive a one (1) time payment equal to the difference between the applicable retiring allowance under Article 26.01 and the equivalent of one week's pay for each year of service to a maximum of twenty-six (26) weeks' pay. This award shall be prorated for a partial year of service.

Service for the purposes of this calculation shall be as defined in Article 1.02.

ARTICLE 27 - PENSION PLAN, GROUP LIFE INSURANCE & MEDICAL PLAN & LONG TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM

- **27.01** The Employer will continue the existing pension and insurance plans as amended from time to time. The conditions established in these plans respecting eligibility and contributions shall govern, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement.
- 27.02 The Employer shall pay sixty-five percent (65%) of the cost of premiums of the Nova Scotia Association of Health Organizations Blue Cross Medical Insurance and the Nova Scotia Association of Health Organizations Dental Care Plan or their equivalents. This provision shall apply to employees who agree to pay the other thirty-five percent (35%) of the premium. Participation in the Dental Care Plan is mandatory for all employees who meet the eligibility requirements, unless the employee provides proof of alternate coverage through a spouse's plan.
- **27.03** The Union if it requests, may review the current financial statement of the existing pension plan.
- 27.04 The Employer and the Union agree to include all employees of the bargaining unit as participants in the LTD Program. Terms and conditions for participation in the LTD Program as well as the payment of benefits shall be determined by the LTD Program.

ARTICLE 28 - HEALTH & SAFETY

28.01 Health and Safety Provisions

The Employer shall continue to make and enforce provisions for the occupational health, safety, and security of employees. The Employer will respond to suggestions on the subject from the Union and the parties undertake to consult

with a view to adopting and expeditiously carrying out reasonable procedures and techniques designed or intended to prevent or reduce the risk of employment injury and employment-related chronic illness.

28.02 Occupational Health and Safety Act

The Employer, the Union, and the employees recognize they are bound by the provisions of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*, S.N.S. 1996, c.7. Any breach of these obligations may be grieved pursuant to this Agreement.

28.03 Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee

- (a) The Employer shall establish and maintain one Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee as provided for in the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*.
- (b) The committee shall consist of such number of persons as may be agreed by the Employer, the employees and the applicable unions.
- (c) At least one-half of the members of the committee shall be employees at the workplace who are not connected with the management of the workplace and the Employer may choose up to one-half of the members of the committee if the Employer wishes to do so.
- (d) The employees on the committee are to be determined by the employees they represent or designated by the union that represents the employees.
- (e) The committee shall meet at least once each month unless:
 - (i) a different frequency is prescribed by the regulation; or
 - (ii) the committee alters the required frequency of meetings in its rules of procedure.
- (f) Where the committee alters the required frequency of meetings by its rules of procedure and the Director of Occupational Health and Safety Division of the Nova Scotia Department of Labour (hereinafter in this Article referred to as the "Director") is not satisfied that the frequency of meetings is sufficient to enable the committee to effectively perform its functions, the frequency of the meetings shall be as determined by the Director.
- (g) An employee who is a member of the committee is entitled to such time off from work as is necessary to attend meetings of the committee, to take any training prescribed by the regulations and to carry out the employee's

functions as a member of the committee, and such time off is deemed to be work time for which the employee shall be paid by the Employer at the applicable rate.

- (h) The committee shall establish its own rules of procedure and shall adhere to the applicable regulations.
- (i) Unless the committee determines another arrangement for chairing the committee in its rules of procedure, two of the members of the committee shall co-chair the committee, one of whom shall be selected by the members who represent employees and the other of whom shall be selected by the other members.
- (j) The rules of procedure established pursuant to Article 28.03(h) shall include an annual determination of the method of selecting the person or persons who shall:
 - (i) chair the committee; and
 - (ii) hold the position of the chair for the coming year.
- (k) Where agreement is not reached on:
 - (i) the size of the committee;
 - (ii) the designation of employees to be members; or
 - (iii) rules of procedure;

the Director shall determine the matter.

- (I) It is the function of the committee to involve the Employer and employees together in occupational health and safety in the workplace, and without restricting the generality of the foregoing, includes:
 - (i) the cooperative identification of hazards to health and safety and effective systems to respond to the hazards;
 - (ii) the cooperative auditing of compliance with health and safety requirements in the workplace;
 - (iii) receipt, investigation, and prompt disposition of matters and complaints with respect to workplace health and safety;

- (iv) participation in inspections, inquiries and investigations concerning the occupational health and safety of the employees and, in particular, participation in an inspection referred to in Section 50 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act;
- (v) advising on individual protective devices, equipment, and clothing that, complying with the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and the Regulations, are best adapted to the needs of the employees;
- (vi) advising the Employer regarding a policy or program required pursuant to the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* or the *Regulations* and making recommendations to the Employer, the employees, and any person for the improvement of the health and safety of persons at the workplace;
- (vii) maintaining records and minutes of committee meetings in a form and manner approved by the Director and providing committee members with a copy of these minutes, and providing an officer with a copy of these records or minutes on request. Both chairpersons will sign the minutes unless there is a dispute over their contents, in which case the dissenting co-chairperson will indicate in writing the source of this disagreement; and
- (viii) performing any other duties assigned to it:
 - (1) by the Director;
 - (2) by agreement between the Employer and the employees or the unions; or
 - (3) as are established by the Regulations of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*.

28.04 Right to Refuse Work and Consequences of Refusal

- (a) Any employee may refuse to do any act at the employee's place of employment where the employee has reasonable grounds for believing that the act is likely to endanger the employee's health or safety or the health or safety of any other person until
 - (i) the Employer has taken remedial action to the satisfaction of the employee;
 - (ii) the committee has investigated the matter and unanimously advised the employee to return to work; or

- (iii) an officer appointed under the *Occupational Health and Safety Act* has investigated the matter and has advised the employee to return to work.
- (b) Where an employee exercises the employee's right to refuse to work pursuant to Article 28.04(a), the employee shall:
 - (i) immediately report it to the supervisor;
 - (ii) where the matter is not remedied to the employee's satisfaction, report it to the committee or the representative, if any; and
 - (iii) where the matter is not remedied to the employee's satisfaction after the employee has reported pursuant to Article 28.04(b)(i)(ii), report it to the Occupational Health and Safety Division of the Department of Labour.
- (c) At the option of the employee, the employee who refuses to do any act pursuant to Article 28.04(a) may accompany an Occupational Health and Safety officer or the committee or representative, if any, on a physical inspection of the workplace, or part thereof, being carried out for the purpose of ensuring others understand the reasons for the refusal.
- (d) Notwithstanding Subsection 50 (8) of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*, an employee who accompanies an Occupational Health and Safety officer of the Department of Labour, the committee or a representative, as provided in Article 28.04(c), shall be compensated in accordance with Article 28.04(g), but the compensation shall not exceed that which would otherwise have been payable for the employee's regular or scheduled working hours.
- (e) Subject to this Agreement, and subsection (c), where an employee refuses to do work pursuant to Article 28.04(a), the Employer may reassign the employee to other work and the employee shall accept the reassignment until the employee is able to return to work pursuant to Article 28.04(a).
- (f) Where an employee is reassigned to other work pursuant to Article 28.04
 (e), the Employer shall pay the employee the same wages or salary and grant the employee the same benefits as would have been received had the employee continued in the employee's normal work.

- (g) Where an employee has refused to work pursuant to Article 28.04(a) and has not been reassigned to other work pursuant to Article 28.04 (e), the Employer shall, until Article 28.04 (a)(i), (ii) or (iii) is met, pay the employee the same wages or salary and grant the employee the same benefits as would have been received had the employee continued to work.
- (h) A reassignment of work pursuant to subsection 28.04(e) is not a discriminatory act pursuant to Section 45 of the *Occupational Health and Safety Act*.
- (i) An employee may not, pursuant to this Article, refuse to use or operate a machine or thing or to work in a place where:
 - (i) the refusal puts the life, health or safety of another person directly in danger; or
 - (ii) the danger referred to in Article 28.04 (a) is inherent in the work of the employee.

28.05 Restriction on Assignment of Work Where Refusal

Where an employee exercises the employee's right to refuse to work pursuant to Article 28.04(a), no employee shall be assigned to do that work until the matter has been dealt with under that Article, unless the employee to be so assigned has been advised of:

- (a) the refusal by another employee;
- (b) the reason for the refusal; and
- (c) the employee's rights pursuant to Article 28.04.

28.06 First-Aid Kits

The Employer shall provide an area, equipped with a first-aid kit, for the use of employees taken ill during working hours.

28.07 Safety of Pregnant Employees

A pregnant employee who works with machinery or equipment or in situations which may pose a threat to the health of either the pregnant employee or her unborn child, may request a job reassignment for that period by forwarding a written request to the employee's immediate management supervisor along with a satisfactory certificate from a duly qualified medical practitioner justifying the

need for such reassignment. Upon receipt of the request, the Employer, where possible, will reassign the pregnant employee to an alternate position and/or classification or to alternate duties with the Employer.

28.08 Uniforms & Protective Clothing

Where conditions of employment are such that an employee's clothing may be contaminated, or where an employee's clothing may be damaged, the Employer shall provide protective clothing (smocks, coveralls, lab coats, or similar overdress) and shall pay for their laundering.

ARTICLE 29 – TRANSPORTATION

29.01 Reimbursement for Travel Between 2400 and 0600

An employee who is required to travel reasonable distances to and from work between 2400 and 0600 hours shall be entitled to be reimbursed for actual transportation expenses incurred to a maximum of Ten Dollars (\$10.00) each way per shift, or the kilometreage rate as per Article 29.04 to the above mentioned maximum.

29.02 Reimbursement for Transportation To and From Meetings

Staff shall be reimbursed for transportation to and from meetings or appointments that they are required to attend on the Employer's business.

29.03 Employees Providing Own Transportation

Employees providing their own transportation will be reimbursed at the kilometreage rate as per Article 29.04 to the above maximum.

29.04 Kilometrage Rate

Effective on the date of signing of this Collective Agreement the kilometreage rate shall be the base Provincial Civil Service rate as adjusted from time to time effective the date of the announcement of such change by government.

29.05 Other Expenses

In the event the employee's work requires her to be beyond a sixteen (16) kilometre radius of her regular workplace during her recognized lunch meal period, she shall be entitled to reimbursement for lunch up to a maximum of \$12.00.

ARTICLE 30 - JOB POSTING

30.01 Job Posting

- (a) When a new permanent position, a permanent vacancy or a long assignment is created within the bargaining unit, the Employer shall post a notice of such on its intranet. In work locations where access to the intranet is not possible or practical, such notices will be posted in a visible location.
- (b) In the event that a vacancy arises in the same classification and work area or service within a three (3) month period of the closing date of a competition, the Employer is not required to post the vacancy. The vacancy may be filled based on the results of a competition held within the preceding three (3) month period. Upon exercising its rights under this article the Employer shall provide the Union with a copy of the rankings for the competition.
- (c) (i) The posting of a permanent position or vacancy shall be for a minimum of ten (10) days.
 - (ii) The posting of a long assignment shall be for a minimum of seven (7) days.
- (d) Should a short assignment not be able to be filled in accordance with Article 39.05, the posting of a short assignment shall be for a minimum of five (5) days.
- (e) The notice posted shall indicate:
 - (i) the classification and work area;
 - (ii) whether the posting is for a permanent or a long or short assignment (if necessary);
 - (iii) the expected duration of the assignment;
 - (iv) whether the appointment is full-time, part-time or any applicable part-time designation.
- (f) Only those postings which cannot be filled with a qualified employee from the bargaining unit will be available for filling from outside the bargaining unit.

30.02 Filling Vacancies or Assignments

Where it is determined by the Employer that:

- (a) two or more bargaining unit applicants for a position in a bargaining unit are qualified; and
- (b) those applicants are of equal merit, preference in filling the vacancy or Assignment shall be given to the applicant with the greatest length of seniority.

Notwithstanding the above, the Employer may award the position to the most senior applicant without conducting interviews.

Where the Union grieves the results of a job competition, the Employer shall, upon request by the Union, meet with a union representative to review the names of the interviewees, the competition scores without names associated with them, the interview results and the grievor's score. This information shall be kept confidential. If the Union requests it, the Employer shall provide the Union with a copy of the competition scores without names associated with them.

30.03 Trial Period

Should the successful candidate for a posted vacancy be a current bargaining unit member, she will be placed in the position on a trial period for up to four hundred and ninety-five (495) hours. If she proves unsatisfactory in the new position, or chooses to return to her former position during the trial period, she will be returned to her former position and salary without loss of seniority and any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions will be returned to her former position and salary without loss of seniority.

30.04 Retention of Status

A permanent employee who accepts a Long or Short Assignment shall be entitled to retain her status as a permanent employee, and shall be entitled to return to her former position or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 31 - REOPENER CLAUSE

31.01 Reopener

This Agreement may be amended by the mutual consent of both parties in writing.

ARTICLE 32 - PAY*

32.01 Rates of Pay*

The following general wage increases shall be implemented for each of the classifications in the Health Care bargaining unit during the term of this collective agreement:

Effective November 1, 2001 - a 2% general economic increase. Effective November 1, 2012 - a 2.5% general economic increase. Effective November 1, 2013 - a 3% general economic increase.

32.02 Rate of Pay Upon Appointment

Subject to subsection 32.03, the rate of compensation of a person upon appointment shall be the minimum rate prescribed for the class to which she is appointed.

32.03 Exception

The rate of compensation of a person upon appointment to a position may be at the rate higher than the minimum rate prescribed for the class, if, in the opinion of the Employer, such higher rate is necessary to effect the appointment of a qualified person to the position.

32.04 Rate of Pay Upon Promotion

Subject to Clause 32.05, the rate of compensation of a person upon promotion to a position in a higher range shall be at the next higher rate or the minimum of the new class, whichever is greater, than received by the employee before the promotion.

32.05 Exception

The rate of compensation of an employee upon promotion to a position, may be at a higher rate than prescribed in Article 32.04, if, in the opinion of the Employer,

such higher rate is necessary to effect the promotion of a qualified person to the position.

32.06 Rate of Pay Upon Demotion

The rate of compensation of an employee upon demotion to a position in a lower pay range shall be the next lowest rate or the maximum of the new class, whichever is lesser, than that received by the employee before the demotion.

32.07 Anniversary Date

The anniversary date of an employee shall be the day on which she was employed in a position within the bargaining unit. If the employee is reclassified, the date of the reclassification becomes the new anniversary date.

32.08 Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification

Where an employee is recommended for a reclassification which falls on her anniversary date, the employee's salary shall be adjusted first by the implementation of her annual increment, provided it is recommended and an increment is available in her present pay range, and on the same date her salary be adjusted upward to comply with the provisions of Article 32.04 and 32.05.

32.09 Salary Increments

- (a) The Employer, except as provided in Article 32.12, on the recommendation of the Head of the Department, may grant an increment for satisfactory service after an employee has served for consecutive periods of twelve (12) months following her first day of the month established in Article 32.08, or twelve (12) months following the date of change in her rate of compensation as established in Articles 32.04, 32.05 and 32.06.
- (b) The Employer may advance the date of granting an increment.

32.10 Notice of Withheld Increment

When an increase provided for in Article 32.09 is withheld, the reason for the withholding shall be given to the employee in writing by her Employer.

32.11 Granting of Withheld Increment

When an increase provided for in Article 32.09 is withheld, the increase may be granted on any subsequent first day of any month after the anniversary date upon which the increase was withheld.

32.12 Increases

Increases negotiated in this Agreement shall be implemented on a step-for-step basis, that is, an employee in the third step of any pay range, shall be placed in the third step of the corresponding new pay range.

32.13 Acting Pay

- (a) Where an employee is designated to perform for a temporary period of three (3) or more consecutive days, the principal duties of a higher position, she shall receive payment of acting pay, including the three (3) days, equivalent to ten percent (10%) higher than her existing rate of pay, provided that in no case shall the rate for that period exceed the maximum rate of the higher-paying position.
- (b) Acting pay shall not be paid to the employee where the employee's current position normally requires periodic substitution in the higher position, as defined by the position specification, title, and salary range.
- (c) Acting pay provisions shall not apply in series classifications of positions.
- (d) Acting pay provisions do not preclude the right of the Employer to assign duties of any employee among remaining employees of the work unit where temporary absences occur.
- (e) In the event that an employee remains in an acting capacity in a position excluded from the bargaining unit for a period in excess of twenty-four (24) months the provisions of Article 22.16(e) shall apply.

32.14 Shift Premium*

An employee shall receive a shift premium of one dollar and seventy-five cents (\$1.75) per hour for all hours worked, including overtime hours worked, on shifts, half or more of the hours of which are regularly scheduled between 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m.

Effective October 31, 2014, the shift premium shall be increased to one dollar and eighty-five cents (\$1.85) per hour.

32.15 Weekend Premium*

Employees working during the fifty-five (55) consecutive hour weekend period commencing 0001 hours Saturday to 0700 hours Monday shall be compensated with a premium of one dollar and seventy-five cents (\$1.75) per hour worked (or

part thereof) during the period including overtime hours worked and time worked during a callback.

Effective October 31, 2014, the weekend premium shall be increased to one dollar and eighty-five cents (\$1.85) per hour.

32.16 Registration/Licensing Fees

Where at least seventy-five percent (75%) of employees in a professional designation have opted to have their registration/licensing fees deducted from their pay, the Employer agrees to make such deductions. The amount so deducted shall be forwarded, along with a list of deduction participants to the applicable professional association prior to the submission deadline. It is the responsibility of the employee to ensure that all registration/licensing information is submitted to her professional association within the submission deadline dates.

32.17 Late Career LPN Retention Bonus

Effective October 31, 2011, the Employer will provide a retention bonus to eligible L.P.N.s who agree to remain employed for the following twelve (12) months. The retention bonus shall be equal to 2% of the gross annual base earnings (exclusive of any premiums). To be eligible an L.P.N. must be eligible to retire with an unreduced pension under the terms of the Employer's pension plan. The L.P.N. must apply in writing to participate in the retention bonus program following eligibility. An L.P.N. may apply for and participate in a second and subsequent years.

ARTICLE 33 - CLASSIFICATION & RECLASSIFICATION

33.01 Classification and Salary Adjustments

- (a) When a new classification or a classification is introduced or when an existing classification has been substantially altered during the life of this Agreement, the rate of pay shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. The Employer may implement a new classification and attach a salary to it, providing that the Union is given ten (10) days written notice in advance.
- (b) If the parties are unable to agree on the rate of pay for the new or substantially altered classification, the Union may refer the matter to a single Arbitrator who shall determine the new rate of pay.
- (c) The new rate of pay shall be effective from the date the employee commenced employment in the new position or from the date the

employee submitted to the Employer a written request based on substantial alteration pursuant to Article 33.01.

33.02 Classification Appeal Procedure

An employee shall have the right to appeal the classification of the position she occupies in accordance with the following:

- (a) If an employee believes that the position she occupies is improperly classified, she shall notify her immediate management supervisor, in writing, of both the fact she believes she is improperly classified and the basis for that belief.
- (b) The Employer shall, upon request, provide the employee with a written statement of duties and responsibilities within sixty (60) days of the request.
- (c) If there is a dispute between the immediate management supervisor and the employee concerning the classification of the position the employee occupies, or if the employee believes there is a conflict between the classification standards or position description and the statement of duties, the employee may initiate a formal appeal in writing to the Director of Human Resources. The Director of Human Resources or designate shall respond in writing to the employee within sixty (60) days of the receipt of such appeal.
- (d) If the foregoing procedure does not lead to a satisfactory resolution, within sixty (60) days of receipt of the reply from the Director of Human Resources or designate, the matter may be may be referred to Arbitration in accordance with Article 24.
- (e) An employee shall have the right of Union representation in respect to any appeal submitted.
- (f) The effective date of any resulting upward revision in classification shall be the first day of the bi-weekly period immediately following the date of receipt by the Employer of the employee's written appeal submitted pursuant to 33.02(c).

ARTICLE 34 - COMPENSATION FOR INJURY ON DUTY

34.01 Report of Injuries

An employee who is injured on duty shall immediately report or cause to have reported any injuries sustained in the performance of her duties to her immediate supervisor in such a manner and on such form as the Employer may from time to time prescribe.

34.02 Benefit Entitlement

When an employee is injured on duty and it is determined by the Nova Scotia Workers' Compensation Board that the employee is unable to perform her duties, the Employer shall grant to the employee injury on duty leave at the level of compensation and in the manner prescribed by the *Workers' Compensation Act* for a period as the Workers' Compensation Board may specify. The Employer agrees to allow employees to draw upon their accumulated sick leave banks to supplement the benefits provided to them by the WCB. The amount of these supplemental payments shall be limited to the difference between the WCB benefit level and the amount of the employee's pre-injury net annual earnings during the period of leave approved by the WCB. The Employer shall deduct from the employee's sick leave credits an equivalent number of sick leave hours as were paid in the supplement. Such payments will be maintained only so long as the supplemental payments do not result in a reduction in the amounts paid by the WCB and the employee has sufficient sick leave credits in her bank.

ARTICLE 35 - EMPLOYER'S LIABILITY

35.01 Employer's Liability

The Employer, the Union, and the employees agree to abide by the Employer's Liability Insurance Policy. For clarification it is understood that this includes providing legal support to:

- all employees who are witnesses or potential witnesses in any legal action which is based on a claim that a patient suffered harm as a result of negligent treatment received at the Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre; and
- (b) employees who are named parties (defendants) in legal action based on a claim that a patient suffered harm as a result of negligent treatment received at the Izaak Walton Killam Health Centre, so long as the employee was acting without criminal intent and within the scope of her duties.

ARTICLE 36 - PART TIME EMPLOYEES

36.01 Application of Collective Agreement

Except as specifically provided herein, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to part-time employees as defined in Article 1.01.

36.02 Entitlement to Benefits

Part-time employees will be covered by this Agreement and shall be entitled to benefits pro-rated on the basis of hours worked so long as they meet the minimum eligibility requirements of the applicable group benefit plans, except as otherwise agreed to by the Parties.

36.03 Earning Entitlements

For the purposes of earning entitlement to a benefit (e.g. vacation increment, merit increments, length of probation, pregnancy leave, etc.), calendar time of employment will be applicable.

36.04 Unpaid Leave

Unpaid leave, such as pregnancy leave, will not be pro-rated as to the length of time granted.

36.05 Bereavement Leave

Part-time employees shall be entitled to Bereavement Leave in accordance with Article 18.

36.06 Service

For the purpose of accumulating service for part-time employment, part-time employees will not be subject to the negating provisions of Article 1.02(b). Except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, part-time employees will accumulate service and be credited with service on a pro-rata basis in accordance with hours worked, including designated paid holidays or days off in lieu thereof, vacation, sick leave, injury on duty leave, paid leaves of absence.

36.07 Overtime

- (a) Part-time employees will be entitled to overtime compensation in accordance with this Agreement when they work in excess of the normal full-time bi-weekly hours.
- (b) Part-time employees who are scheduled for a shift of seven and one-half (7 1/2) or more hours will be entitled to overtime compensation for time worked beyond the scheduled hours.
- (c) Part-time employees who are scheduled to work a shorter period than the full-time shift will be entitled to overtime compensation after they have worked the equivalent of a full shift.
- (d) Where part-time employees are scheduled to work less than the normal hours per bi-weekly period of full-time employees in the work unit, straight time rates will be paid up to and including the normal work hours in the bi-weekly period of the full-time employees and overtime rates will be paid for hours worked in excess thereof.

36.08 Group Insurance

- (a) Part-time employees, who meet the eligibility requirements of the plans will be covered by the Nova Scotia Association of Health Organizations benefit plans (medical and dental), or their equivalent, on the same basis, as outlined in Article 27.02 for full-time employees.
- (b) Subject to Article 36.02, part-time employees will be covered by group life insurance with benefit entitlement prorated on the basis of hours worked. For example, fifty per cent (50%) of the full-time hours in a position with an annual (full-time) salary of \$30,000 will have her insurance coverage based on \$15,000 per annum salary.
- (c) Subject to Article 36.02, part-time employees are entitled to coverage pursuant to the Long Term Disability Plan applicable to full-time employees covered by this collective agreement.

36.09 Pension

Subject to Article 36.02, part-time employees shall be covered by the terms of the pension plan.

ARTICLE 37 - JOB SHARING

37.01 Terms and Conditions of Job Sharing

The terms and conditions governing job sharing arrangements will be as mutually agreed to by the Union and the Employer.

37.02 Rights and Benefits

Except as otherwise provided herein, employees participating in job-sharing arrangements will be entitled to all rights and benefits provided for in the Collective Agreement.

37.03 Existing Employees Only

Job sharing will only be permitted when requested by existing employees and those employed in job sharing situations will continue to be members of the bargaining unit and covered by the Agreement.

37.04 Operational Requirements

Job-sharing arrangements will only be authorized where operational requirements permit and the provision of services is not adversely affected.

37.05 Qualifications

Both employees in a job-sharing arrangement must be permanent employees, one of whom is the incumbent of the position to be shared. Both employees must share the same job classification/title and be suitably qualified and capable of carrying out the full-time duties and responsibilities of the position to be shared.

37.06 Identification of Job Share

An employee wishing to job share her position has the responsibility of finding an eligible employee willing to enter into the job-sharing arrangement. The two employees requesting approval to implement a job-sharing arrangement will submit a request to the immediate supervisor of the position to be job shared.

37.07 Period of Job Share

A position will be shared for a minimum of nine (9) months and a maximum period of two (2) years. Any extension beyond the two-year (2) maximum period must be mutually acceptable to both employees, the Employer, and the Union.

At the end of the job-sharing period, the employees will resume the former positions they held prior to entering into the job-sharing arrangement or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.

37.08 Work Schedule Requirements

Each of the two employees in a job-sharing arrangement will be required to fulfill one-half of the full-time work schedule requirements averaged over a maximum of two (2) complete bi-weekly pay periods, except where a request for a greater averaging period has the prior approval of both the employer and the union.

37.09 Service

Employees will be credited with one-half (1/2) month's service each calendar month of the job-sharing arrangement and not be subject to the provisions of Article 1.02(b) of the Agreement. An employee's anniversary and/or service date for the purposes of earning a merit increment, and increment in vacation entitlement will remain unchanged as if the employee were working on a full-time basis.

37.10 Hours of Work

For the purposes of this Agreement, an employee's regular work day or regular work week will be the employee's scheduled hours of work under the job-sharing arrangement. A day on which an employee is not scheduled to work will be considered as the employee's rest day. Time worked by an employee outside her scheduled hours of work will be compensated as overtime in accordance with Article 14 of this Agreement, with the employee's bi-weekly rate being determined on the basis as if she were working the normal full-time hours.

37.11 Pro-Rating of Benefits

The following benefits will be prorated in accordance with this Article:

- (a) Holidays Each employee will be entitled to one-half (1/2) the paid holidays provided for under Article 17 of the Agreement.
- (b) Long Term Disability During the job sharing period, Employer and employee contributions to the LTD Fund will continue to be based upon the employee's normal full-time salary. For the purposes of determining an employee's benefits during the job-sharing period, the amount of coverage will be based upon the normal salary the employee is entitled to receive during the job-sharing period. Upon the expiry date of the jobsharing period, as specified in the employee's approved application, the amount of coverage will be based upon the normal full-time salary the

employee would be entitled to receive in the position she/he held prior to entering the job-sharing arrangement.

- (c) Other Paid Leaves One-half (1/2) the entitlement provided for in this Agreement.
- (d) Group Life Assurance Cost sharing of premiums and benefit entitlement will be based on one-half the employee's normal full-time salary.

37.12 Pension

Pursuant to Article 27 of the Agreement, employees shall continue to be covered by the provisions of the applicable pension plan.

37.13 Termination

In the event one of the participants vacates the job-shared position (eg: through termination of employment, appointment to another position or being placed on leave under the LTD plan), the job-sharing arrangement will terminate and the remaining participant will revert to full-time status in the position occupied prior to the job-sharing arrangement or if the position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.

37.14 Notice

If either participant or the employer wishes to terminate the job-sharing arrangement prior to its expiry, a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days' written notice shall be required.

37.15 Extension of Job Share

If the two employees wish to extend their job-sharing arrangement beyond the initial period covered by their application or the maximum two-year period provided for in Article 37.08, they shall give a minimum of sixty (60) calendar days' written notice of such intent prior to the expiry of the original job-sharing arrangement.

37.16 Filling of Vacancy

An incumbent filling any position temporarily vacated as a result of job sharing will be covered by the Collective Agreement.

37.17 Costs

The parties agree that, except for the cost of benefits provided for under this Article and/or the Collective Agreement, there shall be no added cost to the Employer directly resulting from any job-sharing arrangement.

ARTICLE 38 - CASUAL EMPLOYEES

38.01 Application of the Collective Agreement

Except as specifically provided herein, the provision of this Agreement shall apply to casual employees as defined in Article 1.01.

38.02 Exceptions

The articles not applicable to casual employees, except as provided in Article 39, are:

- (a) Service (Article 1.02)
- (b) Appointment (Article 9)
- (c) Time off for Union Business (Article 12)
- (d) Hours of Work (Article 13)
- (e) Overtime (Article 14)
- (f) Vacations (Article 16)
- (g) Holidays (Article 17)
- (h) Leaves (Article 18)
- (i) Sick Leave (Article 19)
- (j) Pensions (Article 27)
- (k) Group Insurance (Article 27)
- (I) Long Term Disability (Article 27)
- (m) Retirement Allowance (Article 26)
- (n) Job Security (Article 22)
- (o) Part-Time Employees (Article 36)

The parties agree that should issues arise during the life of this Agreement concerning the application of this provision, they will discuss revisions of this provision.

38.03 Appointment

A casual employee shall be appointed on a non-permanent basis and is not obliged to accept a shift when called subject to Article 39.03(c).

38.04 Probationary Period

- (a) Notwithstanding Article 38.03, a newly hired casual employee may be appointed on a probationary basis for a period not to exceed twelve (12) months.
- (b) The Employer shall, after the employee has served as a casual on a probationary basis for a period of twelve months, confirm the completion of the probationary period.
- (c) A casual employee who has completed her probationary period and whose employment has been terminated for any reason and who is reappointed within the same work area as a casual within twelve (12) months from the date of termination shall not have to complete another probationary period.

38.05 Termination of Probationary Appointment

- (a) The Employer may terminate a probationary casual employee at any time.
- (b) If the employment of a probationary casual employee is to be terminated for reasons other than willful misconduct or disobedience or neglect of duty, the Employer shall advise the casual employee of the reason in writing. The Employer shall provide not less than ten (10) days notice or pay in lieu of notice. Pay in lieu of notice shall be based on the average number of shifts per week over the preceding six (6) months, or length of employment if less than six months.
- (c) The Employer shall notify the Union when a probationary casual employee is terminated.

38.06 Assignment of Casual Employees

Casual employees shall be offered work in accordance with Article 39.

38.07 Pay in Lieu of Benefits

In lieu of benefits provided to employees under the Collective Agreement, casual employees filling a relief assignment shall be compensated with a supplementary payment equal to eleven (11%) percent of her earnings in each bi-weekly period.

This payment will represent four (4) percent for vacation and seven (7%) percent for all other benefits.

38.08 Overtime

A casual employee shall be entitled to overtime compensation at one and one-half times (1 1/2T) her rate of pay when she works in excess of seventy-five (75) hours bi-weekly.

38.09 Holiday Pay

A casual employee filling a relief assignment who works on a designated holiday defined in Article 17.01 shall be paid two (2) times her regular rate for all hours worked on Christmas Day, and one and one-half (1 1/2) times her regular rate for all hours worked on any other designated holiday.

38.10 Overtime on a Holiday

A casual employee filling a relief assignment who works overtime on a designated holiday as defined in Article 17.01 shall be paid two and one-half (2 ½) times her regular rate for all overtime hours worked on Christmas Day and two (2) times her regular rate of pay for all overtime hours worked on any other designated holiday.

38.11 Leaves

- (a) A casual employee filling Relief Assignments shall be entitled to the following leaves:
 - (i) Bereavement Leave (Article 18.02);
 - (ii) Pregnancy Leave;
 - (iii) Leave for Birth/Adoption of Child (Articles 18.07 & 18.08).
- (b) To obtain paid leave for any of the above, the employee must be scheduled to work on the day the leave is required. In the case of bereavement leave pursuant to Article 18.02, the casual employee shall receive paid leave only for those shifts previously scheduled within the applicable leave period.

38.12 Rate of Pay upon Appointment

Subject to Article 38.13, the rate of compensation of a casual employee shall be the minimum rate prescribed for the classification to which she is appointed.

38.13 Exception to Rate of Pay

Casual employees shall have experience recognized and be placed on the appropriate increment step. One (1) year experience for casual employees shall mean 1950 hours worked.

38.14 Pay Increments

A casual employee shall be entitled to an increment on the completion of 1950 hours worked and a further increment upon the completion of each period of 1950 hours worked thereafter to a maximum for the employee's classification.

38.15 No Avoidance

A casual employee shall not be used for the purpose of avoiding filling permanent vacancies.

38.16 Termination of Employment Relationship

A casual employee who has not been called to report for work, or who has been unavailable for work for twelve (12) months, notwithstanding Article 39.03(b), shall cease to be an employee.

ARTICLE 39 - LONG ASSIGNMENTS, SHORT ASSIGNMENTS & RELIEF ASSIGNMENTS*

39.01 Casual Availability List

The Employer shall maintain a Casual Availability List, which shall list all eligible employees who have indicated a desire to be assigned casual work. Only employees on the recall list, permanent part-time employees, and casual employees are eligible to be on the Casual Availability List.

39.02 Employee(s) on Recall List

Notwithstanding any provision of this Article, all available casual work shall be first offered to an employee who has recall rights provided she possesses the necessary qualifications, skills, and abilities, as determined by the Employer,

reflecting the functions of the job concerned. An employee on the Recall List may instruct the Employer to remove her name from a Work Area Specific Casual List at the time of layoff notice or any time during the recall period as specified in Article 22.

39.03 Work Area Specific Casual Lists*

- (a) The Casual Availability List shall be broken down into Work Area Specific Casual Lists.
- (b) Provided an employee possesses the necessary qualifications, skills, and abilities reflecting the functions of the job concerned, as determined by the Employer, an employee as specified in Article 39.01 may have her name placed on a Work Area Specific Casual List. Such employees may also have their names placed on other Work Area Specific Casual Lists in accordance with (e) and (f) below.
- (c) An employee on a Work Area Specific Casual List is not obliged to accept a shift when called, but once accepted the employee is obliged to work the shift. However, if, an employee is consistently unavailable when called for work in a work area, she shall be struck from that Work Area Specific Casual List unless the employee has notified the Employer that she shall be unavailable for work for a specific period of time.
- (d) It is the responsibility of the employee to keep the Employer informed of any changes in her desire to be assigned casual work.
- (e) Permanent Part-time Employees
 - (i) A permanent part-time employee may place her name on the Work Area Specific Casual List of her work area if she wishes to be offered casual work. Such employee must indicate whether she wants to be offered short assignments or relief assignments, or both.
 - (ii) A permanent part-time employee may request that her name be placed on one (1) additional Work Area Specific Casual List. Such a request shall be considered by the Employer and the decision will be made based on operational requirements.

(f) Casual Employees

A casual employee may place her name on any Work Area Specific Casual List(s).

- (g) The Employer may determine that an employee on the Work Area Specific Casual List no longer possesses the necessary qualifications, skills, and abilities as determined by the Employer, reflecting the functions of the job concerned. If the Employer determines that the employee is no longer qualified, the employee shall be struck from that Work Area Specific Casual List, in which case written notification shall be given to the Union and the employee.
- (h) In unusual situations, the Employer may request an employee who is not on a particular Work Area Specific Casual List to work in that work area. Such an assignment does not result in the employee being deemed qualified for the unit's list.

39.04 Long Assignments

- (a) A Long Assignment is non-permanent work of a duration greater than nine (9) months and shall be used for the purpose of filling vacancies temporarily vacated as a result of long term disability, job-share arrangements, Workers' Compensation leave, and approved leaves of greater than nine month; and for filling special projects.
- (b) Except in the circumstances outlined in paragraph (c) below, Long Assignments shall be posted in accordance with Article 30.
- (c) Where the Long Assignment is being used to temporarily replace an employee on a pregnancy-related absence for a continuous period in excess of nine (9) months, which includes the total pregnancy leave combined with an employee's parental leave and any other related leave, the assignment may be filled in accordance with the procedure in Article 39.05. An employee on such long assignment shall in all other respects be treated as an employee on Long Assignment.
- (d) A permanent employee who applies for and accepts a Long Assignment shall maintain her permanent status for the duration of that Assignment. Benefits shall be pro-rated in accordance with the designation of the Assignment.
- (e) A casual employee who accepts a Long Assignment shall receive fifteen days (15) paid vacation leave pro-rated for the designation and the duration of her assignment.
- (f) Notwithstanding Article 38.02, a casual employee who accepts a Long Assignment shall only be excluded from the following benefits:
 - (i) Prepaid Leave (Article 41)

- (ii) Education Leave (Article 18.10)
- (iii) Retirement Allowance (Article 26)
- (iv) Job Security (Article 22)
- (v) Job Sharing (Article 37)
- (g) All benefits enjoyed by a casual employee in a Long Assignment shall be pro-rated as appropriate for the designation and duration of the Assignment.
- (h) A casual employee who accepts a Long Assignment shall be entitled to Group Insurance, Medical Benefits, and at the casual employee's option, Pension (Article 27) so long as the employee meets the eligibility requirements of the applicable plan.
- (i) A casual employee who accepts a Long Assignment will be scheduled in accordance with Article 13 of this Agreement.
- (j) Overtime shall be granted in accordance with Article 14 or Article 36, whichever is applicable to the Assignment.
- (k) When the Long Assignment ends, a permanent employee shall return to her former position, or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.
- (I) When a Long Assignment ends, a casual employee shall return to the Work Area Specific Casual List(s).
- (m) If a Long Assignment or consecutive Long Assignments extend beyond four (4) years, a casual employee in such Assignment(s) shall receive all benefits a permanent employee would receive effective at the start of the fifth (5th) year.

39.05 Short Assignments

- (a) A Short Assignment is non-permanent work of a duration of greater than one month but not exceeding nine (9) months.
- (b) Short Assignments shall be filled from the Work Area Specific Casual List as follows:
 - (i) employees on the recall list in order of their seniority;
 - (ii) permanent part-time employees in order of their seniority;
 - (iii) casual employees in order of their seniority.

- (c) If a Short Assignment is not able to be filled in accordance with Article 39.05(b), it shall be posted in accordance with Article 30.
- (d) An employee offered a Short Assignment is not required to accept the Assignment.
- (e) A permanent employee who accepts a Short Assignment shall maintain her permanent status for the duration of that Assignment. Benefits shall be pro-rated for the designation of the Assignment, if applicable.
- (f) A casual employee who accepts a Short Assignment shall receive fifteen days (15) paid vacation leave pro-rated for the designation and the duration of her assignment.
- (g) Notwithstanding Article 38.02, a casual employee who accepts a Short Assignment shall only be excluded from the following benefits:
 - (i) Prepaid Leave (Article 41)
 - (ii) Education Leave (Article 18.10)
 - (iii) Retirement Allowance (Article 26)
 - (iv) Job Security (Article 22)
 - (v) Job Sharing (Article 37)
- (h) A casual employee who accepts a Short Assignment will be scheduled in accordance with Article 13 of this Agreement.
- (i) Overtime shall be granted in accordance with Article 14 or Article 36, whichever is applicable to the Assignment.
- (j) When a Short Assignment ends, a permanent employee shall return to her previous position, or if that position no longer exists, to another position in accordance with this Agreement.
- (k) When the Short Assignment ends, a casual employee shall return to the Work Area Specific Casual List(s).

39.06 Part-time Employees Accepting Assignments of Full-time Hours

Any part-time employee whose name is on a Work Area Specific Casual List(s) shall have her name removed from the list(s) during the assignment of full-time hours.

39.07 Relief Assignments

- (a) An Assignment that does not exceed one (1) month (a "Relief Assignment") shall be offered on a rotating basis to employees on a Work Area Specific Casual List. Where operational requirements permit, an employee may be assigned up to a maximum of five (5) consecutive working days.
- (b) The assigning order for a Work Area Specific Casual List is:
 - (i) employees on the recall list in order of their seniority;
 - (ii) permanent part-time employees in order of their seniority; and
 - (iii) casual employees in order of their seniority;
- (c) An employee offered Relief Assignment is not required to accept the Assignment.
- (d) Accepting a Relief Assignment shall not increase the designation of a Permanent Part-time Employee.

39.08 Cancellation of Relief Assignment

An employee accepting a Relief Assignment may have that assignment cancelled with three (3) hours notice if there is no longer a requirement for the relief assignment. If less than three (3) hours notice is given, the employee shall receive three (3) hours compensation at her rate of pay.

39.09 Reporting Pay

An employee reporting for work as scheduled and finding no work available will be guaranteed four (4) hours pay at her rate of pay.

39.10 Termination of Assignments

- (a) The Employer may terminate a Long Assignment, a Short Assignment, or a Relief Assignment at any time.
- (b) If a Long Assignment or a Short Assignment is to be discontinued, the Employer shall advise the employee in writing not less than ten (10) working days prior to the date of discontinuance.
- (c) The Employer will notify the Union when a Long Assignment or Short Assignment is discontinued.

(d) An employee who accepts a long or short assignment may apply for and accept a permanent position.

39.11 Pay in Lieu of Notice

Where less notice in writing is given than required in Article 39.10(b), an employee shall continue to receive her pay for the number of days for which the notice was not given.

39.12 Completion of Assignments

An employee who accepts a Long or Short Assignment cannot commence another such assignment until the employee's existing assignment is completed.

39.13 Casuals Placed in Assignments

- (a) A casual employee on a full-time Long or Short Assignment shall have her name temporarily removed from all Work Area Specific Casual Lists for the duration of the Assignment.
- (b) A casual employee on a part-time assignment shall be restricted in accordance with Article 39.03(e)(i) and (ii).

39.14 Overtime Restrictions

The Employer is not obliged to offer additional shifts to an employee when she becomes eligible for overtime compensation.

ARTICLE 40 - NOTICE OF RESIGNATION

40.01 Notice of Resignation

If an employee desires to terminate her employment, she shall forward a letter of resignation to the Employer not less than four (4) weeks prior to the effective date of termination, and in any event, not less than two (2) weeks prior to the effective date of termination, provided however the Employer may accept a shorter period of notice.

40.02 Absence Without Permission

(a) An employee who is absent from her employment without permission for ten (10) consecutive days, shall be deemed to have resigned her position effective the first day of her absence.

(b) The employee may be reinstated if she establishes to the satisfaction of the employer, that her absence arose from a cause beyond her control and it was not possible for the employee to notify the Employer of the reason for her absence.

40.03 Failure to Give Notice

- (a) An employee who fails to give notice required by Article 40.01, or who is deemed to have resigned by virtue of 40.02, shall be struck from the payroll effective the date she absents herself without leave, and shall have deducted from monies owed her by the Employer from all sources, including any vacation pay, a sum equivalent to the salary payable to her for the period of notice which she failed to work.
- (b) If the employee is reinstated in accordance with 40.02(b), then any deductions made pursuant to 40.03(a) shall be reinstated.

40.04 Acknowledgment of Letters of Resignation

Receipt of letters of resignation shall be acknowledged by the Employer in writing.

40.05 Withdrawal of Resignation

An employee who has terminated her employment through resignation, may withdraw her resignation within three (3) days of the time it was submitted to the Employer.

ARTICLE 41 - PREPAID LEAVE PLAN

41.01 Purpose

- (a) The Prepaid Leave Plan is established to afford employees the opportunity of taking a self-funded leave of absence not to exceed twelve (12) months.
- (b) When a leave of absence is taken for the purpose of permitting the full-time attendance of the employee at a designated educational institution (within the meaning of subsection 118.6 (i) of the *Income Tax Act*), the leave shall not be for less than three (3) consecutive months and in any other case not less than six (6) consecutive months.

41.02 Terms of Reference

- (a) It is the intent of the Union and the Employer that the quality and delivery of service to the public be maintained.
- (b) A suitable replacement for the employee on leave will be obtained where required, and the incumbents filling any position(s) temporarily vacated as a result of such leave will be covered by the Collective Agreement.
- (c) Applications under this Plan will not be unreasonably denied, and any permitted discretion allowed under this Plan will not be unreasonably refused.

41.03 Eligibility

Any permanent employee is eligible to participate in the Plan.

41.04 Application

- (a) An employee must make written application to the Employer at least four (4) calendar months in advance, requesting permission to participate in the Plan. A shorter period of notice may be accepted by the Employer. Entry date into the Plan for deductions must commence at the beginning of a bi-weekly pay period.
- (b) Written acceptance or denial of the request, with explanation, shall be forwarded to the employee within two (2) calendar months of the written application.

41.05 Leave

- (a) The period of leave will be for six (6) months to one (1) year.
- (b) On return from leave, the employee will be assigned to her/his same position or, if such position no longer exists, the employee will be governed by the appropriate provisions of this Agreement.
- (c) After the leave, the employee is required to return to regular employment with the Employer for a period that is not less than the period of the leave.

41.06 Payment Formula and Leave of Absence

The payment of salary, benefits and the timing of the period of leave shall be as follows:

(a) During the deferral period of the Plan, preceding the period of the leave, the employee will be paid a reduced percentage of her salary. The

remaining percentage of salary will be deferred, and this accumulated amount plus the interest earned shall be retained for the employee by the Employer to finance the period of leave.

- (b) The deferred amounts, when received, are considered to be salary or wages and as such are subject to withholding for income taxes, Canada Pension Plan and Employment Insurance at that time.
- (c) The calculation of interest under the terms of this Plan shall be done monthly (not in advance). The interest paid shall be calculated by averaging the interest rates in effect on the last day of each calendar month for: a true savings account, a one (1) year term deposit, a three (3) year term deposit and a five (5) year term deposit. The rates for each of the accounts identified shall be those quoted by the financial institution maintaining the deferred account. Interest shall be based upon the average daily balance of the account and credited to the employee's account on the first day of the following calendar month.
- (d) A yearly statement of the amount standing in the employee's credit will be sent to the employee by the Employer.
- (e) The maximum length of the deferral period will be six (6) years and the maximum deferred amount will be 33-1/3% of salary. The maximum length of any contract under the Plan will be seven (7) years.
- (f) The employee may arrange for any length of deferral period in accordance with the provisions set out under Article 41.06(e).

41.07 Benefits

- (a) While the employee is enrolled in the Plan prior to the period leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received had she not been enrolled in the Plan.
- (b) An employee's benefits will be maintained by the employer during her leave of absence; however, the premium costs of all such benefits shall be paid by the employee during the leave.
- (c) While on leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received in the year prior to taking the leave had she not been enrolled in the Plan.
- (d) Pension deductions shall be continued during the period of leave. The period of leave shall be a period of pensionable service and service.

- (e) Pension deductions shall be made on the salary the employee would have received had she not entered the Plan or gone on leave.
- (f) Sick leave and vacation credits will not be earned during the period of leave nor will sick leave be available during such period.

41.08 Withdrawal

- (a) An employee may withdraw from the Plan in unusual or extenuating circumstances, such as, but not limited to, financial hardship, serious illness or disability, family death or serious illness, or termination of employment. Withdrawal must be submitted in writing, detailing the reason(s) therefore, as soon as possible prior to the commencement of the leave.
- (b) In the event of withdrawal the employee shall be paid a lump sum adjustment equal to any monies deferred plus accrued interest. Repayment shall be made as soon as possible within sixty (60) calendar days of withdrawal from the Plan.
- (c) An employee who is laid off during the deferral period will be required to withdraw from the Plan.
- (d) Should an employee die while participating in the Plan, any monies accumulated plus interest accrued at the time of death shall be paid to the employee's estate as soon as possible within two (2) bi-weekly pay periods upon notice to the Employer.

41.09 Written Contract

- (a) All employees will be required to sign the approved contract before enrolling in the Plan. The contract will set out all other terms of the Plan in accordance with the provisions set out herein.
- (b) Once entered into, the contract provisions concerning the percentage of salary deferred and the period of leave may be amended by mutual agreement between the employee and Employer.

ARTICLE 42 - TERM OF AGREEMENT*

42.01* This Agreement shall be in effect for a term beginning from November 1, 2011 and ending October 31, 2014. After October 31, 2014, this Agreement shall be automatically renewed thereafter for successive periods of twelve (12) months unless either party requests the negotiation of a new agreement by giving written notice to the other party not less than 30 calendar days prior to the expiration of

this Agreement or any renewal thereof. Notice to the Employer shall be sent to the Executive Director, Human Resources, IWK Health Centre, at 5850/5980 University Avenue, and PO Box 9700, Halifax, Nova Scotia B3K 6R8.

- **42.02***Upon signing of the Collective Agreement, rates of pay and overtime pay shall be retroactive to November 1, 2011. All other provisions of this Agreement shall come into effect on the date of signing of the Collective Agreement except as otherwise specified.
- **42.03*** Members of the bargaining unit who have resigned since October 31, 2011 will have thirty (30) days from the date of signing of this Agreement to apply in writing for the retroactive wage increase. Application should be made to the Director of Human Resources.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
JoerJessone	801
Cany Mack	Lesta Ocching
Sel afyr	9/ astorno- Kincent
Jeter Hung	Shaure Best
delf	Syn Frankton
Monant fin	
m. facill	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the $\partial 0$ day of	June , 2013.

APPENDIX "A" ALPHABETIZED INDEX OF CLASSIFICATIONS*

CLASSIFICATION	PAY GRADE
A/V Library Assistant	GE 57
Adolescent Caseworker	GE 49
Anaethesia Assistant	GE 72
Anaethesia Technician	GE 93
Animal Quarters Technician	GE 2
Bereavement Coordinator	GE 48
Biomedical Engineering Technologist	GE 87
Care Team Assistant	GE 101
Charge Technician Ultrasound	GE 30
Child Care Worker	GE 33
Child Life Specialist - Certified	GE 49
Child Life Worker	GE 50
Child Mental Health Worker (PIO)	GE 33
Clinical Data Coordinator	GE 92
Clinical Practice Coordinator - Respiratory	GE 58
Community Outreach Worker	GE 39
Concurrent Disorder Specialist	GE 48
Coordinator & Feeding Specialist	GE 49
Coordinator Animal Care Facility	GE 50
Coordinator Operations CRP	GE 49
Coordinator Rehab Team	GE 100
Crisis Intervenor (BSW)	GE 18
Cytogenetic Lab Tech I	GE 14
Cytogenetic Lab Tech II	GE 24
Data Integrity Auditor	GE 105
Dental Assistant	GE 3
Dietetic Technician	GE 40
Discharge Coordinator	GE 18
EIBI Program Implementer	GE 33
EKG Technologist	GE 3
Electroneurophysiology Tech A	GE 97
Electroneurophysiology Tech B	GE 98
Flight Respiratory Therapist	GE 77
Forensic Clinical Case Coordinator	GE 89
Funding Coordinator	GE 85
Graphic Designer	GE 55
Health Records Administrator	GE 11
Health Records Analyst	GE 11
Health Records Technician	GE 44
Health Records Technician-in-Training	GE 95
Lab Standards Coordinator	GE 54

CLASSIFICATION	PAY GRADE
Library Assistant	GE 56
Licensed Practical Nurse	GE 34
LIS Coordinator	GE 54
Medical Lab Tech I	GE 13
Medical Lab Tech II	GE 14
Medical Lab Tech III	GE 24
Medical Laboratory Assistant	GE 12
Medical Laboratory Assistant - Pathology	GE 12
Medical Photographer	GE 16
Molecular Diagnostic Lab Tech I	GE 14
Molecular Diagnostic Lab Tech II	GE 24
MRI Technologist	GE 76
Music Therapist	GE 107
Nuclear Med Technologist	GE 26
Occupational Therapist	GE 18
Opthalmic Medical Technician	GE 85
OR Technician	GE 17
Orthopedic Technologist	GE 19
Orthoptist/Opthalmic Medical Technologist	GE 58
Orthoptist/Opthalmic Medical Technologist / Instructor	GE 36
PACS Application Specialist	GE 75
Pharmacy Technician	GE 22
Physiotherapist	GE 18
Polysomnographic Technologist	GE 13
Processor Technician	GE 2
Psychometrist	GE 94
Radiology Technologist II	GE 13
Radiology Technologist III	GE 30
Recreation Therapist	GE 39
Recreation Therapy Associate	GE 106
Remedial Seating Technician	GE 3
Residential Counsellor	GE 80
Respiratory Therapist	GE 71
Respiratory Therapist IV	GE 45
Respiratory Therapy Aide	GE 99
Social Worker (BSW)	GE 18
Social Worker (MSW)	GE 48
Teacher (MEd)	GE 96
Teacher TC5	GE 39
Teacher TC6	GE 96
Team Lead - One Robin	GE 83
Technical Assistant	GE 2
Ultrasound Technologist	GE 26
Youth Care Worker	GE 33
Youth Care Worker - ICBTT	GE 82
Youth Care Worker ACTTT	GE 82

APPENDIX "A" PAY PLAN*

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 2	Animal Quarters Technician	Step 1	\$17.4041	\$33,938	\$17.7522	\$34,617	\$18.1960	\$35,482			\$18.7419	\$36,547
	Processor Technician	Step 2	\$17.7993	\$34,709	\$18.1553	\$35,403	\$18.6092	\$36,288			\$19.1674	\$37,377
	Technical Assistant	Step 3	\$18.1938	\$35,478	\$18.5577	\$36,188	\$19.0216	\$37,092			\$19.5923	\$38,205
		Step 4	\$18.5874	\$36,246	\$18.9591	\$36,971	\$19.4331	\$37,895			\$20.0161	\$39,032
		Step 5	\$18.9812	\$37,013	\$19.3608	\$37,753	\$19.8448	\$38,697			\$20.4402	\$39,858
		Step 25							\$20.5394	\$40,051	\$21.1556	\$41,253
GE 3	Dental Assistant	Step 1	\$19.0501	\$37,148	\$19.4311	\$37,891	\$19.9169	\$38,838			\$20.5144	\$40,003
	EKG Technologist	Step 2	\$19.6090	\$38,237	\$20.0012	\$39,002	\$20.5012	\$39,977			\$21.1162	\$41,176
	Remedial Seating Technician	Step 3	\$20.1689	\$39,329	\$20.5723	\$40,116	\$21.0866	\$41,118			\$21.7192	\$42,352
		Step 4	\$20.7274	\$40,418	\$21.1419	\$41,226	\$21.6705	\$42,257			\$22.3206	\$43,525
		Step 5	\$21.2872	\$41,510	\$21.7129	\$42,340	\$22.2558	\$43,399			\$22.9234	\$44,701
		Step 25							\$23.0347	\$44,918	\$23.7258	\$46,265

			_		% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 11	Health Records Analyst	Step 1	\$24.2580	\$47,303	\$24.7432	\$48,249	\$25.3617	\$49,455			\$26.1226	\$50,939
	Health Records Administrator	Step 2	\$24.9394	\$48,632	\$25.4382	\$49,605	\$26.0741	\$50,845			\$26.8564	\$52,370
		Step 3	\$25.8002	\$50,310	\$26.3162	\$51,316	\$26.9741	\$52,599			\$27.7833	\$54,177
		Step 4	\$26.6425	\$51,953	\$27.1754	\$52,992	\$27.8547	\$54,317			\$28.6904	\$55,946
		Step 25							\$28.8296	\$56,218	\$29.6945	\$57,904
GE 12	Medical Laboratory Assistant	Step 1	\$18.8335	\$36,725	\$19.2102	\$37,460	\$19.6904	\$38,396			\$20.2811	\$39,548
	Medical Laboratory Assistant- Pathology	Step 2	\$20.0550	\$39,107	\$20.4561	\$39,889	\$20.9675	\$40,886			\$21.5965	\$42,113
		Step 3	\$20.6951	\$40,355	\$21.1090	\$41,162	\$21.6367	\$42,191			\$22.2858	\$43,457
		Step 4	\$21.3351	\$41,603	\$21.7618	\$42,435	\$22.3058	\$43,496			\$22.9750	\$44,801
		Step 25							\$23.0866	\$45,018	\$23.7791	\$46,369
GE 13	Medical Lab Tech I	Step 1	\$25.0447	\$48,837	\$25.5456	\$49,814	\$26.1842	\$51,059			\$26.9698	\$52,591
	Polysomnographic	Step 2	\$25.6219	\$49,963	\$26.1343	\$50,962	\$26.7877	\$52,236			\$27.5913	\$53,803
	Radiology Technologist II	Step 3	\$26.9143	\$52,483	\$27.4526	\$53,533	\$28.1389	\$54,871			\$28.9831	\$56,517
		Step 4	\$27.6703	\$53,957	\$28.2237	\$55,036	\$28.9293	\$56,412			\$29.7972	\$58,104
		Step 5	\$29.5600	\$57,642	\$30.1512	\$58,795	\$30.9050	\$60,265			\$31.8321	\$62,073
		Step 6	\$30.4932	\$59,462	\$31.1031	\$60,651	\$31.8806	\$62,168			\$32.8371	\$64,033
		Step 25	\$31.5605	\$61,543	\$32.1917	\$62,774	\$32.9965	\$64,343			\$33.9864	\$66,274

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade			Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 14	Medical Lab Tech II	Step 1	\$27.9375	\$54,478	\$28.4963	\$55,568	\$29.2087	\$56,957			\$30.0849	\$58,665
	Cytogenetic Lab Tech I	Step 2	\$30.6073	\$59,684	\$31.2194	\$60,878	\$31.9999	\$62,400			\$32.9599	\$64,272
	Molecular Diagnostic Lab Tech	Step 3	\$31.6791	\$61,774	\$32.3127	\$63,009	\$33.1205	\$64,585			\$34.1141	\$66,522
		Step 4	\$32.8073	\$63,974	\$33.4634	\$65,253	\$34.3000	\$66,885			\$35.3290	\$68,891
		Step 5	\$33.9164	\$66,137	\$34.5947	\$67,460	\$35.4596	\$69,146			\$36.5234	\$71,221
		Step 25	\$35.1035	\$68,452	\$35.8056	\$69,821	\$36.7007	\$71,567			\$37.8017	\$73,714
GE 16	Medical Photographer	Step 1	\$20.2756	\$39,537	\$20.6811	\$40,328	\$21.1981	\$41,336			\$21.8341	\$42,576
		Step 2	\$20.8704	\$40,697	\$21.2878	\$41,511	\$21.8200	\$42,549			\$22.4746	\$43,825
		Step 3	\$21.4664	\$41,859	\$21.8957	\$42,696	\$22.4431	\$43,764			\$23.1164	\$45,076
		Step 4	\$22.0609	\$43,019	\$22.5021	\$43,879	\$23.0647	\$44,976			\$23.7566	\$46,326
		Step 5	\$22.6567	\$44,181	\$23.1098	\$45,065	\$23.6876	\$46,191			\$24.3982	\$47,577
		Step 25							\$24.5166	\$47,808	\$25.2521	\$49,242
GE 17	OR Technician	Step 1	\$20.2897	\$39,565	\$20.6955	\$40,356	\$21.2129	\$41,365			\$21.8493	\$42,606
		Step 2	\$20.8811	\$40,718	\$21.2987	\$41,532	\$21.8312	\$42,571			\$22.4861	\$43,848
		Step 3	\$21.4737	\$41,874	\$21.9032	\$42,711	\$22.4508	\$43,779			\$23.1243	\$45,093
		Step 4	\$22.0646	\$43,026	\$22.5059	\$43,887	\$23.0685	\$44,984			\$23.7606	\$46,333
		Step 5	\$22.6568	\$44,181	\$23.1099	\$45,065	\$23.6877	\$46,191			\$24.3983	\$47,577
		Step 25							\$24.5168	\$47,808	\$25.2523	\$49,242

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 18	Crisis Intervenor (BSW)	Step 1	\$27.5907	\$53,802	\$28.1425	\$54 <i>,</i> 878	\$28.8461	\$56,250			\$29.7115	\$57,937
	Occupational Therapist	Step 2	\$29.8701	\$58,247	\$30.4675	\$59,412	\$31.2292	\$60,897			\$32.1661	\$62,724
	Physiotherapist	Step 3	\$31.0094	\$60,468	\$31.6296	\$61,677	\$32.4203	\$63,219			\$33.3929	\$65,116
	Discharge Coordinator	Step 4	\$32.2516	\$62,891	\$32.8966	\$64,149	\$33.7190	\$65,753			\$34.7306	\$67,725
	Social Worker (BSW)	Step 5	\$33.5178	\$65,360	\$34.1882	\$66,667	\$35.0429	\$68,334			\$36.0941	\$70,384
		Step 6	\$34.8408	\$67,940	\$35.5376	\$69,299	\$36.4261	\$71,031			\$37.5188	\$73,162
		Step 25	\$36.0602	\$70,317	\$36.7814	\$71,723	\$37.7009	\$73,516			\$38.8320	\$75,722
GE 19	Orthopedic Technologist	Step 1	\$19.8425	\$38,693	\$20.2394	\$39,467	\$20.7453	\$40,454			\$21.3677	\$41,667
		Step 2	\$20.4027	\$39,785	\$20.8108	\$40,581	\$21.3310	\$41,595			\$21.9710	\$42,843
		Step 3	\$21.0426	\$41,033	\$21.4635	\$41,854	\$22.0000	\$42,900			\$22.6600	\$44,187
		Step 4	\$21.3742	\$41,680	\$21.8017	\$42,514	\$22.3467	\$43,576			\$23.0171	\$44,884
		Step 5	\$22.9937	\$44,838	\$23.4536	\$45,735	\$24.0399	\$46,878			\$24.7611	\$48,284
		Step 25							\$24.8813	\$48,519	\$25.6277	\$49,974
GE 22	Pharmacy Technician	Step 1	\$18.8335	\$36,725	\$19.2102	\$37,460	\$19.6904	\$38,396			\$20.2811	\$39,548
		Step 2	\$20.0550	\$39,107	\$20.4561	\$39,889	\$20.9675	\$40,886			\$21.5965	\$42,113
		Step 3	\$20.6950	\$40,355	\$21.1089	\$41,162	\$21.6366	\$42,191			\$22.2857	\$43,457
		Step 4	\$21.3350	\$41,603	\$21.7617	\$42,435	\$22.3057	\$43,496			\$22.9749	\$44,801
		Step 25							\$23.0864	\$45,018	\$23.7790	\$46,369

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 24	Medical Lab Tech III	Step 1	\$31.1862	\$60,813	\$31.8099	\$62,029	\$32.6052	\$63,580			\$33.5833	\$65,487
	Cytogenetic Lab Tech II	Step 2	\$32.2771	\$62,940	\$32.9226	\$64,199	\$33.7457	\$65,804			\$34.7581	\$67,778
	Molecular Diagnostic Lab	Step 3	\$33.4271	\$65,183	\$34.0956	\$66,487	\$34.9480	\$68,149			\$35.9965	\$70,193
		Step 4	\$34.5579	\$67,388	\$35.2491	\$68,736	\$36.1303	\$70,454			\$37.2142	\$72,568
		Step 25	\$35.7674	\$69,746	\$36.4827	\$71,141	\$37.3948	\$72,919			\$38.5167	\$75,107
GE 26	Nuclear Med Technologist	Step 1	\$27.8143	\$54,238	\$28.3706	\$55,323	\$29.0799	\$56,706			\$29.9522	\$58,407
	Ultrasound Technologist	Step 2	\$28.7554	\$56,073	\$29.3305	\$57,194	\$30.0638	\$58,624			\$30.9657	\$60,383
		Step 3	\$29.6760	\$57,868	\$30.2695	\$59,025	\$31.0263	\$60,501			\$31.9570	\$62,316
		Step 4	\$30.5955	\$59,661	\$31.2074	\$60,854	\$31.9876	\$62,376			\$32.9472	\$64,247
		Step 5	\$31.5381	\$61,499	\$32.1689	\$62,729	\$32.9731	\$64,297			\$33.9623	\$66,226
		Step 6	\$32.4592	\$63,295	\$33.1084	\$64,561	\$33.9361	\$66,175			\$34.9542	\$68,160
		Step 25	\$33.5953	\$65,511	\$34.2672	\$66,821	\$35.1239	\$68,492			\$36.1776	\$70,547
GE 30	Charge Technician Ultrasound	Step 1	\$27.9375	\$54,478	\$28.4963	\$55,568	\$29.2087	\$56,957			\$30.0849	\$58,665
	Radiology Technologist III	Step 2	\$30.6073	\$59,684	\$31.2194	\$60,878	\$31.9999	\$62,400			\$32.9599	\$64,272
		Step 3	\$31.6791	\$61,774	\$32.3127	\$63,009	\$33.1205	\$64,585			\$34.1141	\$66,522
		Step 4	\$32.8073	\$63,974	\$33.4634	\$65,253	\$34.3000	\$66,885			\$35.3290	\$68,891
		Step 5	\$33.9164	\$66,137	\$34.5947	\$67,460	\$35.4596	\$69,146			\$36.5234	\$71,221
		Step 25	\$35.1035	\$68,452	\$35.8056	\$69,821	\$36.7007	\$71,567			\$37.8017	\$73,714

		ı			% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 33	Child Care Worker	Step 1	\$21.1500	\$41,243	\$21.5730	\$42,068	\$22.1123	\$43,120			\$22.7757	\$44,413
	EIBI Program Implementer	Step 2	\$21.9694	\$42,840	\$22.4088	\$43,697	\$22.9690	\$44,789			\$23.6581	\$46,133
	Youth Care Worker	Step 3	\$22.9263	\$44,706	\$23.3848	\$45,600	\$23.9694	\$46,740			\$24.6885	\$48,142
		Step 4	\$25.7952	\$50,301	\$26.3111	\$51,307	\$26.9689	\$52,590			\$27.7779	\$54,167
		Step 5	\$26.8874	\$52,430	\$27.4251	\$53,479	\$28.1108	\$54,816			\$28.9541	\$56,460
		Step 6	\$27.9797	\$54,560	\$28.5393	\$55,651	\$29.2528	\$57,042			\$30.1304	\$58,754
		Step 25							\$30.2766	\$59,039	\$31.1849	\$60,810
GE 33	Child Mental Health Worker (PIO)	Step 1	\$23.0558	\$44,959	\$23.5169	\$45,858	\$24.1048	\$47,004			\$24.8280	\$48,415
		Step 2	\$23.6898	\$46,195	\$24.1636	\$47,119	\$24.7677	\$48,297			\$25.5107	\$49,746
		Step 3	\$24.4322	\$47,643	\$24.9208	\$48,596	\$25.5439	\$49,811			\$26.3102	\$51,305
		Step 4	\$25.2774	\$49,291	\$25.7829	\$50,277	\$26.4275	\$51,534			\$27.2203	\$53,080
		Step 5	\$26.2278	\$51,144	\$26.7524	\$52,167	\$27.4212	\$53,471			\$28.2438	\$55,075
		Step 6	\$27.2844	\$53,205	\$27.8301	\$54,269	\$28.5258	\$55,625			\$29.3816	\$57,294
		Step 7	\$28.1035	\$54,802	\$28.6656	\$55,898	\$29.3822	\$57,295			\$30.2637	\$59,014
		Step 8	\$29.0920	\$56,729	\$29.6738	\$57,864	\$30.4157	\$59,311			\$31.3282	\$61,090
		Step 9	\$29.5382	\$57,599	\$30.1290	\$58,751	\$30.8822	\$60,220			\$31.8087	\$62,027
		Step 25							\$31.9631	\$62,328	\$32.9220	\$64,198

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 34	Licensed Practical Nurse	Step 1	\$21.8986	\$42,702	\$22.3366	\$43,556	\$22.8950	\$44,645			\$23.5818	\$45,984
		Step 2	\$22.4099	\$43,699	\$22.8581	\$44,573	\$23.4296	\$45,687			\$24.1324	\$47,058
		Step 3	\$22.8941	\$44,644	\$23.3520	\$45,537	\$23.9358	\$46,675			\$24.6539	\$48,076
		Step 4	\$23.5287	\$45,881	\$23.9993	\$46,799	\$24.5993	\$47,969			\$25.3372	\$49,408
		Step 25							\$25.4602	\$49,647	\$26.2240	\$51,137
GE 36	Orthoptist/Opthalmic Medical Technologist/	Step 1	\$29.2971	\$57,129	\$29.8830	\$58,272	\$30.6301	\$59,728			\$31.5490	\$61,520
	Instructor	Step 2	\$31.7172	\$61,848	\$32.3515	\$63,085	\$33.1603	\$64,662			\$34.1551	\$66,602
		Step 3	\$32.9271	\$64,208	\$33.5856	\$65,492	\$34.4253	\$67,129			\$35.4580	\$69,143
		Step 4	\$34.2460	\$66,780	\$34.9309	\$68,116	\$35.8042	\$69,818			\$36.8783	\$71,913
		Step 5	\$35.5907	\$69,402	\$36.3025	\$70,790	\$37.2101	\$72,560			\$38.3264	\$74,737
		Step 6	\$36.9954	\$72,141	\$37.7353	\$73,584	\$38.6787	\$75,423			\$39.8391	\$77,686
		Step 25	\$38.2902	\$74,666	\$39.0560	\$76,159	\$40.0324	\$78,063			\$41.2334	\$80,405
GE 39	Community Outreach Worker	Step 1	\$27.0233	\$52,695	\$27.5638	\$53,749	\$28.2529	\$55,093			\$29.1004	\$56,745
	Recreation Therapist	Step 2	\$29.2558	\$57,049	\$29.8409	\$58,190	\$30.5869	\$59,645			\$31.5045	\$61,434
	Teacher TC5	Step 3	\$30.3716	\$59,225	\$30.9790	\$60,410	\$31.7535	\$61,920			\$32.7061	\$63,777
		Step 4	\$31.5882	\$61,597	\$32.2200	\$62,829	\$33.0255	\$64,400			\$34.0162	\$66,332
		Step 5	\$32.8287	\$64,016	\$33.4853	\$65,296	\$34.3224	\$66,929			\$35.3521	\$68,937
		Step 6	\$34.1242	\$66,542	\$34.8067	\$67,873	\$35.6769	\$69,570			\$36.7472	\$71,657
		Step 25	\$35.3185	\$68,871	\$36.0249	\$70,248	\$36.9255	\$72,005			\$38.0333	\$74,165

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 40	Dietetic Technician	Step 1	\$19.3356	\$37,704	\$19.7223	\$38,458	\$20.2154	\$39,420			\$20.8218	\$40,602
		Step 2	\$19.9947	\$38,990	\$20.3946	\$39,770	\$20.9045	\$40,764			\$21.5316	\$41,987
		Step 3	\$20.6540	\$40,275	\$21.0671	\$41,081	\$21.5938	\$42,108			\$22.2416	\$43,371
		Step 4	\$21.3132	\$41,561	\$21.7395	\$42,392	\$22.2830	\$43,452			\$22.9514	\$44,756
		Step 5	\$21.9723	\$42,846	\$22.4117	\$43,703	\$22.9720	\$44,795			\$23.6612	\$46,139
		Step 25							\$23.7761	\$46,363	\$24.4893	\$47,754
GE 44	Health Records Technician	Step 1	\$22.1085	\$43,112	\$22.5507	\$43,974	\$23.1144	\$45,074			\$23.8079	\$46,426
		Step 2	\$22.6182	\$44,105	\$23.0706	\$44,987	\$23.6473	\$46,112			\$24.3567	\$47,495
		Step 3	\$23.1097	\$45,064	\$23.5719	\$45,965	\$24.1612	\$47,114			\$24.8860	\$48,528
		Step 4	\$23.7590	\$46,330	\$24.2342	\$47,257	\$24.8400	\$48,438			\$25.5852	\$49,891
		Step 25							\$25.7094	\$50,133	\$26.4807	\$51,637
GE 45	Respiratory Therapist IV	Step 1	\$33.0484	\$64,444	\$33.7094	\$65,733	\$34.5521	\$67,376			\$35.5887	\$69,397
		Step 2	\$34.2252	\$66,739	\$34.9097	\$68,074	\$35.7824	\$69,776			\$36.8559	\$71,869
		Step 3	\$35.3826	\$68,996	\$36.0903	\$70,376	\$36.9925	\$72,135			\$38.1023	\$74,299
		Step 4	\$36.5202	\$71,214	\$37.2506	\$72,638	\$38.1819	\$74,454			\$39.3273	\$76,688
		Step 25	\$37.7984	\$73,707	\$38.5544	\$75,181	\$39.5182	\$77,061			\$40.7038	\$79,372

			_		% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 48	Bereavement Coordinator	Step 1	\$30.3060	\$59,097	\$30.9121	\$60,279	\$31.6849	\$61,786			\$32.6355	\$63,639
	Concurrent Disorder	Step 2	\$31.5122	\$61,449	\$32.1424	\$62,678	\$32.9460	\$64,245			\$33.9344	\$66,172
	Social Worker (MSW)	Step 3	\$34.0320	\$66,362	\$34.7126	\$67,689	\$35.5805	\$69,381			\$36.6479	\$71,463
		Step 4	\$35.3468	\$68,926	\$36.0537	\$70,305	\$36.9551	\$72,062			\$38.0637	\$74,224
		Step 5	\$36.7716	\$71,705	\$37.5070	\$73,139	\$38.4447	\$74,968			\$39.5980	\$77,217
		Step 6	\$38.3066	\$74,698	\$39.0727	\$76,192	\$40.0496	\$78,097			\$41.2510	\$80,440
		Step 7	\$39.8405	\$77,689	\$40.6373	\$79,243	\$41.6532	\$81,224			\$42.9028	\$83,661
		Step 25	\$41.2349	\$80,408	\$42.0596	\$82,016	\$43.1111	\$84,067			\$44.4044	\$86,589
GE 49	Adolescent Caseworker	Step 1	\$26.2489	\$51,185	\$26.7739	\$52,209	\$27.4432	\$53,514			\$28.2665	\$55,119
	Child Life Specialist -	Step 2	\$28.7573	\$56,077	\$29.3324	\$57,199	\$30.0658	\$58,629			\$30.9677	\$60,387
	Coordinator & Feeding	Step 3	\$29.7644	\$58,041	\$30.3597	\$59,202	\$31.1187	\$60,682			\$32.0522	\$62,502
	Coordinator Operations CRP	Step 4	\$30.8244	\$60,108	\$31.4409	\$61,310	\$32.2269	\$62,843			\$33.1937	\$64,728
		Step 5	\$31.8663	\$62,139	\$32.5036	\$63,382	\$33.3162	\$64,966			\$34.3157	\$66,915
		Step 25	\$32.9816	\$64,314	\$33.6412	\$65,600	\$34.4823	\$67,240			\$35.5167	\$69,257
GE 50	Child Life Worker	Step 1	\$22.1087	\$43,112	\$22.5509	\$43,974	\$23.1146	\$45,074			\$23.8081	\$46,426
	Coordinator Animal Care	Step 2	\$22.6181	\$44,105	\$23.0705	\$44,987	\$23.6472	\$46,112			\$24.3566	\$47,495
		Step 3	\$23.1097	\$45,064	\$23.5719	\$45,965	\$24.1612	\$47,114			\$24.8860	\$48,528
		Step 4	\$23.7590	\$46,330	\$24.2342	\$47,257	\$24.8400	\$48,438			\$25.5852	\$49,891
		Step 25							\$25.7094	\$50,133	\$26.4807	\$51,637

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 54	LIS Coordinator	Step 1	\$32.7487	\$63,860	\$33.4037	\$65,137	\$34.2388	\$66,766			\$35.2659	\$68,769
	Lab Standards Coordinator	Step 2	\$33.6976	\$65,710	\$34.3716	\$67,024	\$35.2308	\$68,700			\$36.2878	\$70,761
		Step 3	\$34.6474	\$67,562	\$35.3403	\$68,913	\$36.2239	\$70,636			\$37.3106	\$72,755
		Step 4	\$35.5964	\$69,413	\$36.3083	\$70,801	\$37.2160	\$72,571			\$38.3325	\$74,748
		Step 5	\$36.8722	\$71,901	\$37.6096	\$73,339	\$38.5499	\$75,172			\$39.7064	\$77,428
		Step 25	\$38.1627	\$74,417	\$38.9260	\$75,905	\$39.8991	\$77,803			\$41.0961	\$80,137
GE 55	Graphic Designer	Step 1	\$23.6540	\$46,125	\$24.1271	\$47,048	\$24.7303	\$48,224			\$25.4722	\$49,670
		Step 2	\$24.6614	\$48,090	\$25.1546	\$49,052	\$25.7835	\$50,278			\$26.5570	\$51,786
		Step 3	\$25.6706	\$50,058	\$26.1840	\$51,059	\$26.8386	\$52,336			\$27.6438	\$53,906
		Step 4	\$26.7791	\$52,219	\$27.3147	\$53,263	\$27.9975	\$54,595			\$28.8375	\$56,233
		Step 5	\$27.8887	\$54,383	\$28.4465	\$55,471	\$29.1576	\$56,857			\$30.0324	\$58,563
		Step 6	\$28.9986	\$56,547	\$29.5786	\$57,678	\$30.3180	\$59,120			\$31.2276	\$60,893
		Step 25							\$31.3792	\$61,189	\$32.3205	\$63,025
GE 56	Library Assistant	Step 1	\$19.3356	\$37,704	\$19.7223	\$38,458	\$20.2154	\$39,420			\$20.8218	\$40,602
		Step 2	\$19.9947	\$38,990	\$20.3946	\$39,770	\$20.9045	\$40,764			\$21.5316	\$41,987
		Step 3	\$20.6540	\$40,275	\$21.0671	\$41,081	\$21.5938	\$42,108			\$22.2416	\$43,371
		Step 4	\$21.3132	\$41,561	\$21.7395	\$42,392	\$22.2830	\$43,452			\$22.9514	\$44,756
		Step 5	\$21.9723	\$42,846	\$22.4117	\$43,703	\$22.9720	\$44,795			\$23.6612	\$46,139
		Step 25							\$23.7761	\$46,363	\$24.4893	\$47,754

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 54	LIS Coordinator	Step 1	\$32.7487	\$63,860	\$33.4037	\$65,137	\$34.2388	\$66,766			\$35.2659	\$68,769
	Lab Standards Coordinator	Step 2	\$33.6976	\$65,710	\$34.3716	\$67,024	\$35.2308	\$68,700			\$36.2878	\$70,761
		Step 3	\$34.6474	\$67,562	\$35.3403	\$68,913	\$36.2239	\$70,636			\$37.3106	\$72,755
		Step 4	\$35.5964	\$69,413	\$36.3083	\$70,801	\$37.2160	\$72,571			\$38.3325	\$74,748
		Step 5	\$36.8722	\$71,901	\$37.6096	\$73,339	\$38.5499	\$75,172			\$39.7064	\$77,428
		Step 25	\$38.1627	\$74,417	\$38.9260	\$75,905	\$39.8991	\$77,803			\$41.0961	\$80,137
GE 55	Graphic Designer	Step 1	\$23.6540	\$46,125	\$24.1271	\$47,048	\$24.7303	\$48,224			\$25.4722	\$49,670
		Step 2	\$24.6614	\$48,090	\$25.1546	\$49,052	\$25.7835	\$50,278			\$26.5570	\$51,786
		Step 3	\$25.6706	\$50,058	\$26.1840	\$51,059	\$26.8386	\$52,336			\$27.6438	\$53,906
		Step 4	\$26.7791	\$52,219	\$27.3147	\$53,263	\$27.9975	\$54,595			\$28.8375	\$56,233
		Step 5	\$27.8887	\$54,383	\$28.4465	\$55,471	\$29.1576	\$56,857			\$30.0324	\$58,563
		Step 6	\$28.9986	\$56,547	\$29.5786	\$57,678	\$30.3180	\$59,120			\$31.2276	\$60,893
		Step 25							\$31.3792	\$61,189	\$32.3205	\$63,025
GE 56	Library Assistant	Step 1	\$19.3356	\$37,704	\$19.7223	\$38,458	\$20.2154	\$39,420			\$20.8218	\$40,602
		Step 2	\$19.9947	\$38,990	\$20.3946	\$39,770	\$20.9045	\$40,764			\$21.5316	\$41,987
		Step 3	\$20.6540	\$40,275	\$21.0671	\$41,081	\$21.5938	\$42,108			\$22.2416	\$43,371
		Step 4	\$21.3132	\$41,561	\$21.7395	\$42,392	\$22.2830	\$43,452			\$22.9514	\$44,756
		Step 5	\$21.9723	\$42,846	\$22.4117	\$43,703	\$22.9720	\$44,795			\$23.6612	\$46,139
		Step 25							\$23.7761	\$46,363	\$24.4893	\$47,754

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 57	A/V Library Assistant	Step 1	\$18.5484	\$36,169	\$18.9194	\$36,892	\$19.3924	\$37,815			\$19.9741	\$38,949
		Step 2	\$19.1807	\$37,402	\$19.5643	\$38,150	\$20.0534	\$39,104			\$20.6550	\$40,277
		Step 3	\$19.8130	\$38,635	\$20.2093	\$39,408	\$20.7145	\$40,393			\$21.3359	\$41,605
		Step 4	\$20.4455	\$39,869	\$20.8544	\$40,666	\$21.3758	\$41,683			\$22.0170	\$42,934
		Step 5	\$21.0777	\$41,102	\$21.4993	\$41,924	\$22.0367	\$42,972			\$22.6978	\$44,261
		Step 25							\$22.8080	\$44,476	\$23.4923	\$45,810
GE 58	Clinical Practice Coordinator - Respiratory	Step 1	\$28.1701	\$54,932	\$28.7335	\$56,031	\$29.4518	\$57,431			\$30.3354	\$59,154
	Orthoptist/Opthalmic Medical Technologist	Step 2	\$30.4973	\$59,470	\$31.1072	\$60,659	\$31.8849	\$62,176			\$32.8415	\$64,041
		Step 3	\$31.6606	\$61,738	\$32.2938	\$62,973	\$33.1012	\$64,547			\$34.0942	\$66,483
		Step 4	\$32.9288	\$64,211	\$33.5874	\$65,495	\$34.4271	\$67,133			\$35.4599	\$69,147
		Step 5	\$34.2218	\$66,733	\$34.9062	\$68,068	\$35.7789	\$69,769			\$36.8523	\$71,862
		Step 6	\$35.5724	\$69,366	\$36.2838	\$70,753	\$37.1909	\$72,522			\$38.3067	\$74,698
		Step 25	\$36.8174	\$71,794	\$37.5537	\$73,230	\$38.4926	\$75,061			\$39.6474	\$77,312

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 71	Respiratory Therapist	Step 1	\$24.0904	\$46,976	\$24.5722	\$47,916	\$25.1865	\$49,113	,		\$25.9421	\$50,587
		Step 2	\$24.7674	\$48,296	\$25.2627	\$49,262	\$25.8943	\$50,493			\$26.6711	\$52,008
		Step 3	\$26.3419	\$51,367	\$26.8687	\$52,394	\$27.5405	\$53,704			\$28.3667	\$55,315
		Step 4	\$27.2020	\$53,044	\$27.7460	\$54,105	\$28.4397	\$55,458			\$29.2929	\$57,121
		Step 5	\$29.8017	\$58,113	\$30.3977	\$59,275	\$31.1577	\$60,757			\$32.0924	\$62,580
		Step 6	\$30.8453	\$60,148	\$31.4622	\$61,351	\$32.2488	\$62,885			\$33.2162	\$64,771
		Step 7	\$31.9436	\$62,290	\$32.5825	\$63,536	\$33.3970	\$65,124			\$34.3989	\$67,078
		Step 8	\$33.0236	\$64,396	\$33.6841	\$65,684	\$34.5262	\$67,326			\$35.5620	\$69,346
		Step 25	\$34.1794	\$66,650	\$34.8630	\$67,983	\$35.7346	\$69,683			\$36.8066	\$71,773
GE 72	Anaesthesia Assistant	Step 1	\$33.1453	\$64,633	\$33.8082	\$65,926	\$34.6534	\$67,574			\$35.6930	\$69,601
		Step 2	\$35.9896	\$70,180	\$36.7094	\$71,584	\$37.6271	\$73,373			\$38.7559	\$75,574
		Step 3	\$38.8336	\$75,725	\$39.6103	\$77,240	\$40.6005	\$79,170			\$41.8185	\$81,546
		Step 4	\$41.6777	\$81,272	\$42.5113	\$82,897	\$43.5740	\$84,970			\$44.8813	\$87,519
		Step 25	\$43.1364	\$84,116	\$43.9991	\$85,798	\$45.0991	\$87,943			\$46.4521	\$90,582

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 75	PACS Application Specialist	Step 1	\$27.1827	\$53,006	\$27.7264	\$54,066	\$28.4195	\$55,418			\$29.2721	\$57,080
		Step 2	\$28.8816	\$56,319	\$29.4592	\$57,445	\$30.1957	\$58,882			\$31.1016	\$60,648
		Step 3	\$30.5805	\$59,632	\$31.1921	\$60,825	\$31.9719	\$62,345			\$32.9311	\$64,216
		Step 4	\$32.2795	\$62,945	\$32.9251	\$64,204	\$33.7482	\$65,809			\$34.7607	\$67,783
		Step 5	\$33.9784	\$66,258	\$34.6580	\$67,583	\$35.5244	\$69,273			\$36.5901	\$71,351
		Step 25	\$35.1676	\$68,577	\$35.8710	\$69,949	\$36.7677	\$71,697			\$37.8708	\$73,848
GE 76	MRI Technologist	Step 1	\$27.8143	\$54,238	\$28.3706	\$55,323	\$29.0799	\$56,706			\$29.9522	\$58,407
		Step 2	\$28.7554	\$56,073	\$29.3305	\$57,194	\$30.0638	\$58,624			\$30.9657	\$60,383
		Step 3	\$29.6760	\$57,868	\$30.2695	\$59,025	\$31.0263	\$60,501			\$31.9570	\$62,316
		Step 4	\$30.5955	\$59,661	\$31.2074	\$60,854	\$31.9876	\$62,376			\$32.9472	\$64,247
		Step 5	\$31.5381	\$61,499	\$32.1689	\$62,729	\$32.9731	\$64,297			\$33.9623	\$66,226
		Step 6	\$32.4592	\$63,295	\$33.1084	\$64,561	\$33.9361	\$66,175			\$34.9542	\$68,160
		Step 25	\$33.5953	\$65,511	\$34.2672	\$66,821	\$35.1239	\$68,492			\$36.1776	\$70,547

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 77	Flight Respiratory Therapist	Step 1	\$24.8481	\$48,454	\$25.3451	\$49,423	\$25.9787	\$50,659	•		\$26.7580	\$52,178
		Step 2	\$25.5251	\$49,774	\$26.0356	\$50,769	\$26.6865	\$52,039			\$27.4871	\$53,600
		Step 3	\$27.0997	\$52,844	\$27.6417	\$53,901	\$28.3327	\$55,248			\$29.1827	\$56,906
		Step 4	\$27.9597	\$54,521	\$28.5189	\$55,611	\$29.2319	\$57,002			\$30.1088	\$58,712
		Step 5	\$30.5593	\$59,591	\$31.1705	\$60,783	\$31.9497	\$62,302			\$32.9082	\$64,171
		Step 6	\$31.6029	\$61,626	\$32.2350	\$62,859	\$33.0408	\$64,430			\$34.0321	\$66,363
		Step 7	\$32.7012	\$63,767	\$33.3552	\$65,042	\$34.1891	\$66,668			\$35.2148	\$68,668
		Step 8	\$33.7812	\$65,873	\$34.4568	\$67,190	\$35.3182	\$68,870			\$36.3778	\$70,936
		Step 25	\$34.9635	\$68,179	\$35.6628	\$69,543	\$36.5543	\$71,281			\$37.6510	\$73,420
GE 80	Residential Counsellor	Step 1	\$16.9247	\$33,003	\$17.2632	\$33,663	\$17.6948	\$34,505			\$18.2256	\$35,540
		Step 2	\$17.8979	\$34,901	\$18.2559	\$35,599	\$18.7123	\$36,489			\$19.2736	\$37,584
		Step 3	\$18.9269	\$36,908	\$19.3054	\$37,646	\$19.7881	\$38,587			\$20.3817	\$39,745
		Step 4	\$20.0153	\$39,030	\$20.4156	\$39,811	\$20.9260	\$40,806			\$21.5538	\$42,030
		Step 25							\$21.6584	\$42,234	\$22.3082	\$43,501

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade			Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 82	Youth Care Worker ACTTT	Step 1	\$23.6540	\$46,125	\$24.1271	\$47,048	\$24.7303	\$48,224			\$25.4722	\$49,670
	Youth Care Worker - ICBTT	Step 2	\$24.6614	\$48,090	\$25.1546	\$49,052	\$25.7835	\$50,278			\$26.5570	\$51,786
		Step 3	\$25.6706	\$50,058	\$26.1840	\$51,059	\$26.8386	\$52,336			\$27.6438	\$53,906
		Step 4	\$26.7791	\$52,219	\$27.3147	\$53,263	\$27.9975	\$54,595			\$28.8375	\$56,233
		Step 5	\$27.8887	\$54,383	\$28.4465	\$55,471	\$29.1576	\$56,857			\$30.0324	\$58,563
		Step 6	\$28.9986	\$56,547	\$29.5786	\$57,678	\$30.3180	\$59,120			\$31.2276	\$60,893
		Step 25							\$31.3792	\$61,189	\$32.3205	\$63,025
GE 83	Team Lead - One Robin	Step 1	\$21.4197	\$41,768	\$21.8481	\$42,603	\$22.3943	\$43,668			\$23.0661	\$44,978
		Step 2	\$22.6511	\$44,170	\$23.1041	\$45,053	\$23.6817	\$46,180			\$24.3922	\$47,565
		Step 3	\$23.9536	\$46,709	\$24.4327	\$47,643	\$25.0435	\$48,834			\$25.7948	\$50,299
		Step 4	\$25.3308	\$49,395	\$25.8374	\$50,383	\$26.4834	\$51,642			\$27.2779	\$53,192
		Step 25							\$27.4103	\$53,450	\$28.2326	\$55,053
GE 85	Funding Coordinator	Step 1	\$23.4079	\$45,645	\$23.8761	\$46,558	\$24.4730	\$47,722			\$25.2071	\$49,154
	Opthalmic Medical Technician	Step 2	\$24.0655	\$46,928	\$24.5468	\$47,867	\$25.1605	\$49,063			\$25.9153	\$50,535
		Step 3	\$24.8961	\$48,547	\$25.3940	\$49,518	\$26.0289	\$50,756			\$26.8097	\$52,279
		Step 4	\$25.7089	\$50,132	\$26.2231	\$51,135	\$26.8787	\$52,413			\$27.6850	\$53,985
		Step 5	\$26.5205	\$51,715	\$27.0509	\$52,749	\$27.7272	\$54,068			\$28.5590	\$55,690
		Step 25							\$28.6976	\$55,960	\$29.5586	\$57,639

		_			% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 87	Biomedical Engineering Technologist	Step 1	\$23.4650	\$45,757	\$23.9343	\$46,672	\$24.5327	\$47,839			\$25.2686	\$49,274
		Step 2	\$25.0294	\$48,807	\$25.5300	\$49,783	\$26.1682	\$51,028			\$26.9533	\$52,559
		Step 3	\$26.5936	\$51,858	\$27.1255	\$52,895	\$27.8036	\$54,218			\$28.6377	\$55,844
		Step 4	\$28.1580	\$54,908	\$28.7212	\$56,006	\$29.4392	\$57,406			\$30.3224	\$59,129
		Step 5	\$31.4067	\$61,243	\$32.0348	\$62,468	\$32.8357	\$64,030			\$33.8208	\$65,950
		Step 25	\$32.5059	\$63,387	\$33.1560	\$64,655	\$33.9849	\$66,271			\$35.0045	\$68,259
GE 89	Forensic Clinical Case Coordinator	Step 1	\$27.5907	\$53,802	\$28.1425	\$54,878	\$28.8461	\$56,250			\$29.7115	\$57,937
		Step 2	\$29.8701	\$58,247	\$30.4675	\$59,412	\$31.2292	\$60,897			\$32.1661	\$62,724
		Step 3	\$31.0094	\$60,468	\$31.6296	\$61,677	\$32.4203	\$63,219			\$33.3929	\$65,116
		Step 4	\$32.2516	\$62,891	\$32.8966	\$64,149	\$33.7190	\$65,753			\$34.7306	\$67,725
		Step 5	\$33.5178	\$65,360	\$34.1882	\$66,667	\$35.0429	\$68,334			\$36.0941	\$70,384
		Step 6	\$34.8408	\$67,940	\$35.5376	\$69,299	\$36.4261	\$71,031			\$37.5188	\$73,162
		Step 25	\$36.0602	\$70,317	\$36.7814	\$71,723	\$37.7009	\$73,516			\$38.8320	\$75,722
GE 92	Clinical Data Coordinator	Step 1	\$21.6277	\$42,174	\$22.0603	\$43,017	\$22.6118	\$44,093			\$23.2901	\$45,416
		Step 2	\$22.9794	\$44,810	\$23.4390	\$45,706	\$24.0250	\$46,849			\$24.7457	\$48,254
		Step 3	\$24.3311	\$47,446	\$24.8177	\$48,395	\$25.4382	\$49,605			\$26.2013	\$51,093
		Step 4	\$25.6828	\$50,081	\$26.1965	\$51,083	\$26.8514	\$52,360			\$27.6569	\$53,930
		Step 5	\$27.0345	\$52,717	\$27.5752	\$53,771	\$28.2646	\$55,116			\$29.1125	\$56,769
		Step 25							\$29.2538	\$57,045	\$30.1314	\$58,756

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 93	Anaesthesia Technician	Step 1	\$22.3474	\$43,577	\$22.7943	\$44,449	\$23.3642	\$45,560			\$24.0651	\$46,927
		Step 2	\$22.8493	\$44,556	\$23.3063	\$45,447	\$23.8889	\$46,583			\$24.6056	\$47,981
		Step 3	\$23.3335	\$45,500	\$23.8002	\$46,410	\$24.3952	\$47,570			\$25.1270	\$48,997
		Step 4	\$23.9683	\$46,738	\$24.4477	\$47,673	\$25.0589	\$48,865			\$25.8106	\$50,331
		Step 25							\$25.9359	\$50,575	\$26.7140	\$52,092
GE 94	Psychometrist	Step 1	\$27.3630	\$53,358	\$27.9103	\$54,425	\$28.6080	\$55,786			\$29.4663	\$57,459
		Step 2	\$29.9778	\$58,457	\$30.5774	\$59,626	\$31.3418	\$61,117			\$32.2820	\$62,950
		Step 3	\$31.0276	\$60,504	\$31.6482	\$61,714	\$32.4394	\$63,257			\$33.4125	\$65,155
		Step 4	\$32.1325	\$62,658	\$32.7752	\$63,911	\$33.5945	\$65,509			\$34.6024	\$67,474
		Step 5	\$33.2415	\$64,821	\$33.9063	\$66,117	\$34.7540	\$67,770			\$35.7966	\$69,803
		Step 25	\$34.4050	\$67,090	\$35.0931	\$68,432	\$35.9704	\$70,143			\$37.0495	\$72,247
GE 95	Health Records Technician-in-Training	Step 1	\$18.1669	\$35,425	\$18.5302	\$36,134	\$18.9935	\$37,037			\$19.5633	\$38,148
		Step 2	\$18.7863	\$36,633	\$19.1620	\$37,366	\$19.6411	\$38,300			\$20.2303	\$39,449
		Step 3	\$19.4056	\$37,841	\$19.7937	\$38,598	\$20.2885	\$39,563			\$20.8972	\$40,750
		Step 4	\$20.0249	\$39,048	\$20.4254	\$39,829	\$20.9360	\$40,825			\$21.5641	\$42,049
		Step 5	\$20.6443	\$40,256	\$21.0572	\$41,061	\$21.5836	\$42,088			\$22.2311	\$43,350
		Step 25							\$22.3390	\$43,561	\$23.0092	\$44,868

			_		% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 96	Teacher (MEd)	Step 1	\$30.4510	\$59,379	\$31.0600	\$60,567	\$31.8365	\$62,081			\$32.7916	\$63,943
	Teacher TC6	Step 2	\$31.9094	\$62,223	\$32.5476	\$63,467	\$33.3613	\$65,054			\$34.3621	\$67,006
		Step 3	\$33.3678	\$65,067	\$34.0352	\$66,368	\$34.8860	\$68,028			\$35.9326	\$70,068
		Step 4	\$34.8261	\$67,911	\$35.5226	\$69,269	\$36.4107	\$71,001			\$37.5030	\$73,131
		Step 5	\$36.2843	\$70,754	\$37.0100	\$72,169	\$37.9352	\$73,973			\$39.0733	\$76,193
		Step 6	\$37.7427	\$73,598	\$38.4976	\$75,070	\$39.4600	\$76,947			\$40.6438	\$79,255
		Step 7	\$39.2010	\$76,442	\$39.9850	\$77,971	\$40.9846	\$79,920			\$42.2142	\$82,318
		Step 25	\$40.5730	\$79,117	\$41.3845	\$80,699	\$42.4191	\$82,717			\$43.6916	\$85,198
GE 97	Electroneurophysiology Tech A	Step 1	\$23.5949	\$46,010	\$24.0668	\$46,930	\$24.6685	\$48,103			\$25.4085	\$49,547
		Step 2	\$24.2580	\$47,303	\$24.7432	\$48,249	\$25.3617	\$49,455			\$26.1226	\$50,939
		Step 3	\$24.9394	\$48,632	\$25.4382	\$49,605	\$26.0741	\$50,845			\$26.8564	\$52,370
		Step 4	\$25.8002	\$50,310	\$26.3162	\$51,316	\$26.9741	\$52,599			\$27.7833	\$54,177
		Step 25							\$27.9182	\$54,440	\$28.7557	\$56,073
GE 98	Electroneurophysiology Tech B	Step 1	\$22.5730	\$44,017	\$23.0245	\$44,897	\$23.6001	\$46,020			\$24.3081	\$47,400
		Step 2	\$23.0931	\$45,032	\$23.5550	\$45,933	\$24.1438	\$47,081			\$24.8682	\$48,493
		Step 3	\$24.2580	\$47,303	\$24.7432	\$48,249	\$25.3617	\$49,455			\$26.1226	\$50,939
		Step 4	\$24.9394	\$48,632	\$25.4382	\$49,605	\$26.0741	\$50,845			\$26.8564	\$52,370
		Step 5	\$26.6425	\$51,953	\$27.1754	\$52,992	\$27.8547	\$54,317			\$28.6904	\$55,946
		Step 6	\$27.4836	\$53,593	\$28.0333	\$54,665	\$28.7341	\$56,031			\$29.5961	\$57,712
		Step 25							\$29.7398	\$57,993	\$30.6320	\$59,732

			_		% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention		% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 99	Respiratory Therapy Aide	Step 1	\$18.1844	\$35,460	\$18.5481	\$36,169	\$19.0118	\$37,073			\$19.5821	\$38,186
		Step 2	\$18.6956	\$36,456	\$19.0695	\$37,185	\$19.5462	\$38,115			\$20.1326	\$39,258
		Step 3	\$19.1716	\$37,385	\$19.5550	\$38,133	\$20.0439	\$39,086			\$20.6452	\$40,259
		Step 4	\$19.6825	\$38,381	\$20.0762	\$39,149	\$20.5781	\$40,127			\$21.1954	\$41,331
		Step 25							\$21.2983	\$41,532	\$21.9372	\$42,778
GE 100	Coordinator Rehab Team	Step 1	\$33.4069	\$65,144	\$34.0750	\$66,447	\$34.9269	\$68,108			\$35.9747	\$70,151
		Step 2	\$34.7532	\$67,769	\$35.4483	\$69,124	\$36.3345	\$70,852			\$37.4245	\$72,978
		Step 3	\$36.2040	\$70,598	\$36.9281	\$72,010	\$37.8513	\$73,810			\$38.9868	\$76,025
		Step 4	\$37.5931	\$73,307	\$38.3450	\$74,773	\$39.3036	\$76,642			\$40.4827	\$78,942
		Step 5	\$39.1595	\$76,361	\$39.9427	\$77,888	\$40.9413	\$79,835			\$42.1695	\$82,230
		Step 25	\$40.5301	\$79,034	\$41.3407	\$80,615	\$42.3742	\$82,630			\$43.6454	\$85,109
GE 101	Care Team Assistant	Step 1	\$16.1700	\$31,532	\$16.4934	\$32,163	\$16.9057	\$32,967			\$17.4129	\$33,956
		Step 2	\$16.5006	\$32,176	\$16.8306	\$32,820	\$17.2514	\$33,640			\$17.7689	\$34,649
		Step 3	\$16.8298	\$32,818	\$17.1664	\$33,474	\$17.5956	\$34,311			\$18.1234	\$35,341
		Step 4	\$17.1606	\$33,463	\$17.5038	\$34,132	\$17.9414	\$34,986			\$18.4796	\$36,035
		Step 5	\$17.4904	\$34,106	\$17.8402	\$34,788	\$18.2862	\$35,658			\$18.8348	\$36,728
		Step 25							\$18.9262	\$36,906	\$19.4940	\$38,013

					% Increase:	2.00%	% Increase:	2.50%	Retention	Incentive	% Increase:	3.00%
Pay Grade	Classification		Expired Rate Hourly	Expired Rate Annual	Nov.01-11 Hourly	Nov.01-11 Annual	Nov.01-12 Hourly	Nov.01-12 Annual	Date of Signing Hourly	Date of Signing Annual	Nov.01-13 Hourly	Nov.01-13 Annual
GE 105	Data Integrity Auditor	Step 1	\$23.1098	\$45,064	\$23.5720	\$45,965	\$24.1613	\$47,114			\$24.8861	\$48,528
		Step 2	\$23.7600	\$46,332	\$24.2352	\$47,259	\$24.8411	\$48,440			\$25.5863	\$49,893
		Step 3	\$24.4264	\$47,631	\$24.9149	\$48,584	\$25.5378	\$49,798			\$26.3039	\$51,292
		Step 4	\$25.2694	\$49,275	\$25.7748	\$50,261	\$26.4192	\$51,517			\$27.2117	\$53,063
		Step 25							\$27.3438	\$53,320	\$28.1641	\$54,920
GE 106	Recreation Therapy Associate	Step 1	\$18.5483	\$36,169	\$18.9193	\$36,892	\$19.3922	\$37,815			\$19.9740	\$38,949
		Step 2	\$19.1807	\$37,402	\$19.5643	\$38,150	\$20.0534	\$39,104			\$20.6550	\$40,277
		Step 3	\$19.8130	\$38,635	\$20.2093	\$39,408	\$20.7145	\$40,393			\$21.3359	\$41,605
		Step 4	\$20.4453	\$39,868	\$20.8542	\$40,665	\$21.3756	\$41,682			\$22.0168	\$42,932
		Step 5	\$21.0778	\$41,102	\$21.4994	\$41,924	\$22.0368	\$42,972			\$22.6979	\$44,261
		Step 25							\$22.8081	\$44,476	\$23.4924	\$45,810
GE 107	Music Therapist	Step 1	\$26.2489	\$51,185	\$26.7739	\$52,209	\$27.4432	\$53,514			\$28.2665	\$55,120
		Step 2	\$28.7572	\$56,077	\$29.3323	\$57,198	\$30.0657	\$58,628			\$30.9676	\$60,387
		Step 3	\$29.7644	\$58,041	\$30.3597	\$59,201	\$31.1187	\$60,681			\$32.0522	\$62,502
		Step 4	\$30.8243	\$60,107	\$31.4408	\$61,310	\$32.2268	\$62,842			\$33.1936	\$64,728
		Step 5	\$31.8664	\$62,139	\$32.5037	\$63,382	\$33.3163	\$64,967			\$34.3158	\$66,916
		Step 25							\$34.4824	\$67,241	\$35.5169	\$69,258

APPENDIX "B"

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Retention Incentive*

Upon completion of twenty-five (25) years of service with the Employer, all permanent employees will receive an addition salary increment of 3.5% greater than the highest rate in effect for the applicable classification.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Joan Jensome	XQ1
Com Mark	Lesta Ochkey
Seealy	21. aprome-Viencent
ato They	Shaure Best
Stely	Lan Franklow
Minne Klini	
m. farrell	
•	

Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of June 2013.

APPENDIX 1 EXPEDITED ARBITRATION - RULES OF PROCEDURE

- 1. A single arbitrator shall be appointed to decide the grievance.
- 2. The following persons shall serve as a panel of single arbitrators:

Susan Ashley Bill Kydd Eric Slone

The above arbitrators shall be contacted in advance and advised of the parties' expectations pursuant to these Rules of Procedure. Should any arbitrator not be willing to adhere to the requirements of this process their name will be removed from the above list and the parties will agree on a substitute in the roster.

- 3. The arbitrators shall be appointed on a rotating basis, in the sequence in which their names appear on the above list.
- 4. The arbitrator, in consultation with the parties, shall convene a hearing of the grievance not later than forty (40) days from being appointed. If the arbitrator is not agreeable or available to commence the hearing within this time period, the arbitrator whose turn is next in the rotation shall be selected, and so on, until one of the arbitrators in the rotation is available.
- 5. At least ten (10) days prior to the date of the hearing the parties and/or their representatives shall meet for the following purposes:
 - to exchange copies of any documents that either party intends to rely on in the hearing;
 - to establish and attempt to agree on the facts relevant to the grievance;
 - to exchange copies of any precedents and authorities; and
 - to engage in discussions regarding the possible settlement of the grievance.
- 6. Should a dispute arise between the parties regarding compliance with the obligations outlined in paragraph 5 the issue in dispute may be referred for immediate and binding resolution to the arbitrator. This may be done by conference call between the arbitrator and the parties.

- 7. At least five (5) days before the scheduled hearing date the parties shall forward to the arbitrator the collective agreement, a copy of the grievance, any agreed statement of facts and any other documents or materials agreed upon by the parties.
- 8. The arbitration hearing shall be an informal and accelerated process. To this end, the following procedures shall be in effect:
 - The hearing shall be completed within a single day, within the hours of 8:00am and 6:00pm. At the commencement of the hearing the parties and the arbitrator shall attempt to agree upon the allocation of time and if agreement cannot be reached the arbitrator shall decide upon such allocation.
 - The parties shall make every reasonable effort to minimize the use of witnesses and to limit representations to issues directly related to the substance of the individual grievance. Whenever practicable, the parties shall stipulate facts not in dispute rather than establishing such facts through the evidence of witnesses.
 - Every reasonable effort shall be made to ensure that the grievance is addressed on its own merits, within the context of the particular circumstances of the individual case.
 - The arbitrator shall have the permission of the parties to take an activist role and to direct that issues be addressed, or not addressed, in the hearing in accordance with his or her determination as to its relevance to the outcome.
- 9. The decision of the arbitrator on the merits of the grievance may be rendered verbally at the immediate conclusion of the hearing, or, in any event, within two (2) days following the conclusion of the hearing. The arbitrator may remain seized of the grievance to determine any issues arising from the implementation of his or her decision.
- 10. The arbitrator may provide brief written reasons for the decision, however, these must be issued within ten (10) days of rendering the decision.
- 11. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the parties, however, the parties agree that decisions issued through this process apply only to the individual grievance decided, have no value as precedent and that they shall not be referred to in any other proceedings under this collective agreement or otherwise.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1 TRANSITION SUPPORT PROGRAM

Item 1: Transition Support Program (TSP)

The Transition Support Program (TSP) will be effective from the date of signing this Collective Agreement until October 31, 2009. This Memorandum is covered by the provisions of the *Trade Union Act*. It shall only be continued as part of any subsequent agreement if the parties specifically agree to renew it.

In order to avoid layoffs, employees selected in accordance with TSP shall receive a severance payment in return for their voluntary resignation. TSP requires that a reduction in the staff complement occurs as a result of each TSP severance payment offered.

1.1 Voluntary Resignation and Seniority

Where the Employer intends to reduce the number of employees within a classification or classification group, and where the Employer has been unable to place employees whose positions have become redundant, the Employer will offer to employees in the affected classification or classification group the opportunity to resign with a TSP payment in order to avoid the need for layoff(s).

Where an offer to a classification of employees (or classification grouping) for resignation results in more volunteers than is required to meet the need, the decision as to who receives severance will be determined on the basis of seniority.

Where the Employer can demonstrate to the Joint Labour Relations Committee that the Employer cannot accommodate the resignation of that number of employees volunteering to resign or that other operational considerations are necessary, the Employer reserves the right to restrict the TSP offer. For example, where too many volunteers within a classification are from within a single work area, it may not be possible to permit all to resign at once. A phase-out procedure may be utilized to maximize the number of volunteers who actually resign.

1.2 Joint Labour Relations Committee

The Joint Committee established in accordance with the Agreement will be responsible:

- (i) to determine the classification within a bargaining unit that will be considered as a single classification for the purpose of the Program;
- (ii) to assess the operational requirements surrounding the Employer's requirement to limit the number of the employees to receive voluntary resignation offers;
- (iii) to review and clarify the impact of resignations on service delivery;
- (iv) to participate in the process of notifying displaced and laid off employees of their options under this Program; and

to address issues that may arise in respect of the interpretation and application of this Program.

1.3 TSP

The TSP shall be presented to employees on a "window-period" basis, as determined by the Employer.

1.4 Displacement Process

<u>Step 1</u>: At the point where the Employer decides the number of employees within a classification or classification group to be reduced, notification will be given to the Joint Labour Relations Committee. Following Joint Committee consultation, this information shall be made known to employees within that classification or classification group accompanied by a request for indications in writing of interest in voluntary resignation.

<u>Step 2</u>: Employees shall have seventy-two (72) hours following receipt of the notice to submit their Expression of Interest form.

<u>Step 3</u>: The Employer will assess the level of interest and determine provisional acceptance subject to operational requirements, in accordance with item 1.1 of this Program. This determination will be made in consultation with the Joint Labour Relations Committee and as soon as is reasonably possible following the seventy-two (72) hour response time.

<u>Step 4</u>: Employees shall, within seven (7) days, indicate their decision with respect to voluntary resignation. The actual date of resignation will occur with

the agreement of the Employer. Upon resignation, the employee will be entitled to the TSP payment in accordance with this Program.

- Step 5: (a) Article 22 of the Collective Agreement applies to employees whose positions are eliminated due to the reduction of the number of employees in a classification or classification group. These employees shall be considered to be redundant pursuant to Article 22.08 of the Collective Agreement and shall have the rights of a redundant employee.
 - (b) Any employee displaced in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement shall be given seventy-two (72) hours to express their interest in TSP in accordance with Step 2 above. Those expressing an interest will have their application processed in accordance with Step 4. Where an employee declines the TSP opportunity, the Layoff and Recall provisions of the Agreement shall apply.
- <u>Step 6</u>: (a) Where the Employer reaches its reduction target through this voluntary method, the process would end.
 - (b) Where the number of voluntary resignations with TSP payment is less than the number of employees in the classification or classification group to be reduced, the Employer shall identify those employees who are subject to layoff. Before any employee receives a notice of layoff, the Employer will notify the employee who will have seventy-two (72) hours to express an interest in TSP in accordance with Step 2 above. Those expressing an interest will have their application processed in accordance with Step 4 above. Employees who decline the TSP opportunity shall be issued layoff notice in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.

1.5 Formula for Part-time Hours

In determining the extent of the existing part-time relationship of an employee at the time of resignation, layoff or other application of this program where the hours worked are not regular due to working additional shifts, the average of the employee's hours worked during the six (6) month period preceding the severance (or average over the preceding period of part-time employment where that period is less than six (6) months).

1.6 **Salary Protection**

Employees, who accept placement in a position at a lower rate of pay, shall have their previous rate of pay maintained for such period as set out under this Item.

Where the employee's previous rate of pay exceeds the rate of twenty-five thousand (\$25,000) per year, that rate of pay shall be maintained for a period of

six (6) months from the date of placement in the lower-paying position. Thereafter, the employee's protected rate of pay shall be reduced by ten (10) percent or to the maximum rate of the new classification, or the rate of twenty-five thousand (\$25,000) per year, whichever is the greater rate. The rate of pay will remain at this reduced level (subject to any regular Collective Agreement regulated changes) for a further period of twelve (12) months, after which the rate of pay will be reduced to the maximum of the lower-paying position.

1.7 Reduced Hours and TSP Payment

Employees who accept an alternate position under this Program and as a result have a reduction of hours shall not qualify for a TSP payment.

1.8 Release Form

Employees accepting voluntary resignation will be required to sign a release statement verifying their resignation and agreement to sever any future claim for compensation from the Employer or obligation by the Union for further services except as provided in this Program in exchange for the TSP payment.

1.9 Casual Shifts

It shall only be for extraordinary operational needs that the Employer will utilize on a casual basis, an employee who has resigned with a TSP payment under this Program during the period covered by the applicable notice payment period.

1.10 TSP Severance Payment

The amount of TSP payment shall be equivalent to three (3) weeks' regular (i.e. excluding overtime) pay for each year of service to a maximum payment of fifty-two (52) weeks' pay and for a minimum payment of eight (8) weeks' pay. Where there is a partial year of service, the TSP payment will be pro-rated on the basis of the number of months of service.

1.11 Continuation of Benefits

Employees in receipt of a TSP payment will be entitled to continue participation in the applicable group insurance and benefit plans (where eligibility requirements are met) for the length of the TSP payment period. During such period the contributions will be cost shared in accordance with Article 27.02 of the collective agreement. It is understood that the Employer's obligations in this respect do not apply to plans for which the employee is currently responsible for the full cost of contributions.

1.12 Re-employment Considerations

It is intended that TSP participants not be re-employed by an acute care employer during their TSP payment period. For purposes of this program, acute care employer includes the following employers: the IWK Health Centre and all District Health Authorities. An employee in receipt of a TSP payment who is reemployed within an acute care employer will be required to repay an amount equal to the remaining portion of the TSP payment period. The repayment may be achieved through a payroll deduction plan that provides for full recovery over a period that is no more than twice the length of the remaining TSP payment period or through a lump sum payment. The employee has the right to determine the method of repayment.

1.13 Number of Employees

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, the Employer is only required to provide a TSP payment to the same number of employees as the Employer has reduced its complement.

1.14 Severance Payment Method

It is understood that the method of payment of the severance (for example, lump sum or incremental payment schemes) shall be determined by the employee, provided that the total amount of payment is fully paid within the applicable notice payment period (not greater than fifty-two (52) weeks). That is, lump sum payments or other incremental payment schemes are possible.

1.15 Transition Services/EAP

Employees covered under this program will be allowed to participate in any Regional Transition or Employee Assistance Programs available to health sector employees in the province.

1.16 Transition Allowance

Employees who resign with TSP payment will be eligible for a transition allowance up to a maximum of \$2,500.00. This sum may be utilized for one or a combination of the following:

- to assist in offsetting the costs in moving to accept a position with another employer, which is located a distance of 50 kilometres or more from the site of their usual workplace; and
- to cover the cost of participation in employer-approved retraining programs. The Employer will not unreasonably withhold such approval.

In all cases employees will require receipts for recovery of expenses. Only expenses incurred during the TSP severance payment period following the date of resignation are eligible for reimbursement under this Program.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Joan Jessome	8QU
Com Mas/c	Lista Ouky
- Elle Mys	21. Odwone-Kincent
Deter Hen	- Laure Best
Duly	Lyn Franklon
Anna Klini	
m. farell	

Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of \(\) , 2013.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #2 MARKET ADJUSTMENT

- 1. Where the Employer determines that, due to shortages within the labour market, a recruitment and/or retention problem exists with respect to a particular classification or group of classifications within the bargaining unit, the following procedure will be utilized:
 - (a) the Employer will consult with the Union regarding the situation and provide the Union with information supporting its conclusion that such a market problem does exist, along with its position in relation to the amount and the time period for any proposed supplement to the wage level; and
 - (b) the Union will be provided with an opportunity to make representations and provide any additional information concerning the situation.
- 2. Upon completion of this consultation process the Employer may implement a special market-based adjustment in respect of the classification(s) in question. Such adjustments will be paid on a bi-weekly basis for a defined period of time.
- 3. Any market-based adjustment will be pro-rated according to designation for permanent part-time positions and for designation and duration for full and part-time long or short assignments and/or job shares.
- 4. The amount of the market-based adjustment will be reviewed annually and may be increased if the employer, in its discretion, deems this necessary. The decision of the employer in this regard is not subject to review by an arbitrator or any other person.
- 5. The market-based adjustment will not be considered a part of the employee's regular (negotiated) pay rate for the employee's classification.
- 6. The market-based adjustment will, however, be treated as regular earnings for purposes of pension, union dues, statutory deductions (e.g. employment insurance, Canada pension plan, income tax) and other earnings, related group benefits plans such as long term disability and life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance and for pregnancy and adoption leave allowances.
- 7. The market-based adjustment will not be added to the hourly rate when calculating overtime rate; rather, overtime rates will be based on the base salary without the market-based adjustment.
- 8. The market-based adjustment shall be considered as part of any monies to be reimbursed to the Employer by the NSGEU in relation to any time off for union business.

- 9. The market-based adjustment shall be used in calculation of any retirement allowance to which an employee becomes entitled while the adjustment is in effect.
- 10. For casual employees the market-based adjustment will be paid at the rate of two shifts per week. A quarterly review of time actually worked (excluding overtime) will be undertaken and any shifts worked beyond those previously remunerated would then have market-based adjustment applied to them.
- 11. For part-time employees, the market-based adjustment will be paid based on their designation and their regularly scheduled shifts. Any extra shifts beyond the part-time FTE designation, excluding overtime hours, will be reviewed quarterly and paid on the same basis as the casual worker.
- 12. The 11% in lieu of benefits that is paid to casuals shall be calculated on the base pay plus market-based adjustment.
- 13. The existence of the market-based adjustment does not prevent the union from negotiating increases in compensation and benefits in accordance with the collective agreement. Nor does the existence of the market-based adjustment prevent the union from pursuing classification issues during the life of the market-based adjustment.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer:
Joan Jersone	\$9tt
Can Muck	Lesta Vukij
Sellague	21. Oslorne-Kencent
Jeter Hung	Shaune Best
soly /	Lyn Frankler
Jonna Klin	
Monna Klin M- FaceM	,
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the $\frac{1}{2}$ 0 day of	June , 2013.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #3 UNIT CLOSURES

Where the Employer decides to temporarily close a particular work area and this results in work being unavailable to an employee for a period of up to two weeks, an employee so affected shall have the following options:

- 1. take vacation during the period in question; or
- 2. use lieu time which has been banked in accordance with Articles 14.09 (Overtime), 17.05 or 17.06 (Holidays); or
- 3. to be reassigned to other work within the employee's classification, provided that the employer has determined that such work is available and no additional training will be required; or
- 4. take a leave of absence without pay for the full period or any part thereof; or
- 5. where the Employer determines that it is operationally feasible it may enter into arrangements with individual employees which allows such employees, in advance of a closure, to work beyond the normal working hours (without overtime) and to be credited with additional time, on an hour for hour basis, which must be drawn upon and completely used prior to the end of the fiscal year.

It is understood that the provisions of Article 22 shall apply where closures are in excess of two weeks.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer:
Dan Jessone	824
Commack	Lista Dickey
Sel allega	2. aslume - Vincent
Tets Flhing	Shaum Bist
Dely	Syn Frankton
Monnethia ,	
Um faccell	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of	June , 2013.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #4 TEAM LEADER STIPENDS

Where an employee has been designated as Team Leader an annual stipend will be paid to the employee and the following provisions shall apply:

- 1. The annual amount of the stipend shall be \$2,700.
- 2. This amount will be paid on a bi-weekly basis but will not be subject to general salary increases.
- 3. The Team Leader Stipend will be treated as regular earning for purposes of pension, union dues, statutory deductions (e.g. employment insurance, Canada pension plan, income tax) and other earnings, related group benefits plans such as long term disability and life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance and for pregnancy and adoption leave allowances.
- 4. The Team Leader Stipend will not be added to the hourly rate when calculating overtime.
- 5. For part-time employees, the stipend will be pro-rated based on their designation.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Jean Jessome	<u> 201</u>
Comp Ma-16	Lista Oching
Selfyya	9. allorne-Vincent
Jeter Thung	Shaune Best
Jelly 1	Lin Frankton
Honnettin farell	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 30 day of	f June 2013.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #5 LICENSED PRACTICAL NURSES

During the term of this collective agreement, LPNs employed at the IWK Health Centre shall be paid in accordance with the hourly wage rate for their matching counterparts at the Capital District Health Authority.

Any required rate adjustments shall be effective on the same effective dates as at the Capital District Health Authority.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Jan Jusone	884
Comp Mas 14	Listavuhing
Safafajce	21 Oalonae-Viencent
Atter Henry	Slaune Best
Dely	Synfranklow
Monna Klin	
m-fassell	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of	June , 2013.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #6 ONE ROBIN NIGHT SLEEPS*

The parties agree that current practice of "night sleep" shifts at One Robin shall not constitute a violation of the collective agreement.

Casual employees will be credited with casual seniority hours where each one hour of a "night sleep" is equal to one hour worked.

Part-time employees will be credited with service where each one hour of a "night sleep" is equal to one hour worked.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Joan Jessome	824
Can marje	Lista Vuking
Speaky	21. Ochorno-Viencent
leter Flyng	Shauna Best
the state of the s	Sun Francisco
Donne Klin	
m. favrill	<u> </u>
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 30 day of	Ount 2013

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #7 RETIREE BENEFITS

The Employer agrees to provide a monthly amount towards the monthly premium cost of the current NSAHO Retiree Health Plan for those employees who retire on or after November 1, 2006, and who meet the eligibility requirements as outlined below.

Effective November 1, 2006, the Employer will commence paying an amount equal to 30% of the monthly premium for single coverage and 30% of the monthly premium for family coverage.

Effective April 1, 2007, the Employer will increase the amount it contributes to the monthly premiums for single coverage and monthly premiums for family coverage to 40%.

Effective <u>April 1, 2008</u>, the Employer will increase the amount it contributes to monthly premiums for single coverage and monthly premiums for family coverage to 50%.

Effective April 1, 2009, the Employer will increase the amount it contributes to monthly premiums for single coverage and monthly premiums for family coverage to 65%.

The payment will be provided to supplement the monthly premium payment of the retiree for each month that the retiree is enrolled in the NSAHO Retiree Health Plan up to and including the month that the retiree reaches the age of 65. When the retiree reaches the age of 65 and becomes eligible for Pharmacare coverage, the Employer supplement will cease and the retiree will be responsible for the full cost of the premiums if he/she chooses to remain in the plan at that time.

Persons who retired between November 1, 2006 and the signing date of this collective agreement and opted at retirement to participate in the NSAHO Retiree Health Plan will be reimbursed for the contributions set out above.

Persons who retired between November 1, 2006 and the signing date of this collective agreement and opted at retirement not to participate in the NSAHO Retiree Health Plan, will be notified of the availability of an Employer contribution toward premiums. Such retirees will have 60 days from the date such notification is sent by the Employer to apply to participate in the plan. Participation will be subject to the retiree meeting the eligibility requirements of the plan. Employer contributions will commence upon the retiree's acceptance into the plan.

Eligibility

To be eligible for the Employer supplement, an employee must be enrolled in the NSAHO employee Health Plan prior to retirement, meet the eligibility requirements of the NSAHO Retiree Health Plan and must meet the following criteria:

- 1. retire with an unreduced pension in accordance with the terms of the NSAHO Pension Plan and in addition
- 2. the employee must have at least fifteen (15) years of service in the NSAHO Pension Plan at the time of retirement.

At retirement the employee must elect to enrol in the NSAHO Retiree Health Plan and elect single or family coverage in accordance with the terms and eligibility of the plan. This supplement to the premiums of the NSAHO Retiree Benefit Plan is only available to employees who are employed on or after November 1, 2006.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #8 QUARTERLY VACATION*

The Parties recognize that employees on some units or in some services are closely integrated with employees that have vacation scheduled quarterly, and that in some circumstances it may be beneficial to the Parties that certain employee's vacations also be scheduled quarterly.

Where either the Employer or the Union wishes to explore the issue of quarterly vacation scheduling, that Party may request a committee be formed for that purpose. The committee shall have no more than three representatives from the Employer and the Union. The committee shall meet and discuss the issue and if the committee is unanimously in favour of quarterly vacation scheduling, attempt to reach an agreement outlining the process for quarterly vacation scheduling, the employees to whom it will apply, when it will start, and the duration of the agreement or the method of ending it.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer:
Joan Jersome	ZOJ
Con Mar / C	Les tre Ouring
Sellaylye	21. Osborne- Kencent
Mit Hung	Thauna Best
Day /	Lyn Frank For
Monna Glin	
m-farell	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of	June , 2013.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1 NON-BINDING ARBITRATION*

Where the parties have been unsuccessful in resolving the matter through the grievance procedure, the parties may jointly submit the matter to the Department of Labour and Advanced Education's Non-Binding Arbitration Program. It is understood that non-binding arbitration is a voluntary program and that arbitration remains an option should the grievance remain unresolved after non-binding arbitration.

Signed on behalf of the Union:	Signed on behalf of the Employer
Gran Jessome	8/90)
Com Mark	Luta Ouking
Stelly Juje	21. Oslinno-Viencent
Mar Foling	Shauna Bess
Jally	Lyn Frankten
Nonnaskin	
m-facill	
Dated at Halifax, N.S. the 20 day of	June 2013

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

Α	
Absence Without Permission Access to Stewards	12 40 24 90 71 35 18 70 13 95 45 71 10 13 58 57 56 57 56
В	
Bargaining Agent Recognition Bargaining Unit Information Benefit Entitlement Bereavement Leave Borrowing of Unearned Vacation Credits Bulletin Boards	9 74 29 24 8
С	
Calculation of Retirement Allowance Callback Compensation Cancellation of Relief Assignment Cancellation Or Recall from Vacation Casual Availability List CASUAL EMPLOYEES	59 21 88 25 83 80

CHECKOFF	. 11
Classification and Salary Adjustments	
	. 28
Classification Appeal Procedure	
Compassionate Care Leave	. 38
Compensation for Performing Other Duties	
Compensation for Work on a Holiday	
Compensation Where Rest Interval Not Taken	
Completion of Assignments	
Computer Access	
Consecutive Shifts	
Consistent Application	
Contract Negotiations	
Contracting Out	
Copies of Agreement	
Court Leave	. 30
_	
D	
Daylight Saving Time	. 20
Deduction of Union Dues and Assessments	. 11
Definitions	
Deviation from Regular Schedules	
DISCIPLINE & DISCHARGE	
Discrimination	
Discrimination for Union Activity	
Displacement Procedure	
Distribution of Union Literature	
ш	
Education Leave	20
Luucalion Leave	
	40
Eligibility	
Eligibility Emergency Services	8
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File	8 43
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability	8 43 21
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation	8 43 21 24
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement	8 43 21 24 41
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES	8 43 21 24 41
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review	8 43 21 24 41 42
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW	8 21 24 41 42
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW Employee(s) on Recall List	8 21 24 41 42 42
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW Employee(s) on Recall List Employees Providing Own Transportation	8 21 24 41 42 42 42
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW Employee(s) on Recall List Employees Providing Own Transportation Employer Compensation Upon Separation	8 43 21 24 41 42 42 42 66 24
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES. Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW. Employee(s) on Recall List Employees Providing Own Transportation Employer Compensation Upon Separation Employer to Acquaint New Employees	8 21 24 42 42 42 83 66
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW Employee(s) on Recall List Employees Providing Own Transportation Employer Compensation Upon Separation Employer to Acquaint New Employees Employer's Liability	8 21 24 42 42 42 42 83 66 24
Eligibility Emergency Services Employee Access to Personnel File Employee Availability Employee Compensation Upon Separation Employee Entitlement EMPLOYEE FILES. Employee Performance Review EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE REVIEW. Employee(s) on Recall List Employees Providing Own Transportation Employer Compensation Upon Separation Employer to Acquaint New Employees	8 43 21 24 42 42 42 66 24 74 , 69

. 79
.90 .21 .68 .65 .17 .20
5 .70 .43 .14 .55 .55 .54 .54
5 .60 .60 .27 .28
. 82 . 26 . 15
. 82 . 26

J	
Job Posting	67
JOB SECURITY	44
JOB SHARING	
JOINT CONSULTATION	
Joint Labour Relations Committee	44
Just Cause	43
K	
Kilometrage Rate	66
L	
Late Career LPN Retention Bonus	
Layoff	4/
Layoff Exception*	
Layoff Notice	
Layoff ProcedureLeave for Adoption of Child	47 27
Leave for Birth of Child	
Leave for Family Illness	
Leave for Storms or Hazardous Conditions	
Leave of Absence for Full-Time President	
Leave Without Pay	
Leaves	
Letter of Appointment / Union Information	
Liability	
LICENSED PRACTICAL NURSES	
Long Assignments	85
LONG ASSIGNMENTS	83
LONG TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM	60
Loss of Seniority	50
LTD Top Up	41
M	
Management Rights	
MARKET ADJUSTMENT	
Meal Breaks	
Medical and Dental Appointments	
Medical Certificate	
MEDICAL PLAN	
Military Leave	
Modified Work Week	
N	
No Lockout or Strike	7

No Loss of Service/Seniority	14
No New Employees	
No Sanction of Strike	7
NON-BINDING ARBITRATION*	116
Notice of Layoff	
Notice of Performance Improvement Requirements	43
Notice of Resignation	89
Notification	
Notification of Deduction	11
Notification to Employer	
Notification to the Union*	11
0	
Occupational Health and Safety Act	61
Occupational Health and Safety Committee	
ONE ROBIN NIGHT SLEEPS*	112
Other Expenses	
Overtime	18, 82
Overtime Approval	19
Overtime Compensation	
Overtime Eligibility & Computation	19
Overtime Meal Allowance	
Overtime on a Holiday	27, 82
Overtime Pay	20
Overtime Restrictions	89
P	
•	
Paid Holidays	
Parental and Adoption Leave Allowance	
Parental Leave	
PART TIME EMPLOYEES	
Part-time Employees Accepting Assignments of Full-time Hours	
Pay in Lieu of Benefits	
Pay in Lieu of Notice	,
Pay in Lieu of Termination Notice	
Pay Increments	
PAY*	
	60
PENSION PLAN	
PENSION PLANPeriod of Job Share	77
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment	77 10
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment Personal Harassment	77 10 56
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment Personal Harassment Placement Rights	77 10 56 45
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment Personal Harassment Placement Rights Policy Grievance	775645
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment Personal Harassment Placement Rights Policy Grievance Position Descriptions	77 56 56 56
PENSION PLAN	
PENSION PLAN Period of Job Share Permanent Appointment Personal Harassment Placement Rights Policy Grievance Position Descriptions	

Pregnancy/ Birth Leave Allowance	32
Pre-Hearing Disclosure	
PREPAID LEAVE PLAN	
Probationary Period	
•	,
Q	
QUARTERLY VACATION *	115
R	
Rate of Pay upon Appointment	83
Rate of Pay Upon Appointment	
Rate of Pay Upon Demotion	
Rate of Pay Upon Promotion	
Rate of Pay Upon Reclassification	
Rates of Pay*	69
Recall Procedures	
RECLASSIFICATION	
Recognition	
RECOGNITION	
Recognition of Service Award	
Reconciling Vacation Credits Upon Death	
Record of Disciplinary Action	42
Referral to Arbitration	
Registration/Licensing Fees	72
Regular Arbitration Procedure	
Reimbursement for Transportation To and From Meetings	
Reimbursement for Travel Between 2400 and 0600	
Relief Against Time Limits	
Relief Assignments	
RELIEF ASSIGNMENTS	
Religious Exclusions	
Remittance of Union Dues and Assessments	
REOPENER CLAUSE	
Report of Injuries	
Reporting Pay	
Rest Interval After Call Back	
Rest Interval Between Scheduled Shifts	
Rest Periods	
Restriction on Assignment of Work Where Refusal	
Restriction on Numbers of Employees on Vacation	
Retention Incentive*	
Retention of Status	
RETIREE BENEFITS	
Retirement Allowance	
Retirement Allowance Upon Death	
Return to Regular Times of Work	
Return to Work	
Right to Refuse Work	63

RIGHTS AND PROHIBITIONS	
S	
Safety of Pregnant Employees	
Salary Continuance	
Salary Increments	
Same Sex Family Status	
Seniority	
Servicing of Grievances	
Sexual and Personal Harassment	
Sexual Harassment	
Shift Premium*	
Short Assignments	
SHORT ASSIGNMENTS	
SICK LEAVESingle Arbitrator	
Special Leave	
STANDBY AND CALL BACK*	
Standby Compensation*	
STEWARDS	12
Т	
TEAM LEADER STIPENDS	110
TERM OF AGREEMENT*	
T : I CA :	
Termination of Assignments	88
Termination of Employment Relationship	83
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment	83 10, 81
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights	83 10, 81 50
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment. Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP)	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION Transportation Allowance	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION Transportation Allowance Trial Period TSP Offers TSP Severance Payment	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION Transportation Allowance Trial Period TSP Offers TSP Severance Payment	
Termination of Employment Relationship Termination of Probationary Appointment Termination of Recall Rights Time Limits TIME OFF FOR UNION BUSINESS Top Up Limitation Training and Retraining Transition Allowance Transition Services/EAP Transition Support Program Transition Support Program (TSP) TRANSPORTATION Transportation Allowance Trial Period TSP Offers TSP Severance Payment	

24
22
25
23
23
22
22
46
71
90
70
84
2 2 2 2 2 2 4 7 9 7